
Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Angela Brogden 

Tel: (0113) 37 88661 
Produced on Recycled Paper 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES) - 
REMOTE CONSULTATIVE MEETING 

 

 
Consultative meeting to be held remotely* on 

Tuesday, 15th June, 2021 at 1.30 pm 
 

(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 1.00 p.m.) 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
C Anderson - Adel and Wharfedale; 

L Cunningham - Armley; 

J Dowson - Chapel Allerton; 

J Gibson - Cross Gates and Whinmoor; 

N Harrington - Wetherby; 

C Hart-Brooke - Rothwell; 

M Iqbal - Hunslet and Riverside; 

W Kidger - Morley South; 

G Latty - Guiseley and Rawdon; 

A Marshall-Katung (Chair) - Little London and 
Woodhouse; 

E Taylor - Chapel Allerton; 

 
Co-opted Member (Non-voting) 

 
Dr J Beal - Healthwatch Leeds 

 
 

Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the 
‘To View Meeting’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead 
of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting.   

 
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1190&MId=11563 

 
 

*This is being held as a remote ‘consultative’ meeting.  While the meeting will be webcast live to enable public access, it 

is not being held as a public meeting in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972.  

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1190&MId=11563


 
B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary or other interests for the purposes of 
Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011 and 
paragraphs 13-16 of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 
 

 

2   
 

  MINUTES - 16TH MARCH 2021 
 
To note for information the draft minutes of the 
Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board 
meeting held on 16th March 2021. 
 

5 - 10 

3   
 

  CO-OPTED MEMBERS 
 
To consider and discuss a report from the Head of 
Democratic Services on the appointment of co-
opted members to the Scrutiny Board (Adults, 
Health and Active Lifestyles). 
 

11 - 
14 

4   
 

  SCRUTINY BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To consider and discuss a report from the Head of 
Democratic Services presenting the Scrutiny 
Board’s terms of reference. 
 

15 - 
34 

5   
 

  LOCAL AUTHORITY HEALTH SCRUTINY 
 
To consider and discuss a report from the Head of 
Democratic Services presenting information and 
guidance to assist the Board in undertaking the 
council’s statutory health scrutiny function. 
 

35 - 
76 

6   
 

  SOURCES OF WORK FOR THE SCRUTINY 
BOARD 
 
To consider and discuss a report from the Head of 
Democratic Services on potential sources of work 
for the Scrutiny Board. 
 

77 - 
124 



 
C 

7   
 

  PERFORMANCE UPDATE 
 
To consider and discuss a joint report from the 
Directors of Adults and Health, Public Health and 
City Development which provides an overview of 
outcomes and service performance related to the 
Scrutiny Board’s remit. 
 

125 - 
152 

8   
 

  WORK SCHEDULE 
 
To consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work 
schedule for the 2021/22 municipal year. 
 

153 - 
170 

Third Party Recording  
 
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings 
either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this agenda. 
 
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice 
 

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the 
recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a clear identification 
of the main speakers and their role or title. 

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those 
points must be complete. 

 
Webcasting 
 
Please note – the publicly accessible parts of this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent 
broadcast via the City Council’s website. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or 
part of the meeting is to be filmed. 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at a future meeting 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES) 
 

TUESDAY, 16TH MARCH, 2021 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor A Marshall-Katung in the Chair 

 Councillors C Anderson, J Elliott, 
N Harrington, M Iqbal, C Knight, G Latty, 
S Lay, D Ragan, A Smart, P Truswell and 
A Wenham 

 
 
 
Co-opted Member present – Dr J. Beal 
 
At the beginning of the meeting, the Chair noted her thanks to her 
predecessor, Councillor Helen Hayden, for her work as Chair since 2017 and 
wished her all the best for her new role as Executive Member for Climate 
Change, Transport and Sustainable Development. 
 

76 Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents  
 

There were no appeals. 
 

77 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 

There were no exempt items. 
 

78 Late Items  
 

There were no late items. 
 

79 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
 

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests. 
 

80 Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes  
 

There were no apologies for absence. 
 

81 Minutes - 9th February 2021  
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 9th February 2021 be 
approved as an accurate record. 
 

82 Hearing and Balance Centre  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented 
information from the Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on plans to 
temporarily relocate the Hearing and Balance Centre. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Draft minutes to be approved at a future meeting 

 

 
The following were in attendance: 
 

- James Goodyear, Director of Strategy, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS 
Trust 

- Deborah Hall, Head of Nursing, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 
 
The Director of Strategy (LTHT) introduced the report, advising that the 
relocation of services from the Leeds General Infirmary (LGI) to Seacroft 
Hospital is due to the demolition of buildings at the current site. Patient 
engagement has taken place with service users which has informed the plans 
to date, recognising requirements for accessible parking, access to Red Cross 
transportation services, and clear signage.  
 
Members discussed a number of matters, including: 
 

 Consultation. Members highlighted that the Scrutiny Board were not 
notified of service relocation at the earliest opportunity. 
Representatives apologised for not notifying in advance of patient 
engagement, and advised that options were initially explored to 
maintain services on the LGI site, however once it became clear that 
this would not be suitable and following patient consultation, the Board 
was notified of the relocation. 

 Travel and access. Members recognised that the Seacroft location may 
not be convenient for residents to who do not live in the east of the city, 
however were advised that the majority of patients felt that the most 
important aspect for consideration as part of the relocation was a large 
accessible parking area, which Seacroft hospital offers. In response to 
a query, it was confirmed that services are expected to return to the 
LGI upon completion of the demolition and building works.  Should this 
position need to change then further engagement work with the 
Scrutiny Board and with patients would be undertaken by the Trust.  

 Providing an outreach clinic in the South. Members felt that an 
outreach clinic was also needed for the south of the city and the 
Director of Strategy agreed to explore this further, explaining that the 
Trust is always keen to work with community partners to identify 
outreach opportunities. 

 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report and appendices, along with 
Members comments, be noted. 
 

83 Leeds Fertility IVF service  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented 
information from the Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on proposals to 
explore and test the market for opportunities to grow and sustain the Leeds 
Fertility IVF service in light of a changing competitive market in Leeds. 
 
The following were in attendance: 
 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at a future meeting 

 

- James Goodyear, Director of Strategy, LTHT 
- Dr Kelly Cohen, Clinical Director of Women’s Services, LTHT 
- Claire Goodman, General Manager, Women’s Services, LTHT 

 
The Clinical Director of Women’s Services introduced the report and 
highlighted the current success of the Leeds Fertility IVF Service.  In 
particular, it was noted that the ‘take home baby rate’ is 44% in Leeds, 
compared to 27% nationally.  Members were also advised that the team hold 
an international reputation for training and excellence which the Trust is keen 
to maintain.  Driven by recent changes to the commercial landscape for IVF in 
Leeds, it was highlighted that the Trust is wanting to explore the potential 
benefits of a collaborative approach with commercial providers in terms of 
investment opportunities to expand and grow the service, as well as securing 
its sustainability.  The Trust therefore intends to invite the market to tender for 
the contract to deliver the IVF component of the service while still working 
closely with the Trust to maintain the current level of excellence.  As part of 
this proposal, Members were assured that services would be delivered by the 
same clinical professionals and remain at Seacroft Hospital – despite the 
change in provider.   The General Manager of Women’s Services was then 
invited to give an overview of patient engagement work undertaken by the 
Trust.  In acknowledging that patients have been generally happy with the 
current level of service received, it was noted that some potential service 
improvement areas had also been identified, which included simplifying the 
clinical pathway navigation routes; addressing waiting times; improved 
telephone access for information and advice; access to a patient supporting 
mobile application and greater personalisation of care. When asked 
specifically about the proposal to deliver the service through a commercial 
provider, it was reported that most were not against the proposal if it meant 
that the quality of care and expertise was to remain in place.  Patients also 
emphasised the importance of ensuring that NHS and self-funding (private) 
patients are treated equally. 
 
Members discussed a number of matters, including: 
 

 Clarification of the specific IVF component to be procured.  In response 
to a query, the Board was informed that the technical aspects of the 
IVF component would be procured but the broader gynaecological 
service and specialist fertility work would remain with the Trust. 

 The developing competitor market. Members sought clarification on the 
current pressures on the service that have led the Trust to consider 
working with a commercial partner. Members were advised that the 
Trust intends to explore tendering options to give certainty to the 
viability of the service in the medium term, in order to maintain a 
service that is able to compete with other private providers that begin to 
offer alternative services in the city.  It was also noted that the 
expectation would be for a private provider to pay the Trust to take on 
this work, which would offer some certainty over income and help 
mitigate the potential risk of patient activity levels reducing due to a 
changing commercial landscape. 

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at a future meeting 

 

 Impact on staff employment.  Members sought clarification surrounding 
the impact on staff and learned that while a TUPE transfer would likely 
be applied to most of the affected staff, there are some staff that work 
across a broad range of fertility services whom may need to remain 
employed directly by the Trust.  

 Patient pathway. Members were assured that the patient pathway 
managed by a Consultant, along with the nurse-led aftercare process, 
will remain unchanged despite the changes to the provider.  It was also 
noted that the quality of care delivered by any new commercial provider 
would be closely monitored by the Trust through a robust contract 
management process. 

 Facilities for male fertility issues. In response to a query, Members 
were advised that there is an andrology service available for referrals in 
Leeds. 

 Decision-making timeframe.  Members were informed that the Trust 
had not made any firm decisions regarding the future of the IVF Fertility 
Service as it would need to evaluate the outcome of the forthcoming 
tendering exercise.  It was noted that the Trust intends to publish the 
tender documentation over the coming weeks.   

 
In conclusion, the Chair proposed that the Board maintains a watching brief 
on this matter.  While noting that there are no further planned meetings of the 
Board until June, the Chair requested that the Trust provides a further written 
update in due course, which will also assist the Board in determining its next 
steps. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
(a) That the contents of the report and appendices, along with Members 

comments, be noted. 
(b) That the Board is kept informed of progress by the Trust and receives a 

further written update in due course. 
 

84 Women's Health in Leeds  
 

The Director of Public Health submitted a report that provided an update on 
key women’s health issues and how COVID-19 has impacted. 
 
The following were in attendance: 
 

- Councillor Fiona Venner, Executive Member for Children, Families and 
Adult Social Care 

- Councillor Salma Arif, Executive Member for Health and Wellbeing 
- Cath Roff, Director of Adults and Health 
- Victoria Eaton, Director of Public Health 
- Kathryn Ingold, Chief Officer / Consultant in Public Health 
- Tim Taylor, Head of Public Health 
- Hannah Sowerbutts, Health Improvement Principal, LCC 
- Louise Cresswell, Health Improvement Principal, LCC 
- Liz Wigley, Commissioning Manager, NHS Leeds CCG 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at a future meeting 

 

- Jeanette Morris-Boam, Project Manager, Women’s Lives Leeds 
- Dr Sarah Forbes, GP and Associate Medical Director for NHS Leeds 

CCG 
- Dr Kelly Cohen, Clinical Director of Women’s Services, LTHT 

 
The Executive Members introduced the report, beginning by recognising 
recent events that had highlighted the need for greater focus on women’s 
safety and wellbeing. Members were advised that the report includes 
contributions from a range of health partners, including the third sector, and 
details health outcomes of women in the city and how their experiences have 
been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly for black and minority 
ethnic groups.  
 
Members discussed a number of matters, including: 
 

 Addressing health inequality through targeted intervention. In response 
to a query, Health partners provided detail on a range of initiatives and 
programmes to support disadvantaged groups and to understand the 
barriers to access to health services – including developing more 
accessible models for female cancer screening services, which have 
been replicated across other Primary Care Networks.  Reference was 
made to the award winning Haamla Midwifery Team, who provide 
enhanced antenatal and postnatal care to women seeking asylum. 

 Domestic Violence. In recognition of the increase in domestic abuse 
nationally and in Leeds as a result of the pandemic, as well as the 
impact of domestic violence on women’s health and wellbeing, 
Members requested more information on the steps taken by health 
partners to support and identify women suffering abuse. Third Sector 
representatives advised that while there are a number of successful 
schemes in place currently, many of these are only funded until the end 
of March 2021. Related to this, Members were advised that there are 
three women’s refuges, along with a range of other safe housing 
options, located across the city. Members felt that this matter should 
remain on the radar of the successor Scrutiny Board and 
recommended that options are explored in the new municipal year to 
link in with the ongoing work of the Environment, Housing and 
Communities Scrutiny Board surrounding Domestic Violence. 

 Endometriosis. Members reflected on the initial request that was made 
back in 2019 for the Scrutiny Board to look into the support available 
for women who suffer from Endometriosis. This request had prompted 
the Board to consider reproductive health more broadly, but also 
Women’s Health in Leeds generally.  While noting that the agenda 
report had included a brief reference to Endometriosis, it was 
acknowledged by the Executive Member for Children, Families and 
Adult Social Care that more work was still needed to raise the profile of 
this particular condition as well as the need to increase levels of 
research and support to help those who suffer from it.  

 Inequalities in Health Alliance. There was a suggestion from Members 
that Leeds City Council considers joining other organisations and City 
Councils in signing up to the Inequalities in Health Alliance.  

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at a future meeting 

 

 
In conclusion, the Chair welcomed the report and thanked everyone for their 
positive contributions to the discussion. 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report and appendices, along with 
Members comments, be noted. 
 

85 Work Schedule  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that provided an 
overview of the work that has been undertaken by the Scrutiny Board this 
municipal year.  Also appended to the report was a draft work schedule of 
planned meeting dates for 2020/21, which included standard items of scrutiny 
activity linked to performance and budget monitoring and other items of work 
linked to commitments already made by the Board. 
 
Members were invited to identify any other specific areas/ matters that it 
would like to recommend to the successor Scrutiny Board in terms of its future 
work programme.  A particular suggestion was made for the Board to explore 
how GP services are planning to safely return to a face-to-face appointment 
service. 
 
RESOLVED – That the current work schedule be approved and the draft work 
schedule for 2021/22 be noted. 
 

86 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 

To be confirmed. 
 

Page 10



 
 

 

 

What is this report about?  
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 The Council’s Scrutiny arrangements are one of the key parts of the Council’s governance 
arrangements.  For a number of years, the Council’s Constitution has made provision for the 
appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards.  

 For those Scrutiny Boards where co-opted members have previously been appointed, such 

arrangements have tended to be reviewed on an annual basis, usually at the beginning of a 

new municipal year.  

 

 This report provides guidance to the Scrutiny Board when seeking to appoint co-opted 

members. There are also some legislative arrangements in place for the appointment of 

specific co-opted members. Such cases are set out in the Council’s Constitution and are 

also summarised within this report.   

 

Recommendations 

In line with the options available and information outlined in this report, Members are asked to 

consider and discuss the appointment of non-voting co-opted members to the Adults, Health and 

Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Co-opted Members 

Date: 15th June 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Angela Brogden 

Tel: 0113 3788661 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1. In the majority of cases the appointment of co-opted members is optional and is 

determined by the relevant Scrutiny Board.  The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules within 
the Council’s Constitution outlines the options available to Scrutiny Boards in relation to 
appointing co-opted members.   

 
2. In general terms, Scrutiny Boards can appoint: 

 

 Up to five non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that does not go beyond 
the next Annual Meeting of Council ; and/or, 

 

 Up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that relates to the duration 
of a particular and specific scrutiny inquiry. 

 
3. To assist the Scrutiny Board, this report sets out a number of key issues to consider when 

seeking to appoint a co-opted member. 
 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

4. It is widely recognised that in some circumstances, co-opted members can significantly aid 

the work of Scrutiny Boards.   

 
5. The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules make it clear that co-option would normally only be 

appropriate where the co-opted member has some specialist skill or knowledge, which 
would be of assistance to the Scrutiny Board.   

 
6. In considering the appointment of co-opted members, Scrutiny Boards should be satisfied 

that a co-opted member can use their specialist skill or knowledge to add value to the work 
of the Scrutiny Board.  However, co-opted members should not be seen as a replacement 
to professional advice from officers.  

 
7. Co-opted members should be considered as representatives of wider groups of people.  

However, when seeking external input into the Scrutiny Board’s work, consideration should 
always be given to other alternative approaches, such as the role of expert witnesses or 
use of external research studies, to help achieve a balanced evidence base.  

 

8. When considering the appointment of a co-opted member for a term of office, Scrutiny 
Boards should be mindful of any potential conflicts of interest that may arise during the 
course of the year in view of the Scrutiny Boards’ wide ranging terms of reference.  To help 
overcome this, Scrutiny Boards may wish to focus on the provision available to appoint up 
to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that relates to the duration of a 
particular and specific scrutiny inquiry.  

 

9. The process for appointing co-opted members should be open, effective and carried out in 
a manner which seeks to strengthen the work of the Scrutiny Board.  In doing so, due 
regard should also be given to any potential equality issues in line with the Council’s 
Equality and Diversity Scheme. 
 
 
 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 12



Non-voting co-opted members and health scrutiny 
 

10. Historically, Scrutiny Boards responsible for considering health and social care matters 
have generally operated with standing non-voting co-opted members.  Predominantly, 
such appointments have tended to include those groups / bodies representing the voice of 
patients / service users.   

 
11. Following the formal establishment of HealthWatch Leeds and after a period of 

consolidation, in 2014/15 the Scrutiny Board appointed a standing non-voting co-opted 
member representative from HealthWatch Leeds.  The overarching aim of this approach 
being to help provide an opportunity for the views and intelligence gathered from service 
users and the wider public to be routinely brought to the attention of the Scrutiny Board in 
an appropriate and timely manner.  It also provides an opportunity for work areas/ priorities 
to be shared and to help avoid any unnecessary duplication.  

 
12. The general consensus from Scrutiny Board members and HealthWatch Leeds has been 

that the arrangements have worked well and there is a positive working relationship 
between both bodies. 

 
13. Initial discussions have confirmed that HealthWatch Leeds would welcome similar 

arrangements for the current municipal year 2021/22 and have again identified the Chair of 
HealthWatch Leeds (Dr John Beal) as its nominated representative. 

 
14. It should be noted this approach would not preclude the appointment of any further co-

opted members, within the overall provision provided by the Council’s Constitution 
(described above). 

 
15. The views of Board Members during today’s meeting will be used to inform a decision on 

the appointment of co-opted members at the Board’s next formal meeting.   
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

16. The guidance surrounding co-opted members was previously discussed by the Scrutiny 

Chairs when it was agreed that individual Scrutiny Boards would consider the appointment 

of co-optees on an individual basis. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

17. Where applicable, any incidental expenses paid to co-optees will be met within existing 

resources. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

18. Where additional members are co-opted onto a Scrutiny Board, such members  must 

comply with the provisions set out in the Member’s Code of Conduct as  detailed within 

the Council’s Constitution. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

19. When Scrutiny Boards are considering the appointment of a standing co-opted member for 

a term of office, they should be mindful of any potential conflicts of interest that may arise 

during the course of the year in view of the Scrutiny Boards’ wide ranging terms of 

reference.   

  

 
Page 13



Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 

20. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking 

Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives and it is widely recognised 

that co-opted members can significantly aid the work of Scrutiny Boards.   
  

  

Appendices 

21. None. 

 

Background papers 

22. None. 

Page 14



 
 

 

 

What is this report about?  
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 This report presents the terms of reference for the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active 
Lifestyles). 

 While general Terms of Reference is applied to all Scrutiny Boards, the variations in the 
Scrutiny Boards’ remits, together with their special responsibilities, are captured within 
Article 6 of the constitution. 

 

 Further information is presented within this report to show how each of the five individual 
Scrutiny Boards this year have been aligned to Officer Delegated Functions and Executive 
Portfolios. 
 

 In line with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, the Scrutiny Boards will also continue to 
ensure through service review that equality and diversity/cohesion and integration issues are 
considered in decision making and policy formulation. 
 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference 

Date: 15th June 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Angela Brogden 

Tel: 0113 3788661 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1. This report presents the terms of reference for the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and 

Active Lifestyles). 
 
2. The general Terms of Reference applied to all Scrutiny Boards is set out in Appendix 1. 

 

3. The variations in the Scrutiny Boards’ remits, together with their special responsibilities, 
are captured within Article 6 of the constitution (see Appendix 2). 

 

4. However, more detailed information has also been provided to show how each of the five 
individual Scrutiny Boards this year have been aligned to Officer Delegated Functions and 
Executive Portfolios (see Appendix 3).  

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

5. This report seeks to provide clarity surrounding the terms of reference for the Scrutiny 
Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles). 
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

6. These terms of reference were formally considered and approved by Council on 20th May 

2021. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

7. This report has no specific resource implications. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

8. This report has no specific legal implications. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

9. This report has no risk management implications. 

  

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 

10. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards will continue to promote a strategic and 

outward looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the Best Council Plan. 
   

Appendices 

11. Appendix 1 - General Terms of Reference applied to all Scrutiny Boards. 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 16



12. Appendix 2 - Article 6 of the constitution showing the variations in the Scrutiny Boards’ 

remits, together with their special responsibilities.  

13. Appendix 3 – Details of how individual Scrutiny Boards have been aligned to Officer 

Delegated Functions and Executive Portfolios during 2021/22. 

 

Background papers 

14. None. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Committees’ Terms of Reference  Appendix 1 

Part 3 Section 2B(b) 
Page 1 of 1 

Issue 1 – 2021/22 
 

Scrutiny Board 
 
The Scrutiny Board is authorised to discharge the following overview and scrutiny 
functions1: 
 

1. to review or scrutinise decisions made or other action taken in connection with 
any council or executive function or any matter which affects the authority’s 
area or the inhabitants of that area;2 

 
2. to receive and consider requests for Scrutiny from any source; 

 
3. to review or scrutinise the performance of such Trust / Partnership Boards as 

fall within its remit;  
 

4. to act as the appropriate Scrutiny Board in relation to the Executive’s initial 
proposals for a relevant plan or strategy within the Budget and Policy 
Framework which falls within its remit;3 

 
5. to review or scrutinise executive decisions that have been Called In; 

 
6. to exercise such special functions as are allocated in Annex 3 to Article 6 – 

Scrutiny Boards; and 
 

7. to make such reports and recommendations as it considers appropriate and to 
receive and monitor formal responses to any reports or recommendations 
made. 

 

                                            
1 In relation to functions set out in Annex 2 to Article 6 – Scrutiny Boards, whether or not those 
functions are concurrently delegated to any other committee or officer. 
2 Including matters pertaining to outside bodies and partnerships to which the authority has made 
appointments. 
3 In accordance with Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 1 of 6 

Issue 1 – 2021/22 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

ARTICLE 6 – SCRUTINY BOARDS 

6.1 ROLE 

The Council will appoint Scrutiny Boards as set out in Annex 2 to this Article to 
exercise functions conferred by section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000 and in 
accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006, in accordance with their terms 
of reference1.  

6.2 VISION FOR SCRUTINY 

The Council has adopted a Vision for Scrutiny, which is attached at Annex 1. 

6.3 ROLE OF SCRUTINY 

Policy development and review 

Within their Terms of Reference all Scrutiny Boards may: 

 assist the Council and the Executive in the development of the Budget and Policy
Framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;

 conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy
issues and possible options;

 consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community
participation in the development of policy options;

 question Members of the Executive and Directors about their views on issues
and proposals affecting the area; and

 liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether national,
regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are enhanced by
collaborative working.

Scrutiny 

Within their terms of reference all Scrutiny Boards may: 

 make recommendations to the Executive and/or appropriate committees and/or
Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process;

 review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and
invite reports from them by requesting them to address the Scrutiny Board and
local people about their activities and performance; and

 question and gather evidence.

1 As set out at Part 3 Section 2A of the Constitution 

Appendix 2

Page 21



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 2 of 6 

Issue 1 – 2021/22 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

6.4 SCRUTINY OFFICER 

The Council has designated the post of Head of Democratic Services, as Scrutiny 
Officer2. 

The functions of the Scrutiny Officer are: 
(a) to promote the role of the Scrutiny Boards;
(b) to provide support to the Scrutiny Boards and their members3;
(c) to provide support and guidance to Members (including Executive Members),
and officers4, in relation to the Scrutiny Boards’ functions;
(d) to report to Council5 annually about how the authority has carried out its
overview and scrutiny functions.

6.5 PROCEEDINGS 

Scrutiny Boards will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the Scrutiny 
Board Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

6.6 MEMBERSHIP 

Members shall be appointed in accordance with the Scrutiny Board Procedure 
Rules. 

Scrutiny Boards shall co-opt members in accordance with the Scrutiny Board 
Procedure Rules. 

6.7 SCRUTINY BOARD CHAIRS 

The Chair of each of the Scrutiny Boards shall be appointed in accordance with the 
Council Procedure Rules. 

Group spokespersons shall not be appointed to Chair a Scrutiny Board which 
corresponds to the same portfolio.6 

 The Scrutiny Board with responsibility for health shall nominate Members to any
joint overview and scrutiny committee appointed by the authority.7

2 Under Section 9FB Local Government Act 2000.   
3 The Scrutiny Officer shall exercise overall responsibility for the finances made available to Scrutiny Boards. 
4 The Scrutiny Officer shall exercise overall responsibility for the work programme of the officers employed to 
support the work of the Scrutiny Boards. 
5 After consultation with the relevant Scrutiny Chairs 
6 This does not apply to those groups who have less than 10% of the membership of the Council 
7 such nominations to reflect the political balance of the Board. 

Page 22



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 3 of 6 

Issue 1 – 2021/22 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

ANNEX 1 
Vision for Scrutiny at Leeds 

“To promote democratic engagement through the provision of an influential 
scrutiny function which is held in high regard by its many stakeholders and  
which achieves measurable service improvements which add value for the 
people of Leeds through a member led process of examination and review" 

To achieve this Scrutiny will follow the nationally agreed ‘Four Principles of Good Scrutiny’; 

1. Provide ‘critical friend’ challenge to decision makers, through holding them to
account for decisions made, engaging in policy review and policy development;

2. Promote Scrutiny as a means by which the voice and concerns of the public can be
heard;

3. Ensure Scrutiny is carried out by ‘independent minded’  Board members;

4. Improve public services by ensuring reviews of policy and service performance are
focused.

To succeed Council recognises that the following conditions need to be present; 

 Parity of esteem between the Executive and Scrutiny

 Co-operation with statutory partners

 Member leadership and engagement

 Genuine non-partisan working

 Evidence based conclusions and recommendations

 Effective dedicated officer support

 Supportive Directors and senior officer culture

Council agrees that it is incumbent upon Scrutiny Boards to recognise that 
resources to support the Scrutiny function are, (like all other Council functions), 
under considerable pressure and that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always 
be met.  Therefore Council agrees that constructive consultation should take place 
between the Executive and Scrutiny about the availability of resources prior to any 
work being undertaken.   
Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should 

 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive
Member about available resources

 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already
having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue (e.g. Plans Panel,
Housing Advisory Board, established member working groups, other Scrutiny
Boards)

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add
value and can be delivered within an agreed time frame.

Page 23



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 4 of 6 

Issue 1 – 2021/22 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

ANNEX 2 

Scrutiny Board External oversight Officer oversight (by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme) 

Council Functions Executive Functions 

Strategy and 
Resources 

Chief Executive 
Director of Resources  
Chief Officer (Financial Services) 
City Solicitor 
Director of Communities, Housing and 

Environment 

Chief Executive (1-3)  
Director of Resources (1-7) 
City Solicitor (1-3) 
Chief Officer (Financial Services)(1-5) 
Director of Communities, Housing and Environment (2, 15 – 17) 
Director of City Development (8, 11) 

Infrastructure, 
Investment and 
Inclusive Growth 

Risk management authorities 
(defined by S6 Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010) 

Director of City Development 
Chief Planning Officer 

Chief Executive (4) 
Director of City Development (1, 3-5a&b, 6 & 7, 9-10, 14) 
Chief Planning Officer (1-4) 
Director of Children and Families (2(e)) 

Environment, 
Housing and 
Communities 

Responsible authorities 
(defined by S5 Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998) 

None Director of Communities, Housing and Environment (1, 3-14, 
18-20) 
Director of Resources (8-12) 
Director of City Development ( 2) 

Children and Families Director of Children and Families Director of Children and Families (1, 2(a-d & f), 3) 
Programme Director Strengthening Families, Protecting 
Children (1 – 3) 

Adults, Health and 
Active Lifestyles 

Relevant NHS bodies or health 
service providers including:-
NHS England 
NHS Leeds Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
Local NHS Trusts and other 
NHS service providers 
Healthwatch Leeds 

None Director of Adults and Health (1 - 8) 
Director of Public Health (1-6) 
Director of City Development (12&13) 

P
age 24



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 5 of 6 

Issue 1 – 2021/22 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

ANNEX 3 

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF SCRUTINY BOARDS 

1 – Flood risk Management 

The Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth) is allocated 
special responsibility for flood risk management namely:- 

 To review and scrutinise the exercise by risk management authorities8 of flood risk
management functions9 which may affect the Leeds City Council area10.

2 – Crime and Disorder 

The Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) is allocated special 
responsibility for crime and disorder namely:- 

 To exercise the functions of a crime and disorder committee11, including the
following:

a) To review or scrutinise the exercise of crime and disorder functions12 by
responsible authorities13; and

b) To review or scrutinise any local crime or disorder matter14 raised by a
Member.

3 – Health 

The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) is allocated special 
responsibility for health namely:- 

 to review and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation
of the health service in its area and to make reports and recommendations on any
such matter it has reviewed or scrutinised;

 to comment on, make recommendations about, or report to the Secretary of State in
writing about such proposals as are referred to the authority by a relevant NHS
body or a relevant health service provider;

 to respond to consultation by any relevant NHS body or health service provider; and

8 As defined by Section 6 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
9 As defined by Section 4 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
10 In accordance with Section 9FH Local Government Act 2000 
11 In accordance with Section 19 Police and Justic Act 2006 
12 As defined by Section 6 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (formulating and implementing crime and disorder 
strategies) 
13 These are the authorities responsible for crime and disorder strategies set out in Section 5 Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998. 
14 Any matter concerning –  

a) crime and disorder (including in particular forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social
behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment); or

b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in that area

Page 25



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 6 of 6 

Issue 1 – 2021/22 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

Matters which fall within the terms of reference of this Scrutiny Board include: 

 arrangements made by local NHS bodies to secure hospital and community
health services to the inhabitants of the authority’s area and the quality and
safety of such services;

 the provision of family health services, personal medical services, personal
dental services, pharmacy and NHS ophthalmic services;

 arrangements made by the authority for public health, health promotion, health
improvement and for addressing health inequalities;

 the planning of health services by NHS bodies, including plans made in co-
operation with local authority’s Health and Wellbeing Board for improving both
the health of the local population and the provision of health care to that
population;

 any matter referred by Healthwatch Leeds; and

 the arrangements made by relevant NHS bodies and health service providers for
consulting and involving patients and the public.

The Scrutiny Board may make recommendations to the authority, relevant NHS bodies, or 
relevant health service providers arising from the scrutiny process. 

4– Residual Responsibility 

The Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) is allocated residual responsibility for 
any function not otherwise allocated to a Scrutiny Board. 

Page 26



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

 

Scrutiny Board: Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles 
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Director of Adults & Health 
1. Promotion of well-being 
2. Information, advice and advocacy 
3. Prevention and Recovery 
4. Safeguarding 
5. Assessment and eligibility 
6. Diverse and high-quality services 
7. Charging and financial assessment 
 

ADULT AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH 
PARTNERSHIPS 
Cllr F Venner 

Director of City Development 
13. Active Travel (relating to the promotion and championing of active travel – with 
responsibilities for infrastructure remaining within the highways and transport and 
planning functions) 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE & CLIMATE 
Cllr Hayden 

Director of City Development 
12. Sport and Active Leeds 
 
Director of Adults & Health 
8. Public Health 
 
Director of Public Health 
1. Health Improvement Function  
2. Health Protection Functions 
3. Functions relating to the commissioning of Public Health 
4. Provision of statutory and mandated functions 
5. Functions of Responsible Authority 
6. Production and Publication of the annual report on the health of the local 
population.  

PUBLIC HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES 
Cllr Arif 

P
age 27



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

 

Scrutiny Board: Children and Families  
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Director of Children and Families 
 
1. Children’s Social Work including:- 

a) Preventative Services;  
b) Safeguarding and Child Protection;  
c) Assessment and Care Management;  
d) Residential and Respite Care;  
e) Support For Carers; and  
f) Youth Offending Services.  

 
2. Learning including:- 

a) Early Years Provision; and 
f) Development of active citizens. 

 
3. Child friendly City including:- 

a) Child Poverty; and 
b) Voice and Influence 
c) Influencing Climate Change And Sustainability 

  
Functions delegated to the Director of Children & Families as Lead Officer of One 
Adoption Agency for West Yorkshire 
1. Adoption Services 

 

ADULT AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH 
PARTNERSHIPS 
Cllr F Venner 

Director of Children & Families 
4. Youth Services 

COMMUNITIES 
Cllr Harland  

Director of Children & Families 
2b. Sustainable Access to Education 

ECONOMY, CULTURE & EDUCATION 
Cllr Pryor  

  

P
age 28



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Scrutiny Board: Environment, Housing and Communities 
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
1.  Integrated locality working and its associated city-wide functions 
3. The Council’s community hubs 
4. Library and Information Service 
18. Welfare and benefits services 
 

COMMUNITIES 
Cllr Harland 

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
6. Public Health Protection and Control of Statutory Nuisance 
7. Environmental Health and Consumer Protection 
8. Environmental management 
9. Car parking 
10. Waste 
19. Landlord Functions (funded by the Housing Revenue Account) 
20. Other Housing Functions 

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING 
Cllr Rafique 

Director of Resources 
10. Climate Change 
11. Sustainable Energy and Carbon Reduction 
12. Clean Air 

INFRASTRUCTURE & CLIMATE 
Cllr Hayden 

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
11. Cemeteries, Crematoria, Burial grounds and mortuaries 
12. Parks and Countryside 
13. Countryside management 
14.  Ecological sustainability  

PUBLIC HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES 
Cllr Arif 

Director of Resources 
8. Civic Enterprise Leeds 
9. Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
 
 

RESOURCES 
Cllr Coupar  

P
age 29



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
5. Community Safety including: 
a) CCTV 
b) Reduction of crime and disorder 
c) Drugs and alcohol treatment and offender management 
d) Tackling antisocial behaviour 
e) Tackling domestic violence  
 
Director of City Development:  
3. Functions relating to the Council’s Register of Assets of Community Value 

  

P
age 30



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Scrutiny Board: Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth 
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Chief Executive 
4a. City Region Functions 

LEADER’S PORTFOLIO 
Cllr Lewis 

Director of City Development 
1. Asset Management 

RESOURCES 
Cllr Coupar 

Director of City Development 
3. Inclusive Growth 
6. Sustainable Economic Development 
7. Employment and Skills 
 
Director of Children & Families 
2e. 14 – 16 Skills Development 

ECONOMY, CULTURE & EDUCATION 
Cllr Pryor  

Director of City Development 
4. Sustainable Development  
5. Sustainable Housing Growth  
9. Highways and Transportation  
10. Flood and water management  
14. Planning Services 
 
Chief Planning Officer 
1.  Development Plan functions 
2. Planning Policy and Guidance functions 
3. Neighbourhood Planning functions 
4a. Conservation Area functions 

INFRASTRUCTURE & CLIMATE 
Cllr Hayden 

  

P
age 31



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Scrutiny Board: Strategy and Resources 

Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Chief Executive 
1. Functions in relation to elections 
 
Director of resources 
1. Setting supporting and monitoring the Council’s policies and procedures [note 1e & 1g 
fall within the Leader’s Portfolio as detailed below] 
2. Digital and Information Services 
3. Customer Relations 
4. Corporate communication services 
6. The Council’s city-wide resilience planning and policy development services including 
co-ordination of the Best Council Plan  
7. Shared Services 
 
Chief Officer Financial Services  
2. Ensuring effective financial management and controls 
3. Setting, supporting and monitoring the Council’s policies and procedures for budgets 
4. Administering effective financial management and controls 
5. Corporate Governance 
 
City solicitor 
1. Legal Services 
2. Democratic Services including support to elected members in their responsibilities 
3. Standards and Conduct 
 
Director of Communities, Housing & Environment  
15. Registrars functions 
16. Licensing functions 
17. Land and property search functions 
 

RESOURCES 
Cllr Coupar 

P
age 32



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Chief Executive 
2. Civic and Ceremonial functions 
3. Devolution and local freedoms 
 
Director of Resources 
1e. Joint Strategic Needs Analysis 
1g. risk and business continuity  
5. The Council’s corporate planning and policy development services, including co-

ordination of the Best Council Plan 
 
Chief Officer Financial Services 
1. Setting, supporting and monitoring the Council’s financial strategy. 

LEADER’S PORTFOLIO 
Cllr Lewis  

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment  
2. Equalities 

COMMUNITIES 
Cllr Harland 

Director of City Development 
8.  International and domestic inward economic investment 
11. Culture 

ECONOMY, CULTURE & EDUCATION 
Cllr Pryor  

 

Version: 210526 

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

What is this report about?  
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 Local Authority Health Scrutiny was first introduced by the Health and Social Care Act 2001 
and is a fundamental way by which democratically elected local councillors are able to voice 
the views of their constituents, and hold relevant NHS bodies and relevant health service 
providers to account. 

 The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) has been assigned to fulfil the 
council’s health scrutiny function and therefore has a specific remit / responsibility in relation 
to reviewing and scrutinising any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of 
local health services. 

 NHS Commissioners and Service Providers also have a duty to consult local authorities 
(through the health scrutiny function) where any proposal is under consideration for a 
substantial development of the health service or a substantial variation in the provision of 
such a service in the local authorities area. 

 This report therefore presents further information and guidance to assist the Scrutiny Board 
(Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) in undertaking its specific health scrutiny role. 

 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to consider and discuss the information and guidance presented within this 

report. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

Date: 15th June 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Angela Brogden 

Tel: 0113 3788661 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



Why is the proposal being put forward?  

1. The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) has been assigned to fulfil the 
council’s statutory health scrutiny function and this report presents further information and 
guidance to assist the Board in undertaking this specific role. 
 

2. In June 2014, the Department of Health published its ‘Local Authority Health Scrutiny’ 
guidance to support local authorities and partners deliver effective health scrutiny.  A copy 
of this guidance is therefore appended to this report for Members’ information (see 
Appendix 1). 

 

Health Service Developments Working Group 

 
3. The Health and Social Care Act (2012) reinforced the duty of NHS Commissioners and 

Service Providers to make arrangements to involve and consult patients and the public in:  
 

 Planning service provision;  

 The development of proposals for changes; and,  

 Decisions about changes to the operation of services.  
  

4. In accordance with Part 4 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013, the requirement to consult on service 
changes and/or developments also includes a duty to consult local authorities (through the 
health overview and scrutiny function) where any proposal is under consideration for:  

 

 a substantial development of the health service; or,  

 a substantial variation in the provision of such a service in the local authorities area. 
 

5. Such a duty does not apply to any proposals on which the responsible NHS body is 
satisfied that a decision has to be taken without allowing time for consultation because of a 
risk to safety or welfare of patients or staff.  However, the Regulations state that the 
authority must still be notified immediately of the decision taken and the reason why no 
consultation has taken place. 

 
6. The levels of service variation and/or development are not specifically defined in legislation 

and it is widely acknowledged the term ‘substantial variation or development of health 
services’ is subjective. Commissioners and providers are therefore advised to approach the 
local authority’s health scrutiny function when proposals are first being considered to 
discuss and reach a view on whether the change proposed is substantial, as well as 
determining appropriate next steps. 

 
7. To assist in this process, a Health Service Developments Working Group has previously 

been established to offer an environment that allows early engagement with the Scrutiny 
Board regarding proposed developments and/or changes to local health services. 

 

8. It is recommended that similar arrangements are established for the current municipal year 
(2021/22).  Draft terms of reference surrounding the Health Service Developments Working 
Group are therefore attached for consideration (see Appendix 2) and the views of Members 
during today’s meeting will inform the position for approval at the Board’s next formal 
meeting. 

 

Joint Health Scrutiny 
 

9. As explained within the Department of Health guidance document, Regulation 30 of the 

Local Authority (Public Health, Health and wellbeing boards and Health Scrutiny) 

Regulations 2013 requires local authorities to appoint mandatory joint health scrutiny 
Page 36



committees where a relevant NHS body or health service provider consults more than one 

local authority’s health scrutiny function about substantial reconfiguration proposals. 

 

10. In Yorkshire and the Humber, a protocol was established between the 15 upper tier local 

authorities for establishing a joint health scrutiny committee where proposed changes 

affect more than one local authority area. Joint health scrutiny committees may also be 

established to consider other issues of mutual interest.  

 

11. Under Regulation 30, local authorities may also appoint a discretionary joint health scrutiny 

committee to carry out all or specified health scrutiny functions, for example health scrutiny 

in relation to health issues that cross local authority boundaries. Establishing a joint 

committee of this kind does not prevent the appointing local authorities from separately 

scrutinising health issues. However, it is recognised that there are likely to be occasions on 

which a discretionary joint committee is the best way of considering how the needs of a 

local population, which happens to cross council boundaries, are being met.   

 

12. In November 2014, the chairs of the five West Yorkshire Councils health overview and 

scrutiny committees agreed to pursue establishing a discretionary joint health overview 

and scrutiny committee and in November 2015, Leeds City Council agreed to join other 

West Yorkshire authorities in making joint arrangements and approving terms of reference 

for a discretionary West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(JHOSC).  The original terms of reference for this Committee are set out in Appendix 3 for 

Members’ information. 

 
Changes to the working arrangements of the JHOSC 
 

13. The JHOSC still exists and formally consists of Leeds, Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees and 
Wakefield Councils.  However, the working arrangements of this joint committee now 
maintains oversight for the developing West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care 
Partnership across a range of programme areas and other matters.  
 

14. For some time, North Yorkshire County Council has routinely been invited to attend and 
actively participate in meetings of the Joint Committee and was formally appointed as a co-
opted member in 2018/19. 

 

15. Membership of the JHOSC currently consists of two members from the relevant scrutiny 
committee within each constituent local authority.  Leeds’ representatives on the JHOSC 
have been the Chair and another member of the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active 
Lifestyles).  Historically this position has been filled by a Scrutiny Board Member 
representing the council’s largest opposition political group.   
 

16. During 2020/21, the support resource for the JHOSC moved to the remit of colleagues at 
Calderdale Council, with the Chair of Leeds Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active 
Lifestyles) continuing as Chair until February 2021. The JHOSC will appoint a new Chair 
from its membership at its first meeting of 2021/22.  
 

17. The Scrutiny Board is asked to note the current JHOSC arrangements and to consider the 
Board’s representatives for this municipal year (2021/22), while also recognising that such 
arrangements may be subject to further review linked to forthcoming legislative proposals 
for a new Health and Care Bill, as referenced below.  The views of Members during 
today’s meeting will inform the position for approval at the Board’s next formal meeting. 
 

 
 

Page 37

https://www.calderdale.gov.uk/council/councillors/councilmeetings/query.jsp


 
 

Legislative proposals for a new Health and Care Bill 
 

18. In March this year, the JHOSC held a workshop with colleagues from the Health and Care 
Partnership to discuss the Department of Health and Social Care's legislative proposals for 
a Health and Care Bill – “Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health 
and social care for all”.  Moving forward, the Authority will continue to participate in the 
function of the JHOSC and work alongside the Health and Care Partnership as the 
proposals for a new Integrated Care System for West Yorkshire continue to develop, which 
will also include a key focus on the potential future role of scrutiny as part of that new 
system.  While the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) will continue to be 
kept up-to-date on the work being undertaken by the JHOSC, this does not preclude the 
Board from undertaking its own work surrounding such legislative changes should it wish to 
do so. 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

19. This report presents information and guidance to assist the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health 

and Active Lifestyles) in undertaking its specific health scrutiny role. 

 
What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

20. The terms of reference of the West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and draft terms of reference of the Health Service Development Working Group 

and, as appended to this report, have been informed by earlier engagement work 

undertaken with the Scrutiny Board. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

21. This report has no specific resource implications. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

22. The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) has been assigned to fulfil the 
council’s statutory health scrutiny function and this report presents further information and 
guidance to assist the Board in undertaking this specific role. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

23. This report has no risk management implications. 

  

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 

☐ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☐ Climate Emergency 

 

24. Health scrutiny should be outcome focused, looking at cross-cutting issues, including 

general health improvement, wellbeing and how well health inequalities are being 

addressed, as well as specific treatment services.  

  
  

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 38



Appendices 

25. Appendix 1 - Department of Health ‘Local Authority Health Scrutiny’ guidance (June 2014). 

26. Appendix 2 - Health Service Developments Working Group Draft Terms of Reference for 

the current municipal year (2021/11). 

27. Appendix 3 - West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee Terms of 

Reference (2015) 

Background papers 

28. None. 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

June 2014 

Local Authority Health 
Scrutiny 
Guidance to support Local Authorities and their 
partners to deliver effective health scrutiny.  
 
 

Page 41



 

 2 

Title:  
 
Local Authority Health Scrutiny: Guidance to support Local Authorities and their partners to 
deliver effective health scrutiny 
 
Author:  
 
SCLGCP/PCLG/18280   
 
Document Purpose:  
 
Guidance 
 
Publication date:  
 
June 2014 
 
To be reviewed in June 2015 
 
Target audience: 
 

• Local Authorities 
• Local Government Association 
• Health and Wellbeing Boards 
• Clinical Commissioning Groups 
• NHS trusts (acute, community, mental health) 
• NHS England 
• Healthwatch 

 
Contact details:  
 
Local Government Team 
Department of Health  
Room 330, Richmond House  
79 Whitehall  
London  
SW1A 2NS  
 

 

You may re-use the text of this document (not including logos) free of charge in any format or 
medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit 
www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ 

© Crown copyright  

Published to gov.uk, in PDF format only.  

www.gov.uk/dh 

 

Page 42

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/


 

 3 

Local Authority Health 
Scrutiny 
Guidance to support Local Authorities and their 
partners to deliver effective health scrutiny.  
 

Prepared by the People, Communities and Local Government Division of the Department 
of Health. 
 

Page 43



 

 4 

Contents 
Contents ....................................................................................................................................... 4 
Key messages ............................................................................................................................. 5 
1. Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 8 

1.1 Background ..................................................................................................................... 8 
1.2 Purpose of guidance ....................................................................................................... 9 
1.3 Scope of the Regulations .............................................................................................. 10 

2. What remains the same following the new legislation? .......................................................... 12 
2.1 For local authorities ....................................................................................................... 12 
2.2 For the NHS .................................................................................................................. 13 
2.3 For patient and public involvement ............................................................................... 13 

3. Changes arising from the new legislation ............................................................................... 15 
3.1 Powers and duties – changes for local authorities ........................................................ 15 
3.2 Powers and duties – changes for the NHS ................................................................... 20 
3.3 Powers and duties – referral by local Healthwatch ....................................................... 22 

4. Consultation ........................................................................................................................... 23 
4.1 The context of consultation ........................................................................................... 23 
4.2 When to consult ............................................................................................................ 23 
4.3 Who consults ................................................................................................................ 24 
4.4 Timescales for consultation .......................................................................................... 24 
4.5  When consultation is not required ................................................................................ 24 
4.6 Responses to consultation ............................................................................................ 25 
4.7 Referrals to the Secretary of State ................................................................................ 25 

5. References and useful links ................................................................................................... 29 
5.1 Relevant legislation and policy ...................................................................................... 29 
5.2 Useful reading ............................................................................................................... 29 

 

 

Page 44



 

 5 

Key messages 
• The primary aim of health scrutiny is to strengthen the voice of local people, ensuring 

that their needs and experiences are considered as an integral part of the commissioning 
and delivery of health services and that those services are effective and safe. The new 
legislation extends the scope of health scrutiny and increases the flexibility of local 
authorities in deciding how to exercise their scrutiny function.  

 
• Health scrutiny also has a strategic role in taking an overview of how well integration of 

health, public health and social care is working – relevant to this might be how well health 
and wellbeing boards are carrying out their duty to promote integration - and in making 
recommendations about how it could be improved.  

 
• At the same time, health scrutiny has a legitimate role in proactively seeking information 

about the performance of local health services and institutions; in challenging the 
information provided to it by commissioners and providers of services for the health 
service (“relevant NHS bodies and relevant health service providers”1) and in testing this 
information by drawing on different sources of intelligence.  

 
• Health scrutiny is part of the accountability of the whole system and needs the 

involvement of all parts of the system. Engagement of relevant NHS bodies and relevant 
health service providers with health scrutiny is a continuous process. It should start early 
with a common understanding of local health needs and the shape of services across the 
whole health and care system. 

 
• Effective health scrutiny requires clarity at a local level about respective roles between 

the health scrutiny function, the NHS, the local authority, health and wellbeing boards 
and local Healthwatch.  
 

• In the light of the Francis Report, local authorities will need to satisfy themselves that 
they keep open effective channels by which the public can communicate concerns about 
the quality of NHS and public health services to health scrutiny bodies. Although health 
scrutiny functions are not there to deal with individual complaints, they can use 
information to get an impression of services overall and to question commissioners and 
providers about patterns and trends.  
 

• Furthermore in the light of the Francis Report, health scrutiny will need to consider ways 
of independently verifying information provided by relevant NHS bodies and relevant 
health service providers – for example, by seeking the views of local Healthwatch.  
 

                                            
1 In this guidance, “health service commissioners and providers” is a reference to: 
a) certain NHS bodies, (i.e. NHS England, clinical commissioning groups, NHS trusts and NHS foundation trusts) 
and  
b) providers of NHS and public health services commissioned by NHS England, clinical commissioning groups and 
local authorities.  
Each of these is “a responsible person”, as defined in the Regulations, on whom the Regulations impose certain 
duties for the purposes of supporting local authorities to discharge their health scrutiny functions.  
 

Page 45



 6 

• Health scrutiny should be outcome focused, looking at cross-cutting issues, including 
general health improvement, wellbeing and how well health inequalities are being 
addressed, as well as specific treatment services. 
 

• Where there are concerns about proposals for substantial developments or variation in 
health services (or reconfiguration as it is also known) local authorities and the local NHS 
should work together to attempt to resolve these locally if at all possible. If external 
support is needed, informal help is freely available from the Independent Reconfiguration 
Panel (IRP)2 and/or the Centre for Public Scrutiny3. If the decision is ultimately taken to 
formally refer the local NHS’s reconfiguration proposals to the Secretary of State for 
Health, then this referral must be accompanied by an explanation of all steps taken 
locally to try to reach agreement in relation to those proposals.  
 

• In considering substantial reconfiguration proposals health scrutiny needs to recognise 
the resource envelope within which the NHS operates and should therefore take into 
account the effect of the proposals on sustainability of services, as well as on their quality 
and safety. 

 
• Local authorities should ensure that regardless of any arrangements adopted for carrying 

out health scrutiny functions, the functions are discharged in a transparent manner that 
will boost the confidence of local people in health scrutiny. Health scrutiny should be held 
in an open forum and local people should be allowed to attend and use any 
communication methods such as filming and tweeting to report the proceedings. This will 
be in line with the new transparency measure in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 and will allow local people, particularly those who are not present at scrutiny 
hearing-meetings, to have the opportunity to see or hear the proceedings. 

                                            
2 Independent Reconfiguration Panel website: www.irpanel.org.uk/view.asp?id=0 
3 Centre for Public Scrutiny website: www.cfps.og.uk 

Page 46



 

 

 

Page 47



 8 

1. Introduction 
This guidance is intended to support local authorities, relevant NHS bodies and relevant health 
service providers in discharging their responsibilities under the relevant regulations; and thereby 
supporting effective scrutiny. The guidance needs to be conscientiously taken into account. 
However, the guidance is not intended to be a substitute for the legislation or to provide a 
definitive interpretation of the legislation. Only the courts can provide a definitive interpretation 
of legislation. Anyone in doubt should seek legal advice.  
 

1.1 Background 
 
1.1.1 The primary aim of health scrutiny is to act as a lever to improve the health of local 

people, ensuring their needs are considered as an integral part of the commissioning, 
delivery and development of health services. For some time, local authority overview and 
scrutiny4 of health has been an important part of the Government’s commitment to place 
patients at the centre of health services. It is even more important in the new system. 
 

1.1.2 Health scrutiny is a fundamental way by which democratically elected local councillors 
are able to voice the views of their constituents, and hold relevant NHS bodies and 
relevant health service providers to account.  To this end, it is essential that health 
scrutiny functions are also carried out in a transparent manner, so that local people have 
the opportunity to see and hear proceedings, in line with the new transparency measure 
in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.  Local government itself is making an 
even greater contribution to health since taking on public health functions in April 2013 
(and will itself be within the scope of health scrutiny). Social care and health services are 
becoming ever more closely integrated and impact on each other, with the result that 
scrutiny of one may entail, to a certain extent, scrutiny of the other. In many cases, health 
scrutiny reviews will be of services which are jointly commissioned by the NHS and local 
government.  
 

1.1.3 Within the NHS, there has been increasing emphasis on the need to understand and 
respond to the views of patients and the public about health and health services: the 
NHS Constitution, the Government’s Mandate to NHS England and the NHS Operating 
Framework together provide a strong set of principles underpinning the NHS’s 
accountability to the people it serves. Responding positively to health scrutiny is one way 
for the NHS to be accountable to local communities.  
 

1.1.4 This is an important and challenging time for local authority scrutiny of the health service 
in England. The wider context includes huge financial pressures on the public services 
and the challenges of an ageing society in which more people are living for longer with 
illness and long-term medical conditions and disability. The NHS and local government 
are operating in a completely new health landscape underpinned by new legislation; with 
care commissioned and, in many cases, potentially delivered, by more and varied 
organisations. New health scrutiny legislation permits greater flexibility in the way that 
local authorities discharge their health scrutiny functions. Local government is working 
ever more closely with the NHS through health and wellbeing boards, taking a holistic 
view of the health, public health and social care system.  

                                            
4 Referred to as ‘review and scrutiny’ in the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 

Page 48



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 9 

 
1.1.5 At the same time, the whole health and care system and the public accountability 

mechanisms that surround it are grappling with the implications of the Francis inquiry into 
the shocking failure of care at Mid-Staffordshire NHS Trust. Among many other 
recommendations, the Francis report says that: 

 
• The Care Quality Commission should expand its work with overview and scrutiny 

committees. 
• Overview and scrutiny committees and local Healthwatch should have access to 

complaints information.  
• The “quality accounts” submitted by providers of NHS services should contain 

observations of commissioners, overview and scrutiny committees and local 
Healthwatch. 

 
1.1.6 Following the Francis report and recommendations, the role and importance of effective 

health scrutiny will become more prominent. The Francis inquiry increased expectations 
for local accountability of health services. It is expected that health scrutiny will develop 
working relationships and good communication with Care Quality Commission local 
representatives, NHS England’s local and regional Quality Surveillance Groups as well 
as with local Healthwatch. While there is no legislative stipulation as to the extent of 
support that should be made available for the health scrutiny function, the health and 
social care system as a whole will need to think about how the function is supported 
nationally, regionally and locally to enable the powers and duties associated with the 
function to be exercised appropriately.  

 

1.2 Purpose of guidance 
1.2.1 It is against this background that this guidance has been prepared. It is intended to 

provide an up-to-date explanation and guide to implementation of the regulations under 
the National Health Service Act 2006 governing the local authority health scrutiny 
function. The relevant regulations are the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 (“the Regulations”), which 
came into force on 1st April 20135. They supersede the 2002 Regulations under the 
Health and Social care Act 20016. The Regulations have implications for relevant NHS 
bodies and relevant health service providers, including local authorities carrying out the 
local authority health scrutiny function7, health and wellbeing boards and those involved 
in patient and public engagement activities. The duties in the Regulations are aimed at 
supporting local authorities to discharge their scrutiny functions effectively. Failure to 
comply with those duties would place the relevant NHS body or relevant health service 
provider in breach of its statutory duty and render it at risk of a legal challenge.  

 
1.2.2 This guidance is, therefore, of relevance to: 
 

• Local authorities (both those which have the health scrutiny functions and district 
councils). 

• Clinical commissioning groups (CCGs).  
• NHS England. 

                                            
5 References to numbered Regulations throughout this guide are to the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
wellbeing boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.  
6 These had effect as if made under the National Health Service Act 2006. 
7 The health scrutiny function is conferred on the152 councils with social services responsibilities.  

Page 49



 10 

• Providers of health services including those from the public, private and voluntary 
sectors. 

• Those involved in delivering the work of local Healthwatch. 
 
 
 

The guidance should be read alongside other guidance issued by the Department of Health and 
NHS England, such as the guidance on the NHS duty to involve8, and guidance for NHS 
commissioners on the good practice principles and process for planning of major service 
change. 
 

1.3 Scope of the Regulations 
1.3.1 The Regulations explained in this guidance relate to matters relating to the health 

service, i.e. including services commissioned and/or provided by the NHS as well as 
public health services commissioned by local authorities. This includes services provided 
to the NHS by external non-NHS providers, including local authorities (this is discussed in 
more detail in section 3).   
 

1.3.2 The NHS Constitution, the Mandate to NHS England, and the NHS Outcomes 
Framework provide a set of guiding principles and values for the NHS which indicate that 
the NHS is not just a sickness service, but is there to improve health, wellbeing and to 
address health inequalities: “to pay particular attention to groups or sections of society 
where improvement in health and life expectancy are not keeping pace with the rest of 
the population9”. The Mandate makes clear that one of NHS England’s priorities should 
be a focus on “preventing illness, with staff using every contact they have with people as 
an opportunity to help people stay in good health10”. Since the creation of the health 
scrutiny functions under the Health and Social Care Act 2001, local authority scrutiny 
committees have prioritised issues of health improvement, prevention and tackling health 
inequalities as areas where they can add value through their work. In their reviews, local 
authorities have looked at the wider social determinants of health and health inequalities, 
not least because of local government’s own contribution through the whole range of its 
services.  
 

1.3.3 NHS services can themselves impact on health inequalities and general wellbeing of 
communities, for example, by improving access to services for the most deprived and 
least healthy communities. Moreover  the Department of Health has always advised and 
local authorities have recognised that the best use of their health scrutiny powers will 
depend on scrutiny extending to health issues, the health system and health economy 
rather than being limited to services commissioned or managed by the NHS or local 
authorities.  
 

1.3.4 The duties of health service commissioners and providers under the Regulations apply to 
NHS commissioners and to providers of health services as part of the health service, 
including NHS bodies and local authorities, as discussed below. However, local authority 
health scrutiny committees have often drawn on their wider powers to promote 

                                            
8 http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/trans-part-hc-guid1.pdf 
9 NHS Constitution, The NHS belongs to us all, March 2013: 
http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Documents/2013/the-nhs-constitution-for-
england-2013.pdf 
10 The Mandate: A mandate from the Government to the NHS Commissioning Board: April 2013 to March 2015, p8: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213131/mandate.pdf 

Page 50

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/trans-part-hc-guid1.pdf


Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 11 

community wellbeing to carry out overview and scrutiny of a range of health issues which 
go beyond NHS services. In the new health landscape, public health is a responsibility of 
local government and health and wellbeing boards provide strategic leadership of the 
health system through partnership, with a specific duty to encourage integrated working 
across health and social care. We can expect an increasing number of services to be 
jointly commissioned between local authorities and the NHS. Any health scrutiny exercise 
may therefore include reviewing the local authority’s own contribution to the health of 
local people and the provision of health services, as well as the role of the health and 
wellbeing board, and of other agencies involved in the health care of local people. 
 

1.3.5 Responses to matters that are scrutinised may therefore be the responsibility of a 
number of stakeholders. In this light, the power to scrutinise the health service should be 
seen and used in the wider context of the local authority role of community leadership 
and of other initiatives to promote and facilitate improvement and reduce inequalities. In 
the context of the NHS reforms, this includes: 
 

• A greater emphasis on involving patients and the public from an early stage in proposals 
to improve services. 

• The work of health and wellbeing boards as strategic bodies bringing together 
representatives of the whole local health and care system. 

• The work of other relevant local partnerships, such as community safety partnerships 
and partnerships with the community and voluntary sectors. 
 

1.3.6 The new legislation in the 2012 Act lays increased emphasis on the role of patients and 
the public in shaping services. This is recognised in the introduction of local Healthwatch 
organisations and their membership of health and wellbeing boards. The Regulations 
make provision about the referral of matters by local Healthwatch to local authority health 
scrutiny. This is discussed in section 3 below.  
 

1.3.7 Section 2 below outlines those aspects of the health scrutiny system that remain the 
same for each of the key players: local authorities, the NHS and the patient and public 
involvement system. Section 3 discusses in detail what has changed following the new 
legislation for each of these key players and how the changes should be implemented. 
Section 4 discusses the important issue of consultation on substantial reconfiguration 
proposals (i.e. proposals for a substantial development of the health service or for a 
substantial variation in the provision of such service). Section 5 provides references and 
links to relevant additional documents.  

 

  

Page 51



 12 

2. What remains the same following the new 
legislation? 

 

2.1   For local authorities 
2.1.1 Under the Regulations, local authorities in England (i.e. “upper tier” and unitary 

authorities11, the Common Council of the City of London and the Council of the Isles of 
Scilly) have the power to: 

• Review and scrutinise matters relating to the planning, provision and operation of the 
health service in the area. This may well include scrutinising the finances of local health 
services. 

• Require information to be provided by certain NHS bodies about the planning, provision 
and operation of health services that is reasonably needed to carry out health scrutiny. 

• Require employees including non-executive directors of certain NHS bodies to attend 
before them to answer questions. 

• Make reports and recommendations to certain NHS bodies and expect a response within 
28 days. 

• Set up joint health scrutiny committees with other local authorities and delegate health 
scrutiny functions to an overview and scrutiny committee of another local authority. 

• Refer NHS substantial reconfiguration proposals to the Secretary of State if a local 
authority considers: 

• The consultation has been inadequate in relation to the content or the amount of time 
allowed.  

• The NHS body has given inadequate reasons where it has not consulted for reasons 
of urgency relating to the safety or welfare of patients or staff.  

• A proposal would not be in the interests of the health service in its area. 

(In the case of referral, the Regulations lay down additional conditions and requirements as to 
the information that must be provided to the Secretary of State – these are listed in section 4.7 
below.) 

2.1.2 As previously, executive members may not be members of local authority overview and 
scrutiny committees, their sub-committees, joint health overview and scrutiny committees 
and sub-committees. Overview and scrutiny committees may include co-opted members 
i.e. those who are not members of the relevant local authority (for example, co-opted 
members of overview and scrutiny committees of district councils or representatives of 
voluntary sector organisations). Co-opted members may not be given voting rights 
except where permitted by the relevant local authority in accordance with a scheme 
made by the local authority12. 
 

                                            
11 i.e. county councils, district councils other than lower-tier district councils and London Borough councils. 
However, in general, health scrutiny functions may be delegated to lower-tier district councils (except for referrals – 
see regulations 28 and 29) or their overview and scrutiny committees, or carried out by a joint committee of those 
councils and another local authority.   
12 Section 9FA of and Schedule A1 to the Local Government Act 2000, Regulations 5 and 11 of the Local 
Authorities (committee system) (England) Regulations 2012 and Regulation 30 of the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and wellbeing boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 

Page 52



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 13 

2.1.3 The position of councils which have returned to a committee system of governance is 
discussed in section 3 below. 
 

2.1.4 The position in relation to these matters remains following the new legislation, but the 
legislation is extended to cover additional and new organisations and diverse local 
authority arrangements, as described in section 3 below. 

 

2.2 For the NHS 
2.2.1 Regulations under the Health and Social Care Act 2001 created duties on the NHS which 

mirror the powers conferred on local authorities. These duties are carried forward into the 
new legislation, and require the NHS to: 

• Provide information about the planning, provision and operation of health services as 
reasonably required by local authorities to enable them to carry out health scrutiny 
(section 3 lists all those now covered by this requirement). 

• Attend before local authorities to answer questions necessary for local authorities to 
carry out health scrutiny. 

• Consult on any proposed substantial developments or variations in the provision of the 
health service13. 

• Respond to health scrutiny reports and recommendations: NHS service commissioners 
and providers have a duty to respond in writing to a report or recommendation where 
health scrutiny requests this, within 28 days of the request. This applies to requests 
from individual health scrutiny committees or sub-committees, from local authorities and 
from joint health scrutiny committees or sub-committees. 

2.2.2 These duties remain in place, and (following the abolition of PCTs and Strategic Health 
Authorities) now apply to CCGs; NHS England; local authorities as providers of NHS or 
public health services; and providers of NHS and public health services commissioned by 
CCGs, NHS England and local authorities. Additional responsibilities are described in 
section 3 below.  

2.3 For patient and public involvement 
2.3.1 Legislation has created a number of far-reaching requirements on the NHS to consult 

service users and prospective users in planning services, in the development and 
consideration of proposals for changes in the way services are provided and in decisions 
affecting the operation of those services. 
 

2.3.2 For NHS trusts, the duty as to involvement and consultation is set out in section 242 of 
the 2006 Act (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012). The public 
involvement duties of NHS England and of CCGs are set out in sections 13Q and 14Z2 
respectively of the 2006 Act. These are separate duties from those set out in the 
Regulations discussed here. Together they add up to a web of local accountability for 
health services. 
 

2.1.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 introduced local Healthwatch to represent the voice 
of patients, service users and the public; and health and wellbeing boards to promote 
partnerships across the health and social care sector. The Regulations set up formal 
relationships between local Healthwatch and local authority health scrutiny, to ensure 

                                            
13 Subject to exceptions as set out in the 2013 Regulations. 

Page 53



 14 

that the new system reflects the outcomes of involvement and engagement with patients 
and the public, as described in section 3 below.  

 

  

Page 54



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 15 

3. Changes arising from the new legislation 
3.1 Powers and duties – changes for local authorities 
 
Councils as commissioners and providers of health services 
3.1.1 As commissioners or providers of public health services and as providers of health 

services to the NHS, services commissioned or provided by local authorities are 
themselves within the scope of the health scrutiny legislation. 

3.1.2 To that end local authorities may be bodies which are scrutinised, as well as bodies 
which carry out health scrutiny.  
 

3.1.3 The duties which apply to scrutinised bodies such as the duty to provide information, to 
attend before health scrutiny and to consult on substantial reconfiguration proposals will 
apply to local authorities insofar as they may be “relevant health service providers”14.  
 

3.1.4 Being both scrutineer and scrutinee is not a new situation for councils. It will still be 
important, particularly in making arrangements for scrutiny of the council’s own health 
role, to bear in mind possible conflicts of interest and to take steps to deal with them.  

 
Councils as scrutineers of health services 
3.1.5 The Local Government Act 2000 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011) makes 

provision for authorities: 
 

• To retain executive governance arrangements (i.e. comprising a Leader and cabinet or a 
Mayor and cabinet).  

• To adopt a committee system of governance.  
• To adopt any other form of governance prescribed by the Secretary of State.  

 
3.1.6 Health scrutiny arrangements will differ in some respects depending on the system that 

the council chooses to operate. Most importantly:  
 

• Councils operating executive governance arrangements are required to have at least one 
overview and scrutiny committee. In this case, the scrutiny is independent of the 
executive. 

• If a council adopts a committee system, they can operate overview and scrutiny 
committees if they choose, but are not required to do so.  

 
3.1.7 At present, most local authorities are retaining executive governance arrangements. For 

those councils moving to a committee system, a further discussion of the differences and 
implications for health scrutiny is included on page 16 below.   

 
3.1.8 Generally health scrutiny functions are in the form of powers. However, there are certain 

requirements under the Regulations as follows. Local authorities on whom health scrutiny 
functions have been conferred should: 

 
• Have a mechanism in place to deal with referrals made by Local Healthwatch 

organisations or contractors15. 
                                            
14 See section 244 of the NHS Act and Regulation 20 of the 2013 Regulations for the meaning of “relevant health 
service provider”. 
15 See Regulation 21 of the 2013 Regulations. 

Page 55



 16 

• Have a mechanism in place to respond to consultations by relevant NHS bodies and 
relevant health service providers on substantial reconfiguration proposals. Such 
responses could be made through the full council, an overview and scrutiny committee 
with delegated powers from the full council, a joint overview and scrutiny committee or a 
committee appointed under s101 of the Local Government Act.  

• Councils also need to consider in advance how the members of a joint health scrutiny 
committee would be appointed from their council where the council was required to 
participate in a joint health scrutiny committee with other councils to respond to 
substantial reconfiguration proposals covering more than one council area.  

 
Conferral of health scrutiny function on full council 
3.1.9 The National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 

2012, confers health scrutiny functions on the local authority, as distinct from any 
overview and scrutiny committee or panel within the local authority section 244 (2ZD). 
This new provision is designed to give local authorities greater flexibility and freedom 
over the way they discharge health scrutiny functions. The full council of each local 
authority will determine which arrangement is adopted. For example: 

 
• It may choose to continue to operate its existing health overview and scrutiny committee, 

delegating its health scrutiny functions to the committee. 
• It may choose other arrangements such as appointing a committee involving members of 

the public and delegating its health scrutiny functions (except the function of making 
referrals) to that committee. 

• It may operate its health scrutiny functions through a joint scrutiny committee with one or 
more other councils. 

 
3.1.10 As indicated above local authorities may delegate their health scrutiny functions under 

section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 but are not permitted to delegate the 
functions to an officer (Regulation 29).  

 
3.1.11 Executive members of councils operating executive governance arrangements (that is a 

Leader and cabinet or a Mayor and cabinet) may not be members of local authority 
overview and scrutiny committees or of their sub-committees or of joint health overview 
and scrutiny committees and sub-committees.    

 
3.1.12 Overview and scrutiny committees are a proven model offering a number of benefits that 

other structures may not, including having a clear identity within the local authority, 
political balance and, in many cases, an established reputation within the local 
community for independence and accessibility.   

 
Delegation of health scrutiny function by full council 
3.1.13 The legislation enables health scrutiny functions to be delegated to: 
 

• An overview and scrutiny committee of a local authority or of another local authority 
(Regulation 28). 

• A sub-committee of an overview or scrutiny committee (Local Government Act 2000). 
• A joint overview and scrutiny committee (JOSC) appointed by two or more local 

authorities or a sub-committee of such a joint committee. 
• A committee or sub-committee of the authority appointed under section 102 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 (section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972) (except for 
referrals). 

• Another local authority (section 101 of Local Government Act 1972) (except for referrals).  

Page 56



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 17 

 
3.1.14 Local authorities may not delegate the health scrutiny functions to an officer – this option 

under the Local Government Act 1972 is disapplied (disallowed) by Regulation 29.  
 
3.1.15 If a council decides to delegate to a health scrutiny committee, it need not delegate all of 

its health scrutiny functions to that committee (i.e. it could retain some functions itself). 
For example, it might choose to retain the power to refer issues to the Secretary of State 
for Health as discussed below. Equally, it might choose to delegate that power to the 
scrutiny committee. 

 
Joint health scrutiny arrangements 
3.1.16 As before, local authorities may appoint a discretionary joint health scrutiny committee 

(Regulation 30) to carry out all or specified health scrutiny functions, for example health 
scrutiny in relation to health issues that cross local authority boundaries. Establishing a 
joint committee of this kind does not prevent the appointing local authorities from 
separately scrutinising health issues. However, there are likely to be occasions on which 
a discretionary joint committee is the best way of considering how the needs of a local 
population, which happens to cross council boundaries, are being met.  

 
3.1.17 Regulation 30 also requires local authorities to appoint joint committees where a relevant 

NHS body or health service provider consults more than one local authority’s health 
scrutiny function about substantial reconfiguration proposals (referred to below as a 
mandatory joint health scrutiny committee). In such circumstances, Regulation 30 sets 
out the following requirements (see section 4 on consultation below for more detail).  

 
• Only the joint committee may respond to the consultation (i.e. rather than each individual 

local authority responding separately). 
• Only the joint committee may exercise the power to require the provision of information 

by the relevant NHS body or health service provider about the proposal. 
• Only the joint committee may exercise the power to require members or employees of 

the relevant NHS body or health service provider to attend before it to answer questions 
in connection with the consultation. 

 
3.1.18 These restrictions do not apply to referrals to the Secretary of State. Local authorities 

may choose to delegate their power of referral to the mandatory joint committee but they 
need not do so. If a local authority had already appointed a discretionary committee, they 
could even delegate the power to that committee if they choose to.  

 
3.1.19 If the local authority has delegated this power, then they may not subsequently exercise 

the power of referral. If they do not delegate the power, they may make such referrals. 
 
3.1.20 A situation might arise where one of the participating local authorities had delegated their 

power of referral to the joint committee but not the other(s). In such a case a referral 
could be made by: the JOSC or any of the authorities which had not delegated their 
power of referral to the JOSC, but not the authorities which had delegated their power of 
referral to the JOSC. 

 
Reporting and making recommendations 
3.1.21 Regulation 22 enables local authorities and committees (including joint committees, sub-

committees and other local authorities to which health scrutiny functions have been 
delegated) to make reports and recommendations to relevant NHS bodies and health 

Page 57



 18 

service providers. The following information must be included in a report or 
recommendation: 

 
• An explanation of the matter reviewed or scrutinised. 
• A summary of the evidence considered. 
• A list of the participants involved in the review or scrutiny. 
• An explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed or scrutinised.  

 
3.1.22 A council can choose to delegate to an overview and scrutiny committee (including joint 

committee, sub-committee or another local authority) the function of making scrutiny 
reports and recommendations to relevant NHS bodies and health service commissioners. 
Alternatively, a council can choose to delegate only the function of preparing such 
reports and recommendations, and retain for itself the function of actually making that 
report or recommendation. The latter approach would give the full council the opportunity 
to endorse the report or recommendation before it was sent to the NHS. 

 
3.1.23 Where a local authority requests a response from the relevant NHS body or health 

service provider to which it has made a report or recommendation, there is a statutory 
requirement (Regulation 22) for the body or provider to provide a response in writing 
within 28 days of the request.  

 
 
Conflicts of interest 
3.1.24 Councils should take steps to avoid any conflict of interest arising from councillors’ 

involvement in the bodies or decisions that they are scrutinising. A conflict might arise 
where, for example, a councillor who was a full voting member of a health and wellbeing 
board was also a member of the same council’s health scrutiny committee or of a joint 
health scrutiny committee that might be scrutinising matters pertaining to the work of the 
health and wellbeing board.  

 
3.1.25 Conflicts of interest may also arise if councillors carrying out health scrutiny are, for 

example: 
 

• An employee of an NHS body. 
• A member or non-executive director of an NHS body. 
• An executive member of another local authority. 
• An employee or board member of an organisation commissioned by an NHS body or 

local authority to provide services.  
 
3.1.26 These councillors are not excluded from membership of overview and scrutiny 

committees, and, clearly, where the full council has retained the health scrutiny function, 
they will be involved in health scrutiny. However they will need to follow the rules and 
requirements governing the existence of interests in matters considered at meetings. 
Where such a risk is identified, they should consult their monitoring officer for advice on 
their involvement. 

 
Councils operating a committee system 
3.1.27 Councils which have returned to a committee system under the Local Government Act 

2000 may or may not have retained a council-wide overview and scrutiny function. If they 
have retained such function, they will be able to delegate their health scrutiny functions to 
overview and scrutiny committees in the same way as those councils operating executive 
arrangements that have executive and scrutiny functions.  

Page 58



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 19 

 
3.1.28 Councils with a committee system that have not retained a council-wide scrutiny function 

will need to decide what to do about their health scrutiny functions. The health scrutiny 
function is conferred on the full council but delegation to a committee, joint committee, 
sub-committee or another local authority is permitted (except in the case of referrals in 
relation to which delegation under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 is not 
permitted). Therefore such a council might retain health scrutiny functions or delegate 
these to a committee, joint committee or sub-committee (or indeed to another council or 
its overview and scrutiny committee). 

 
3.1.29 In deciding how to operate a health scrutiny function, councils operating a committee 

system will need to consider issues of potential conflicts of interest. Like upper tier and 
unitary councils, they will need to have a health and wellbeing board whose work will be 
within the scope of health scrutiny insofar as it relates to the planning, provision and 
operation of the health service. They may also have a health and social care committee 
or a stand-alone health committee which makes decisions about the commissioning of 
public health services. A conflict might arise where, for example, under a committee 
system, the members of any committee of the council which is taking commissioning 
decisions on public health services, are also members of its health scrutiny committee or 
where a health and social care committee of a council operating a committee system is 
also acting as a health overview and scrutiny committee. The solution might be to have a 
separate health overview and scrutiny committee, with different members.  

 
3.1.30 Regardless of the governance arrangements being operated by a council, the health 

scrutiny function may not be delegated to an officer (Regulation 29).  
 
 
The role of district councils 
3.1.31 As previously, under the new Regulations (Regulation 31), district councillors in two tier 

areas, who are members of district overview and scrutiny committees, may be co-opted 
by the upper tier county council onto health overview and scrutiny committees of those 
councils or other local authorities. Such co-option may be on a long term (i.e. for the life 
of the overview and scrutiny committee or until the county council decides) or ad hoc 
basis (i.e. for review and scrutiny of a particular matter) (Regulation 31).  

 
3.1.32 District councillors in two tier areas may also (Regulation 30 read with the Local 

Government Act 2000) be co-opted onto joint health scrutiny committees between the 
upper tier county councils and other local authorities. 

 
3.1.33 District councillors in two tier areas may also be on joint health scrutiny committees of the 

relevant district council and the upper tier county council (Regulation 30). 
 
3.1.34 Many county councils have taken the opportunity to co-opt district councillors onto their 

scrutiny committees, as district councillors bring very local knowledge of their 
communities’ needs and may also provide a useful link to enhance the health impact of 
district council services. Health and wellbeing strategies in two-tier areas are likely to 
include reference to the role of district councils in improving health and reducing 
inequalities, for example through their housing and leisure functions. As health and 
wellbeing boards’ functions including their strategies (insofar as related to the planning, 
provision and operation of the health service) will be within the scope of health scrutiny, 
this provides an additional reason for considering the co-option of district councillors. 

 

Page 59



 20 

3.2 Powers and duties – changes for the NHS 
 
Extension of scope of health scrutiny 
3.2.1 A significant change for the NHS in the new health landscape is the extension of certain 

duties in the Regulations to cover providers of health services (commissioned by NHS 
England, CCGs or local authorities) who are not themselves NHS bodies. Together with 
relevant NHS bodies these are known as ‘responsible persons’ in the legislation and 
these include: 

 
• CCGs 
• NHS England 
• Local authorities (insofar as they may be providing health services to CCGs, NHS 

England or other local authorities). 
• NHS trusts and NHS foundation trusts. 
• GP practices and other providers of primary care services (previously not subject to 

specific duties under health scrutiny regulations as independent contractors, they are 
now subject to duties under the new Regulations as they are providers of NHS services). 

• Other providers of primary care services to the NHS, such as pharmacists, opticians and 
dentists. 

• Private and voluntary sector bodies commissioned to provide NHS or public health 
services by NHS England, CCGs or local authorities. 

 
3.2.2 Under the Regulations, ‘responsible persons’ are required to comply with a number of 

duties to assist the health scrutiny function. These duties are underpinned by the duty of 
co-operation which applies between the NHS and local authorities under section 82 of 
the NHS Act 2006 which requires them, in exercising their respective functions, to co-
operate with one another in order to secure and advance the health and welfare of the 
people of England and Wales.   

 
Required provision of information to health scrutiny  
3.2.3 Regulation 26 imposes duties on ‘responsible persons’ to provide a local authority with 

such information about the planning, provision and operation of health services in the 
area of the authority as it may reasonably require to discharge its health scrutiny 
functions. All relevant NHS bodies and health service providers (including GP practices 
and other primary care providers and any private, independent or third sector providers 
delivering services under arrangements made by clinical commissioning groups, NHS 
England or the local authority) have a duty to provide such information. 

 
3.2.4 In addition, the duty of candour under the NHS Standard Contract is also relevant in 

relation to the provision of information to patients generally. 
   
3.2.5 The type of information requested and provided will depend on the subject under 

scrutiny. It may include: 
 

• Financial information about the operation of a trust or CCG, for example budget 
allocations for the care of certain groups of patients or certain conditions, or capital 
allocations for infrastructure projects, such as community facilities. 

• Management information such as commissioning plans for a particular type of service. 
• Operational information such as information about performance against targets or quality 

standards, waiting times. 

Page 60



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 21 

• Patient information such as patient flows, patient satisfaction surveys, numbers and 
types of complaints and action taken to address them. 

• Any other information relating to the topic of a health scrutiny review which can 
reasonably be requested. 

 
3.2.6 Confidential information that relates to or identifies a particular living individual or 

individuals cannot be provided unless the individual or individuals concerned agree to its 
disclosure. However, the information can be disclosed in a form from which identification 
is not possible. In such a situation, health scrutiny bodies (i.e. councils or council health 
overview and scrutiny committees or sub-committees carrying out delegated health 
scrutiny functions) can require that the information be put in a form from which the 
individual cannot be identified in order that it may be disclosed. 

 
3.2.7 In some cases, information, such as financial information, may be commercially sensitive. 

In such cases, it may be possible for health scrutiny to receive this information in 
confidence to inform, but not be directly referred to in, its reports and recommendations.  

 
Required attendance before health scrutiny 
3.2.8 Members and employees of a relevant NHS body or relevant health service provider 

have a duty to attend before a local authority when required by it (provided reasonable 
notice has been given) to answer questions the local authority believes are necessary to 
carry out its health scrutiny functions. This duty now applies to all those listed at the 
beginning of this section. So, for example, if a local authority were to require the 
attendance of a member of a CCG, or of a private company commissioned to provide 
particular NHS services, it could do so under the Regulations. Bodies, the employees or 
members of which are required to attend by local authority health scrutiny, are expected 
to take the appropriate steps to ensure the relevant member or employee complies with 
this requirement16.  

 
3.2.9 As regards the attendance of particular individuals, identification of the appropriate 

member or employee to attend will depend on the type of scrutiny review being 
undertaken and its aims. By way of example, where the local authority has required 
attendance of a particular individual, say the accountable officer of a clinical 
commissioning group, and it is not practicable for that individual to attend or if that 
individual is not the most suitable person to attend, the CCG would be expected to 
suggest another, relevant individual.  Thus, in such situations, both the local authority 
and the commissioner or provider (as the case may be) would be expected to co-operate 
with each other to agree on a suitable person for attendance and, in doing so, to act 
reasonably at all times. 

 
Responding to scrutiny reports and recommendations 
3.2.10 Depending on the topic being reviewed, reports and recommendations by local authority 

health scrutiny bodies may be made to any of the relevant NHS bodies or health service 
providers covered by the legislation (and, in the case of health scrutiny by a body to 
which the function has been delegated, to the delegating authority e.g. the relevant local 
authority or in the case of a sub-committee appointed by a committee, that committee or 
its local authority).  

 
                                            
16 The meaning of ‘member’ is given in section 244 of the NHS Act 2006 and includes people who are members of 
committees or sub-committees of CCGs who are not members of the CCG, directors of NHS trusts and directors 
and governors of NHS foundation trusts. They also include directors of bodies which provide health services 
commissioned by NHS England, CCGs and local authorities.  

Page 61



 22 

3.2.11 Relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to which a health scrutiny report or 
and recommendation has been made must by law, if a response is requested, respond 
within 28 days of the request. Reports and recommendations are expected to be based 
on evidence. Respondents should take the evidence presented seriously, giving a 
considered and meaningful response about how they intend to take forward reports or 
recommendations. Meaningful engagement is likely to lead to improvements in quality 
and access to services.  

 
3.2.12 Many local authorities, as part of their work plan, return to completed scrutiny reviews 

after a certain period – usually 6 months or a year – to find out whether and how their 
recommendations have been implemented and how they have influenced improvements. 
Relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to whom scrutiny reports have been 
presented should be prepared for this kind of follow-up and be able to report on progress 
and improvements resulting from scrutiny reviews. 

 

3.3 Powers and duties – referral by local Healthwatch 
3.3.1 Local Healthwatch organisations and contractors have specific roles which complement 

those of health scrutiny bodies. For example, they can “enter and view” certain premises 
at which health and social care services are provided. This can enable local Healthwatch 
to act as the “eyes and ears” of patients and the public; to be a means for health scrutiny 
to supplement and triangulate information provided by service providers; and to gain an 
additional impression of quality of services, safety and issues of concern around specific 
services and provider institutions. Health scrutiny bodies and local Healthwatch are likely 
each to benefit from regular contact and exchange of information about their work 
programmes. It may also be helpful in planning work programmes, to try to ensure that 
certain aspects are aligned. For example, if a health scrutiny body is planning a review of 
a certain service, it might be useful if local Healthwatch plans to visit the service in a 
timely way to inform the review.  

 
3.3.2 Local Healthwatch organisations and their contractors carry out certain statutory activities 

including that of making reports and recommendations concerning service improvements 
to scrutiny bodies. This would cover the provision of information and the referral of 
matters relating to the planning, provision and operation of health services in their area 
(which could potentially include concerns about local health services or commissioners 
and providers) to local authority health scrutiny bodies.  

 
3.3.3 Regulation 21 sets out duties that apply where a matter is referred to a local authority by 

a local Healthwatch organisations or contractors. The local authority must: 
 

• Acknowledge receipt of referrals within 20 working days. 
• Keep local Healthwatch organisations (or contractors as the case may be) informed of 

any action it takes in relation to the matter referred. 
 

  

Page 62



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 23 

4. Consultation 
 

4.1 The context of consultation  
4.1.1 The duty on relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to consult health scrutiny 

bodies on substantial reconfiguration proposals should be seen in the context of NHS 
duties to involve and consult the public. Focusing solely on consultation with health 
scrutiny bodies will not be sufficient to meet the NHS’s public involvement and 
consultation duties as these are separate. The NHS should therefore ensure that there is 
meaningful and on-going engagement with service users in developing the case for 
change and in planning and developing proposals. There should be engagement with the 
local community from an early stage on the options that are developed. 

 
4.1.2 The backdrop to consultation on substantial reconfiguration proposals is itself changing. 

The ideal situation is that proposals for change emerge from involving service users and 
the wider public in dialogue about needs and priorities and how services can be 
improved. Much of this dialogue may take place through representation of service users 
and the public on health and wellbeing boards and through the boards’ own public 
engagement strategies. With increasing integration of health and care services, many 
proposals for change may be joint NHS-local authority proposals which may have been 
discussed at an early stage through the health and wellbeing board. Health scrutiny 
bodies should be party to such discussions – local circumstances will determine the best 
way for this to happen. If informally involved and consulted at an early enough stage, 
health scrutiny bodies in collaboration with local Healthwatch, may be able to advise on 
how patients and the public can be effectively engaged and listened to. If this has 
happened, health scrutiny bodies are less likely to raise objections when consulted.  

 
4.1.3 NHS England has published good practice guidance for NHS commissioners on the 

planning and development of proposals for major service changes and 
reconfigurations.  The guidance is designed to support commissioners, working with local 
authorities and providers, to carry out effective service reconfiguration in a way that puts 
quality of care first, is clinically evidence-based and which involves patients and the 
public throughout.  It is intended to be used as a reference guide to help develop and 
implement plans in a clear and consistent way.  The guidance is available at:  
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/plan-del-serv-chge1.pdf 

 

4.2 When to consult 
4.2.1 Regulation 23 requires relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to consult a 

local authority about any proposal which they have “under consideration” for a substantial 
development of or variation in the provision of health services in the local authority’s 
area. The term “under consideration” is not defined and will depend on the facts, but a 
development or variation is unlikely to be held to be “under consideration” until a 
proposal has been developed. The consultation duty applies to any “responsible person” 
under the legislation, i.e. relevant NHS bodies and health service commissioners which 
now come under the scope of health scrutiny as described above.  

 
4.2.2 As previously, “substantial development” and “substantial variation” are not defined in the 

legislation. Many local authority scrutiny bodies and their NHS counterparts have 
developed joint protocols or memoranda of understanding about how the parties will 

Page 63

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/plan-del-serv-chge1.pdf


 24 

reach a view as to whether or not a proposal constitutes a “substantial development” or 
“substantial variation”. Although there is no requirement to develop such protocols it may 
be helpful for both parties to do so. The local authority may find a systematic checklist, of 
the kind often contained in such protocols, useful in reaching a view about whether a 
proposed development or variation is substantial and, for example, NHS commissioners 
may find it helpful in explaining to providers what is likely to be regarded as substantial.  

 

4.3 Who consults 
4.3.1 In the case of substantial developments or variation to services which are the 

commissioning responsibility of CCGs or NHS England, consultation is to be done by 
NHS commissioners rather than providers i.e. by the relevant CCG(s) or NHS England. 
When these providers have a development or variation “under consideration” they will 
need to inform commissioners at a very early stage so that commissioners can comply 
with the requirement to consult as soon as proposals are under consideration. 

 

4.4 Timescales for consultation 
4.4.1 The Regulations now require timescales to be provided to health scrutiny bodies and to 

be published by the proposer of substantial developments or variations, (Regulation 23). 
When consulting health scrutiny bodies on substantial developments or variations, a 
relevant NHS body or health service provider is required by the Regulations to notify the 
health scrutiny body of the date by which it requires the health scrutiny body to provide 
comments in response to the consultation and the date by which it intends to make a 
decision as to whether to proceed with the proposal17. These dates must also be 
published. This is so that local patients and communities are aware of the timescales that 
are being followed. Any changes to these dates must be notified to the relevant health 
scrutiny body and published. Constructive dialogue between relevant NHS bodies and 
health service providers on the one hand, and health scrutiny bodies on the other, when 
communicating on timescales for comments or decisions in relation to substantial 
developments or variations should help ensure that timescales are realistic and 
achievable. 

 
4.4.2 It is sensible for health scrutiny to be able to receive details about the outcome of public 

consultation before it makes its response so that the response can be informed by 
patient and public opinion.  

 

4.5 When consultation is not required 
4.5.1 The Regulations set out certain proposals on which consultation with health scrutiny is 

not required. These are: 
 

• Where the relevant NHS body or health service commissioner believes that a decision 
has to be taken without allowing time for consultation because of a risk to safety or 
welfare of patients or staff (this might for example cover the situation where a ward 
needs to close immediately because of a viral outbreak) – in such cases the NHS body 
or health service provider must notify the local authority that consultation will not take 
place and the reason for this. 

                                            
17 Government guidance on consultation principles was published in July 2012 (see references). 

Page 64



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 25 

• Where there is a proposal to establish or dissolve or vary the constitution of a CCG or 
establish or dissolve an NHS trust, unless the proposal involves a substantial 
development or variation.   

• Where proposals are part of a trusts special administrator’s report or draft report (i.e. 
when a trust has financial difficulties and is being run by an administration put in place by 
the Secretary of State) – these are required to be the subject of a separate 30-day 
community-wide consultation. 

 

4.6 Responses to consultation  
4.6.1 Where a health scrutiny body has been consulted by a relevant NHS body or health 

service provider on substantial developments or variations, the health scrutiny body has 
the power to make comments on the proposals by the date (or changed date) notified by 
the body or provider undertaking the consultation. Having considered the proposals and 
local evidence, health scrutiny bodies should normally respond in writing to the body 
undertaking the consultation and when commenting would need to keep within the 
timescale specified by them.  

 
4.6.2 Where a health scrutiny’s body’s comments include a recommendation and the 

consulting organisation disagrees with that recommendation, that organisation must 
notify the health scrutiny body of the disagreement. Both the consulting organisation and 
the health scrutiny body must take such steps as are reasonably practicable to try to 
reach agreement. Where NHS England or a clinical commissioning group is acting on 
behalf of a provider, in accordance with the Regulations, as mentioned above, the health 
scrutiny body and NHS England or the CCG (as the case may be) must involve the 
provider in the steps they are taking to try to reach agreement.    

 
4.6.3 Where a health scrutiny body has not commented on the proposal or has commented but 

without making a recommendation, it must notify the consulting organisation as to its 
decision as to whether to refer the matter to the Secretary of State and if so, the date by 
which it proposes to make the referral or the date by which it will make a decision on 
whether to refer the matter to the Secretary of State. 

 

4.7 Referrals to the Secretary of State 
4.7.1 Local authorities may refer proposals for substantial developments or variations to the 

Secretary of State in certain circumstances outlined below. The circumstances remain 
largely the same as in previous legislation. 

 
4.7.2 The new Regulations set out certain information and evidence that are to be provided to 

the Secretary of State and the steps that must be taken before a referral can be made.  
On receiving a referral from a local authority, overview and scrutiny committee, joint 
committee or sub-committee, the Secretary of State may ask for advice from the 
Independent Reconfiguration Panel (IRP), an advisory non-departmental public body. 
The new Regulations do not affect the position of the IRP. The IRP will undertake an 
initial assessment of any referral to the Secretary of State for Health where its advice is 
requested. It may then be asked to carry out a full review. Not all referrals to the 
Secretary of State for Health will automatically be reviewed in full by the IRP – this is at 
the Secretary of State’s discretion. The IRP has published a summary of its views on 
what can be learned from the referrals it has received and the reviews it has undertaken 
from the perspective both of the NHS and of health scrutiny. The IRP also offers pre-

Page 65



 26 

consultation advice and support to NHS and other interested bodies on the development 
of local proposals for reconfiguration or significant service change - including advice and 
support on methods for public engagement and formal public consultation. 
 
Relevant NHS bodies, health service providers and local authority scrutiny may also find 
it helpful to read its report on the Safe and Sustainable review of children’s heart surgery, 
the first national reconfiguration proposal referred to the IRP, whose recommendations 
were accepted by the Secretary of State (see references). 

 
4.7.3 The powers under the previous Regulations to refer matters relating to NHS foundation 

trusts to Monitor have been removed, as this was not considered appropriate to the role 
of Monitor and the new licensing regime. 

 
Circumstances for referral 
4.7.4 The circumstances for referral of a proposed substantial development or variation remain 

the same as in previous legislation. That is, where a health scrutiny body has been 
consulted by a relevant NHS body or health service provider on a proposed substantial 
development or variation, it may report to the Secretary of State in writing if: 

 
• It is not satisfied with the adequacy of content of the consultation. 
• It is not satisfied that sufficient time has been allowed for consultation.18 
• It considers that the proposal would not be in the interests of the health service in its 

area. 
• It has not been consulted, and it is not satisfied that the reasons given for not carrying 

out consultation are adequate. 
 
4.7.5 However, there are certain limits on the circumstances in which a health scrutiny bodies 
may refer a proposal to the Secretary of State.   
 
In particular, where a health scrutiny body has made a recommendation and the relevant NHS 
body or health service provider has disagreed with the recommendation, the health scrutiny 
body may not refer a proposal unless: 

• it is satisfied that reasonably practicable steps have been taken to try to reach agreement 
(with steps taken to involve the provider where NHS England or a CCG is acting on the 
provider’s behalf) but agreement has not been reached within a reasonable time; or 

• it is satisfied that the relevant NHS body or health service provider has failed to take 
reasonably practicable steps to try to reach agreement within a reasonable period. 

 
In a case where a health scrutiny body has not commented on the proposal or has commented 
without making a recommendation, the health scrutiny body may not refer a proposal unless: 

• It has informed the relevant NHS body or health service provider of- 
• its decision as to whether to exercise its power of referral and, if applicable, the 

date by which it proposed to exercise that power, or 
• the date by which  it proposes to make a decision as to whether to exercise its 

power of referral.   
 

• In a situation where it informed the relevant NHS body or health service provider of the 
date by which it proposed to decide whether to exercise the power of referral, it has 
made that decision by that date and informed the body or provider of the decision. 

                                            
18 The referral power in the context of inadequate consultation only relates to the consultation with the local 
authority, and not consultation with other stakeholders.  

Page 66



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 27 

 
Who makes the referral? 
4.7.6 Where a local authority has a health overview and scrutiny committee (e.g. under section 

9F of the Local Government Act 2000, as amended by the Localism Act 2011) as the 
means of discharging its health scrutiny functions, the health overview and scrutiny 
committee may exercise the power of referral on behalf of the local authority where this 
has been delegated to it. The power of referral may also be delegated to an overview 
and scrutiny committee of another local authority in certain circumstances (Regulation 
28). Where a local authority has retained the health scrutiny function for the full council to 
exercise, or where it has delegated some health scrutiny functions, but not the power of 
referral to a committee, the full council would make the referral.  

 
4.7.7 Where a local authority has established an alternative mechanism to discharge its health 

scrutiny functions, such as delegation to a committee, sub-committee or another local 
authority under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, the referral power cannot 
be delegated to that committee, sub-committee or other local authority but must instead 
be exercised by the local authority as a function of the full council (or delegated to an 
overview and scrutiny as above, although local authorities would need to consider the 
appropriateness of separate delegation to an overview and scrutiny committee in such 
circumstances)19.   

 
4.7.8 Where a local authority is participating in a joint overview and scrutiny committee (JOSC) 

(see pages 14-15), who makes the referral will depend on whether the power to refer has 
been delegated to the joint committee or retained by the local authority.   

 
4.7.9 The following applies to both discretionary joint committees (i.e. where councils have 

chosen to appoint the joint committee to carry out specified functions) and mandatory 
joint committees (i.e. where councils have been required under Regulation 30 to appoint 
a joint committee because a local NHS body or health service provider is consulting more 
than one local authority’s health scrutiny function about substantial reconfiguration 
proposals):  

 
• Where the power to refer has been delegated to the joint committee, only the joint 

committee may make a referral. 
• Where the power to refer has not been delegated to the joint committee, the individual 

authorities that have appointed the joint committee (or health overview and scrutiny 
committees or sub-committees to whom the power has been delegated) may make a 
referral. 

 
4.7.10 In the case of either mandatory or discretionary JOSCs, where individual authorities have 

retained the power to refer, they should ensure that they are in a position to satisfy the 
relevant requirements under Regulation 23 to include certain explanations and evidence 
with the referral. They should also ensure that they can demonstrate compliance with the 
conditions set out in Regulation 23(10), bearing in mind that in the case of a mandatory 
JOSC, only that JOSC may make comments to the consulting body and that, where the 
JOSC makes a recommendation which is disagreed with by the consulting body, certain 
requirements have to be satisfied before a referral can be made.  

 
Information and evidence to be sent to Secretary of State 

                                            
19 See Regulation 29. 

Page 67



 28 

4.7.11 When making a referral to the Secretary of State, certain information and evidence must 
be included. Health scrutiny will be expected to provide very clear evidence-based 
reasons for any referral to the Secretary of State. These requirements are new since the 
previous Regulations, so they are given here in full. Referrals must now include: 

 
• An explanation of the proposal to which the report relates. 
• An explanation of the reasons for making the referral. 
• Evidence in support of these reasons.  
• Where the proposal is referred because of inadequate consultation, the reasons why the 

health scrutiny body is not satisfied of its adequacy. 
• Where the proposal is referred because there was no consultation for reasons relating to 

safety or welfare of patients or staff, reasons why the health scrutiny body is not satisfied 
that the reasons given for lack of consultation are adequate. 

• Where the health scrutiny body believes that proposals are not in the interests of the 
health service in its area, a summary of the evidence considered, including any evidence 
of the effect or potential effect of the proposal on the sustainability or otherwise of the 
health service in the area. 

• An explanation of any steps that the health scrutiny body has taken to try to reach 
agreement with the relevant NHS body or health service provider. 

• Evidence that the health scrutiny body has complied with the requirements which apply 
where a recommendation has been made. 

• Evidence that the health scrutiny body has complied with the requirements which apply 
where a recommendation has not been made, or where no comments have been 
provided on the proposal. 

4.7.12 The terms of reference of the IRP, in assessing proposals and providing advice to the 
Secretary of State, are to consider whether the proposals will provide safe, sustainable 
and accessible services for the local population. Referrals to the Secretary of State and 
information provided by consulting bodies when consulting health scrutiny will, therefore 
be most helpful if they directly address each of these issues.  

 
  

Page 68



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 29 

5. References and useful links 
 

5.1 Relevant legislation and policy 
 

• Department of Health (2013), The NHS Constitution: the NHS belong to us all: 
http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Documents/2013/
the-nhs-constitution-for-england-2013.pdf 

 
• Department of Health (2012), The Mandate: A mandate from the Government to the NHS 

Commissioning Board: April 2013 to March 2015: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213131/m
andate.pdf 

 
• Government guidance on consultation principles (2012): 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance 
 

• Health and Social Care Act 2001, sections 7 – 10: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2001/15/contents  
 

• Health and Social Care Act 2012, sections 190 – 192: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents 
 

• Local Government Act 2000:  
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/contents 

 
• The Localism Act 2011: 

 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted 
 

• National Health Service Act 2006, sections 244 – 245: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/contents  

 
• Statutory Instrument No. 2013/218 The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 

Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/218/contents/made  

 

5.2 Useful reading 
 

• Centre for Public Scrutiny (2013): Spanning the system: broader horizons for council 
scrutiny (based on health scrutiny work on the health reforms in 14 local authority areas): 
http://cfps.org.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/downloads/L13_19_CfPSspanning_th
e_system__web.pdf 

 
• Centre for Public Scrutiny (2012): Local Healthwatch, health and wellbeing boards and 

health scrutiny: roles, relationships and adding value: 
http://cfps.org.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/downloads/L12_693_CFPS_Healthwat
ch_and_Scrutiny_final_for_web.pdf 

 

Page 69

http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Documents/2013/the-nhs-constitution-for-england-2013.pdf
http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Documents/2013/the-nhs-constitution-for-england-2013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213131/mandate.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213131/mandate.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2001/15/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/218/contents/made
http://cfps.org.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/downloads/L13_19_CfPSspanning_the_system__web.pdf
http://cfps.org.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/downloads/L13_19_CfPSspanning_the_system__web.pdf
http://cfps.org.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/downloads/L12_693_CFPS_Healthwatch_and_Scrutiny_final_for_web.pdf
http://cfps.org.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/downloads/L12_693_CFPS_Healthwatch_and_Scrutiny_final_for_web.pdf


 30 

• Centre for Public Scrutiny (2011), Peeling the Onion, learning, tips and tools from the 
DH-funded Health Inequalities Scrutiny Programme: 
http://politiquessociales.net/IMG/pdf/CfPSPeelingonionfin_1_1_.pdf 

 
• Centre for Public Scrutiny (2007): Ten questions to ask if you’re assessing evidence: 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=209&offset=150 
 

• Independent Reconfiguration Panel (2010): Learning from Reviews: 
http://www.irpanel.org.uk/lib/doc/learning%20from%20reviews3%20pdf.pdf 

 
• Independent Reconfiguration Panel (2013): Advice on Safe and Sustainable proposals 

for children’s heart services: 
http://www.irpanel.org.uk/lib/doc/000%20s&s%20report%2030.04.13.pdf 

 
• Institute of Health Equity (2008), Fair Society, Healthy Lives (the Marmot report): 

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-
review  
 

• LGA and ADSO (2012), Health and wellbeing boards: a practical guide to governance 
and constitutional issues: 
http://www.local.gov.uk/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=ca8437aa-742c-4209-827c-
996afa9583ca&groupId=10171 
 

• NHS England’s guidance on the duty to involve (2013): Transforming Participation in 
Health and Care - http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/trans-part-hc-
guid1.pdf  
 

• NHS England (2013): Planning and Delivering Service Change for Patients - 
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/plan-del-serv-chge1.pdf 

 
 

 

Page 70

http://politiquessociales.net/IMG/pdf/CfPSPeelingonionfin_1_1_.pdf
http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=209&offset=150
http://www.irpanel.org.uk/lib/doc/learning%20from%20reviews3%20pdf.pdf
http://www.irpanel.org.uk/lib/doc/000%20s&s%20report%2030.04.13.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review
http://www.local.gov.uk/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=ca8437aa-742c-4209-827c-996afa9583ca&groupId=10171
http://www.local.gov.uk/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=ca8437aa-742c-4209-827c-996afa9583ca&groupId=10171
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/trans-part-hc-guid1.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/trans-part-hc-guid1.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/plan-del-serv-chge1.pdf


 

Page | 1 

APPENDIX 2 
 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  
 

HEALTH SERVICE DEVELOPMENTS WORKING GROUP 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
1.0 Background 
 

1.1 The Health and Social Care Act (2012) reinforced the duty of NHS Commissioners 
and Service Providers to make arrangements to involve and consult patients and the 
public in: 

 

 Planning service provision; 

 The development of proposals for changes; and,  

 Decisions about changes to the operation of services. 
 
1.2 The requirement to consult on service changes and/or developments, also includes 

a duty to consult local authorities (through the health overview and scrutiny function) 
where any proposal is under consideration for: 

 

 a substantial (major) development of the health service; or, 

 a substantial (major) variation in the provision of such a service in the local 
authorities area. 

 
1.3 The Department of Health guidance, ‘Local Authority Health Scrutiny’ (June 2014) 

also states that, as commissioners or providers of public health services and as 
providers of health services to the NHS, services commissioned or provided by local 
authorities are themselves within the scope of the health scrutiny legislation and 
therefore subject to the same requirements as NHS commissioners and service 
providers. 
 

1.4 Leeds City Council currently delegates its health scrutiny function to the Scrutiny 
Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) to discharge on its behalf. 

 
2.0 Scope 
 

2.1 The levels of service variation and/or development are not specifically defined in 
legislation and it is widely acknowledged the term ‘substantial variation or 
development of health services’ is subjective. 
 

2.2 However, to help achieve some degree of consistency, the Centre for Public 
Scrutiny (CfPS) had published a scrutiny guide, Major Variations and Developments 
of Health Services, in December 2005.  Based on this guidance, and through 
discussions with local NHS partners, locally developed definitions and stages of 
have been adopted.  These are detailed in Annex A and summarised in Table 1.   
 

2.3 The overall purpose of the working group is to offer an environment that allows early 
engagement with the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) regarding 
proposed developments and/or changes to local health services; allowing local NHS 
commissioners and service providers to have an on-going dialogue in this regard. 
 

2.4 The working group also provides an opportunity for members of the Scrutiny Board 
(Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) to consider progress of previously discussed 
proposals. 
 
 
 

Page 71



 

Page | 2 

Table 1: Summary of levels of change 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5 The role of the working group can be summarised as follows: 
 

 To consider, at an early stage, any future proposals for new service changes 
and/or developments of local health services. 

 To consider and recommend the appropriate category of variation (i.e. 
Substantial (Major), Significant, Minor or Operational changes), which in turn will 
determine the level of public engagement and involvement. 

 To consider whether or not relevant plans for public engagement and 
involvement are appropriate and appear satisfactory1. 

 To maintain an overview of progress associated with ongoing service change 
proposals and associated public engagement and involvement activity, including 
details of any stakeholder feedback and how this is being used to further 
develop the proposals. 

 To review the implementation of any agreed service change and/or 
development, including any subsequent service user feedback (as determined 
by the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles)). 

 To refer any matters of significant concern to the full Scrutiny Board (Adults, 
Health and Active Lifestyles), for further consideration. 

 
2.6 It should be recognised that the statutory duty to consider any substantial (major) 

service changes or developments remains the responsibility of the Scrutiny Board 
(Adult Social Services, Public Health, NHS).  As such, any substantial (major) 
service changes and/or developments identified (i.e. category 4) will automatically 
be referred to the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) for 
consideration.   

 
2.7 Where a substantial service change and/or development is identified, the view of the 

working group will usefully inform the deliberation of the Scrutiny Board (Adults, 
Health and Active Lifestyles) when considering such matters.  

 
3.0 Frequency of meetings 
 

3.1 The working group will meet on an ad-hoc basis as the need arises. 
 
 
 

                                            
1  The aim of early engagement is to allow early discussions and agreement regarding the proposed degree of 

variation, prior to the commencement of any patient and public engagement and involvement activity 

Degree of variation 
Colour 
code 

Contact with 
Scrutiny 

Category 4 –substantial variation 
(e.g. introduction of a new service; service 
reconfiguration) 

Red Consult 

Category 3 – significant change 
(e.g. changing provider of existing services) 

Orange Engage 

Category 2 – minor change 
(e.g. change of location within same hospital site) 

Yellow Inform 

Category 1 – ongoing operational changes 
(e.g. proposals to extend or reduce opening hours) 

Green No 

Page 72



 

Page | 3 

 
3.2 It should be noted that the duty to engage with the Scrutiny Board (and the 

associated working group) remains the responsibility of:  
 

 NHS commissioners and service providers; and, 

 The local authority in its role as commissioner or provider of public health 
services and as provider of health services to the NHS. 

 
4.0 Membership 
 

4.1 The membership of the working group will be drawn from the membership of the 
Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles). 
 

4.2 The quorum of any working group meetings will be the Chair (or the Chair’s 
nominee) plus a minimum of two other members from the Scrutiny Board (Adults, 
Health and Active Lifestyles). 
 

4.3 There will be a minimum of two political groups represented at any working group 
meeting. 

 
5.0 Key stakeholders  
 

5.1 The following key stakeholders have been identified as indicative contributors to the 
working group: 

 

 NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT) 

 Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (LYPFT) 

 Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust (LCH) 

 Director of Adult and Health (or nominee) 

 Director of Public Health (or nominee) 
 
6.0 Monitoring arrangements  
 

6.1 The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) will be kept fully updated 
on the work and activity of the working group. 

 
 

 
June 2021  

 

Page 73



ANNEX A 
 

 

Definitions of reconfiguration proposals and stages of engagement/consultation 

Definition & examples 
of potential proposals 

Stages of involvement, engagement, consultation 

 
Informal Involvement Engagement Formal consultation 

 

Substantial (major) 
variation or 
development 
Substantial service 
reconfiguration – 
changing how/where 
and when large scale 
services are delivered.  
Examples: urgent care, 
community health centre 
services, introduction of 
a new service. 

   

Category 4 
Formal 
consultation 
required 
(minimum twelve 
weeks) 
 

(RED) 

Significant variation 
or development  
Change in demand for 
specific services or 
modernisation of 
service.  Examples: 
changing provider of 
existing services, 
pathway redesign when 
the service could be 
needed by wide range of 
people 

  Category 3 
Formal 
mechanisms 
established to 
ensure that 
patients/service 
users/ carers and 
the public are 
engaged in 
planning and 
decision making 
 

(ORANGE) 

 

Minor change  
Need for modernisation 
of service.  Examples: 
Review of Health 
Visiting and District 
Nursing (Moving 
Forward Project), patient 
diaries 

 Category 2 
More formalised 
structures in 
place to ensure 
that patients/ 
service users/ 
carers and 
patient groups 
views on the 
issue and 
potential 
solutions are 
sought 
 

(YELLOW) 

  

Ongoing operational 
developments  
Proposals made as a 
result of routine 
patient/service user 
feedback.  Examples: 
proposal to extend or 
reduce opening hours  

 

Category 1 
Informal 
discussions with 
individual patients/ 
service users/ 
carers and patient 
groups on 
potential need for 
changes to 
services and 
solutions 
 

(GREEN) 

   

 

Note: based on guidance within the Centre for Public Scrutiny Major variations and developments of health services, a guide 

O
S

C
 i
n

v
o

lv
e

d
 

O
S

C
 m

a
y
 b

e
 i
n
v
o
lv

e
d
 

Information 
& evidence 
base 

Information 
& evidence 
base 

Information 
& evidence 
base 

Page 74



Appendix 3 

 

1 
 

 
 WEST YORKSHIRE JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE AND WORKING ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 provide for local NHS bodies to consult with the 
appropriate health scrutiny committee where there are any proposed substantial 
developments or variations in the provisions of the health service in the area(s) of a 
local authority.  
 
Under the legislation health officers from NHS bodies are required to attend 
committee meetings; provide information about the planning, provisions and 
operation of health services; and must consult with the health scrutiny committee on 
any proposed substantial developments or variations in the provision of the health 
service. 
 
Where proposals to change health services cross local authority boundaries there is 
a requirement to establish a joint health committee. In Yorkshire and the Humber, a 
protocol has been established between the 15 upper tier local authorities for 
establishing a joint health scrutiny committee where proposed changes affect more 
than one local authority area. Joint health scrutiny committees may also be 
established to consider other issues of mutual interest.  
 
The chairs of the five West Yorkshire Councils health overview and scrutiny 
committees met on 21 November 2014 and agreed to pursue establishing a West 
Yorkshire Health Scrutiny Committee. The purpose of the West Yorkshire Health 
Scrutiny Committee is to; consider any proposals from the NHS for substantial 
variation in service that have West Yorkshire wide implications; to meet NHS 
England to discuss any matters with West Yorkshire wide implications; and to be the 
first place for dialogue between West Yorkshire Council’s Scrutiny Panels and West 
Yorkshire Commissioning Collaborative (known as 10CC). 
 
The West Yorkshire Health Scrutiny Committee has the following roles and functions: 
 

 To scrutinise any proposed service configuration with West Yorkshire-wide 
implications and its impact on patients and the public when constituent 
Councils have delegated these powers to the West Yorkshire Health Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 

 To meet regularly with NHS England to: 
 

- Receive updates on national developments and other matters from NHS 
England 

- To inform NHS England of common issues arising at the five West Yorkshire 
health scrutiny committees. 
 

 To receive information on service proposals and other matters from West Yorkshire 
Commissioning Collaborative (known as 10CC) 
 

Page 75



Appendix 3 

 

2 
 

 To share information on health issues from each of the local authority areas that 
may have an impact on the other local authority areas within West Yorkshire. 
 

 To undertake shared development activities from time to time. 
 
 
Working Arrangements 
 

- The West Yorkshire Health Scrutiny Committee will meet at least four times a 
year as a formal body meeting in public. 
 

- Each local authority will host one meeting a year and provide the administrative 
support to that meeting. 

 

- Each local authority will nominate two members to sit on the West Yorkshire 
Health Scrutiny Committee 

 
- The quorum for the West Yorkshire Health Scrutiny Committee will be five 

Members, with Members from at least three of the five local authorities present. 
 

- Agenda, minutes and committee papers will be published on the websites of all 
the five local authorities. 

 
 
  

Page 76



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 This report provides information and guidance on potential sources of work and areas of 
priority within the Board’s terms of reference.  In consultation with the relevant Directors, 
Executive Board Members and senior representatives from local NHS organisations, the 
Scrutiny Board is requested to consider and discuss potential areas of Scrutiny work for the 
forthcoming municipal year.   

 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to consider the information and guidance presented within this report when 

discussing potential areas of Scrutiny work for the forthcoming municipal year.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sources of work for the Scrutiny Board 

Date: 15th June 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Angela Brogden 

Tel: 0113 3788661 

Page 77

Agenda Item 6



Why is the proposal being put forward?  
 

1. Scrutiny Boards are responsible for ensuring that items of scrutiny work come from a 
strategic approach as well as a need to challenge service performance and respond to 
issues of high public interest. Scrutiny is also a valuable sounding board for new policy 
initiatives and therefore such pre-decision work continues to be encouraged. 

 
2. To assist the Scrutiny Board in effectively managing its workload for the forthcoming 

municipal year, this report provides information and guidance on potential sources of work 
and areas of priority within the Board’s terms of reference.   

 
Key sources of information 
 
 Best Council Plan 

 
3. The Best Council Plan is a significant source of information in terms of highlighting the 

Council’s key areas of priority over the coming months and years. 
 
4. An updated Best Council Plan 2020-2025 was launched in September 2020, placing 

emphasis on the role of the Council’s priorities in establishing a ‘new normal’ for life in 
Leeds after COVID-19.  This is attached as Appendix 1 for Members information. 

 
 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

 

5. In addition to the Best Council Plan, the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy is a 

significant source of information in terms of highlighting the City’s key priorities in relation 

to Health and Wellbeing. 

 
6. The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2016-2021) is therefore appended to this report 

for information (Appendix 2) 
 

 Performance Data 
 

7. Performance monitoring remains a key element of the Scrutiny Boards’ work and is also a 
valuable source of information to help identify potential areas that may warrant further 
scrutiny.  The most recent performance data is therefore included as a separate agenda 
item for today’s meeting (Agenda Item 7).  This provides the Board with a summary of 
performance against the strategic priorities that are relevant to the Board’s remit. 
 

 Financial Information 
 

8. All Scrutiny Boards are consulted annually on the Council’s initial budget proposals in 
accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework.  This is undertaken in 
conjunction with a review of the in-year financial health of the authority. 

 
9. The 2021/22 budget proposals were agreed by Full Council in February 2021.  The 

Scrutiny Board may wish to consider progress against the delivery of these and therefore a 
summary of the budget proposals relevant to the remit of the Adults, Health and Active 
Lifestyles Scrutiny Board is provided in Appendix 3. 

 
10. Maintaining an overview of the Council’s financial health is also a key element of the 

Scrutiny Board’s work and therefore the Board may wish to receive further financial health 
updates during the municipal year.  
 

 

Page 78



 Other sources of Scrutiny work 
 

11. Other common sources of work include requests for scrutiny, Call In requests and other 
corporate referrals. The Board is also required to be formally consulted during the 
development of key policies which form part of the council’s Budget and Policy Framework. 
 

12. There is also a statutory requirement to formally consult the Scrutiny Board where 
substantial variation and/or development of local NHS services are proposed. 
 
Methods of working 

 
13. Each Scrutiny Board has planned to hold eight formal or ‘consultative’1 meetings 

throughout this municipal year. 
 
14. Whilst the decision to hold any additional meetings is left to the discretion of each Board, 

historically Scrutiny Boards have also adopted other methods of evidence gathering 
outside of the public meeting setting, such as site visits and working group meetings. 

 
15. Working groups comprise of a number of Members from a particular Scrutiny Board who 

may be appointed to carry out specific tasks on behalf of the Board.  Suitable tasks for a 
working group may involve Members meeting on their own (for example for the purposes 
of developing reports and recommendations in connection with an ongoing Inquiry or terms 
of reference for a future Inquiry).  Alternatively they may entail activities which cannot 
realistically be undertaken within the confines of a formally convened Scrutiny Board 
meeting. 

 
16. In all cases, the primary purpose of a working group is to obtain and/or develop information 

and to report back to a formally convened meeting of the Scrutiny Board.  A working group 
cannot discharge the primary purpose of a Scrutiny Board i.e. it cannot undertake Inquiries 
independently from its parent Scrutiny Board, conduct Inquiries, issue 
reports/recommendations (other than to its parent Scrutiny Board) or in any way  present 
itself to a third party as representing the views of the parent Scrutiny Board. 

 
17. However, as set out within the Vision for Scrutiny, the Board must also remain mindful of 

the resource implications associated with the use of site visits and working group meetings 
when determining its work programme. 

 
 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

18. The information and guidance presented within this report focuses on potential sources of 
work and areas of priority within the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference.  This aims to 
assist Members when considering potential areas of scrutiny work for the forthcoming 
municipal year.   
 
 
 
 

                                                           
1 Consultative meetings are held remotely and webcasted live to enable public access.  However, they are not a public meeting 
held in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972. 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 79



What consultation and engagement has taken place?  
 

19. In order to enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, it is recognised that each 
Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with the Directors and Executive 
Board Members holding the relevant portfolios. The Vision for Scrutiny also states that 
Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and 
Executive Member about available resources prior to agreeing items of work. 

 
20. The Director of Adults and Health; Director of Public Health; Director of City Development 

and relevant Executive Board Members have therefore been invited to today’s meeting to 
share their views and contribute to the Board’s discussion. 

 

21. As the remit of the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) includes the 
council’s statutory health scrutiny function, an invitation to today’s meeting has also been 
extended to senior representatives of local NHS organisations to provide an opportunity for 
them to also share their views and contribute to the Board’s discussion.  

 
What are the resource implications? 
 

22. Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if 
the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and 
focus its resources on one key issue at a time.    

 
23. The Vision for Scrutiny2, agreed by full Council, also recognises that like all other Council 

functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and 
that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.  Consequently, when 
establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should: 

 

 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member 
about available resources; 
 

 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having 
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue; 
 

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value 
and can be delivered within an agreed time frame. 

 
What are the legal implications?  
 

24. This report has no specific legal implications. 
 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 
 

25. There are no risk management implications relevant to this report. 
  

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 
 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 
26. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking 

Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives. 
  
 

                                                           
2 This forms part of Article 6 within the Council Constitution. Page 80



Appendices 
 

27. Appendix 1 -- Best Council Plan 2020-2025. 
 
28. Appendix 2 - The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2016 – 2021). 
 
29. Appendix 3 – Approved 2021/22 budget proposals relevant to the remit of the Adults, 

Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board. 
 

Background papers 
 

30. None. 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

#

!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

OUTCOMES

£9
1.
4m

£2
7.9

m

£23
.0m

£14.4m

£123.8m£1
26
.6m

£57.7m

£31.6m

  

BEST COUNCIL PLAN 
2020 – 2025
Tackling poverty and reducing inequalities

with the city’s Inclusive Growth Strategy, Health & Wellbeing Strategy  
and Climate Emergency declaration as key drivers 

Page 83



 

 
FOREWORD
BEST COUNCIL PLAN 2020 – 2025
Tackling poverty and reducing inequalities

Our ambition is for Leeds to  
be the best city in the UK: 

compassionate and caring with 
a strong economy; which tackles 
poverty and reduces inequalities; 

working towards being a net  
zero carbon city by 2030.  

We want Leeds to be a city  
that is distinctive, sustainable, 

ambitious, fun and creative for all, 
with a council that its residents 

can be proud of as the best 
council in the country.

But most of all, in light of the 
impacts of the coronavirus 
pandemic, we want Leeds  

to be a safe city:

Our ambition will not be easy to achieve. It has 
always been challenging, but now more so than 
ever before. Yet Leeds is a unique city. When we 
harness the determination and compassion of 
its people and communities, great things can be 
achieved, even in the most difficult circumstances.

About Leeds City Council
The council has a central role in the life of the city. 
We provide a wide range of vital public services, 
work with partners across all sectors to strengthen 
our economy and communities, and have an 
increasingly important responsibility to represent 
the city nationally and on the world stage – 
attracting business and investment and promoting 
what Leeds has to offer. The breadth of what we 
do, and our democratic accountability, puts us in 
a unique position to be able to bring people and 
organisations together locally and city-wide to 
respond in times of crisis, as well as to maintain 
our usual efforts to help improve lives. 

Our council workforce is around 15,000 strong 
(in headcount; 13,000 full-time equivalents) and 
embedded into every part of the city.  

2 3

Council staff and our 99 elected 
members work each day to make the 

city a great place to live and work.

We keep children safe; support older and vulnerable 
people; lead emergency responses and build 
resilience; prevent and tackle homelessness; help 
people live in good quality, affordable housing; work 
with the police to prevent and tackle crime and anti-
social behaviour; encourage our residents to live 
healthier, more active lifestyles; provide sport and 
leisure facilities and green spaces; support people 
into jobs, training and apprenticeships and help 
them earn enough to support themselves and their 

families; clean streets and deal with the city’s waste; 
make roads safe and reduce congestion; improve 
air quality; secure investment in the city and 
promote cultural and community events all across 
Leeds.  All of this, and more, is ultimately about how 
we can improve the lives of Leeds residents. Over 
recent years we have done this while working with 
reduced budgets, delivering better value for money 
each year for the Leeds public. 

This Best Council Plan provides a framework 
through which council staff and the people and 
businesses of Leeds can better understand the 
role of our organisation, and the difference we 
make particularly to those  
who need it most.

Produced by R.Haslett, Intelligence & Policy Service © Crown Copyright. Leeds City Council - 100019567 (2019)

ex of Multiple Deprivation 2019

REF : IMD2019 : 001

IMD National Rank
Most Deprived 10%

10% - 20%

20% - 30%

30% - 40%

40% - 50%

50% - 60%

60% - 70%

70% - 80%

80% - 90%

Least Deprived 10%

Pool

Adel

Otley

Burley

Armley

Gipton

Rodley

Pudsey

Morley

Halton

Colton

Oulton

Kippax

Walton

Linton

Rawdon

Yeadon

Tyersal
Wortley

Farnley Holbeck

Beeston
Hunslet

Carlton

Methley

Oakwood

Scholes

Thorner

Bardsey
Bramham

Bramley

Whitkirk

Stourton

Whinmoor

Churwell

Rothwell

Garforth

Roundhay

Shadwell

Seacroft

Aberford

Wetherby

Moortown

Harewood

Weardley

Bramhope

Tinshill

Guiseley

Woodhouse

Middleton

Harehills

Scarcroft

Alwoodley

Calverley

Kirkstall

Holt Park

Cookridge

Horsforth

Belle Isle

Chapeltown

Gildersome

Cottingley

Headingley

Boston SpaCollingham

Arthington

New Farnley

CITY CENTRE Burmantofts

Woodlesford

Swillington

Micklefield

Thorpe Arch

Drighlington

East Ardsley

Osmondthorpe

Potternewton

Lincoln Green

Moor Allerton

Chapel Allerton

Allerton Bywater

Barwick in Elmet

Most Deprived 10%

10% - 20%

20% - 30%

30% - 40%

40% - 50%

50% - 60%

60% - 70%

70% - 80%

80% - 90%

Least Deprived 10%

Please visit the Leeds Observatory  
for key data about the Leeds population and  
Leeds economy, including for more information  
and analysis on the IMD 2019.

LEEDS: INDICES OF MULTIPLE 
DEPRIVATION (IMD 2019) 

Safe travel 
ensuring the safe 
use of highways  

and public transport 
and encouraging 

active travel  
where possible.

Safe public 
spaces  

in communities, 
district centres and 

the city centre.

Safe delivery 
of services 

including health 
and social care, 
and other public 

services. 

Safe education 
as more children 

and young people 
return to schools, 

colleges and 
nurseries.

Safe working,  
with physical distancing 

in workplaces and 
coordination between 
large employers in the 
city to avoid peaks of 

movement. 

P
age 84



 

4

About Leeds

Leeds is a growing city with a population estimated at 
793,000 (ONS Mid-Year Estimates 2019), an increase 
of around 42,000 since the last Census in 2011. The 
shift in the make-up of our population at local levels is 
striking with rapid changes particularly in some of our 
inner-city communities, many of which are the fastest 
growing and have the youngest age profile.  

Leeds continues to be the main driver of economic 
growth for the city-region, and has key strengths 
in financial and business services, advanced 
manufacturing, health and creative and digital 
industries, with a strong knowledge-rich employment 
base. These strengths, linked to the city’s universities 
and teaching hospitals, are major innovation assets for 
Leeds. Leeds also performs well in terms of business 
start-ups, with strong growth in digital and medical 
technologies, telecoms and creative industries.

Almost 470,000 people work in the city (ONS Business 
Register and Employment Survey 2018) with three 
quarters in the private sector, putting Leeds in the top 
five nationally for private sector employment. Over 
recent years Leeds has experienced record levels of 
development and continues to be popular with Foreign 
Direct Investment. Strong private sector growth since 
2010 has maintained the city’s employment rate above 
average for the region, putting us in a strong position 
to manage the effects of an economic downturn as a 
result of COVID-19.

 
While Leeds continues to enjoy 

economic success, we recognise that 
not everyone is benefitting from the 

opportunities this presents. 
 

More than 70,000 adults are facing in-work poverty. 
The latest Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD 2019) 
tell us that around 186,000 people in the city live 
in areas that are ranked in the most deprived 10% 
nationally, many of whom are aged under 15 or over 
65. This is an increase of more than 20,000 people 
since the previous indices in 2015.  

This level of disadvantage and inequality has seen 
the worsening of some social challenges too, with 
crime in Leeds rising by more than 10% between 
2017/18 and 2018/19, and a 21% rise in the number 
of people accessing foodbanks, which supported 
almost 34,000 people in Leeds in 2018/19. For some, 
COVID-19 has compounded these inequalities. We 
will work with partners and communities across the 
city to help minimise the impacts.  

The council has recognised the sharp challenges that 
too many citizens in Leeds face as they try to overcome 
poverty, especially in many of the lower income 
communities which encircle the wealth of the city centre. 
Breakdowns in the city’s transport network and a lack 
of effective connectivity between communities are 
barriers to economic inclusion which we must reduce. 
This includes working beyond the city’s boundaries with 
neighbouring authorities to find a solution for the whole 
region. The transfer of greater powers and funding 
from central government to West Yorkshire will help to 
achieve this, and we are actively participating in regional 
work to implement the devolution deal. We also actively 
engage with the national core cities network. 

The whole city, along with the rest of the world, is 
confronted with the generational challenge of climate 
change which has the potential to drastically affect our 
quality of life. Leeds declared a climate emergency 
in March 2019 and the council has already taken 
decisive action in response: acquiring the largest local 
government electric vehicle fleet in the UK; committing 
to purchasing 100% of our electricity from renewable 

CONTENTS 
sources; improving energy efficiency in council housing; 
establishing an extensive tree planting scheme; 
ceasing plans to invest in a link road to the airport; and 
pushing for an ambitious national aviation strategy that 
integrates aviation into the national carbon roadmap. 
As we establish a ‘new normal’ after the COVID-19 
pandemic, we must ensure tackling climate change 
remains a top priority in shaping the life of the city.

As a Child-Friendly City, Leeds continues to invest 
in the future of our young people which has led to 
improvements in health and educational outcomes.  
However, we are acutely aware of the potentially 
significant immediate and longer-term impacts of 
coronavirus on the health, wellbeing and learning of our 
children and young people and so now, more than ever, 
there is much more to do to ensure everyone is equipped 
with the education and skills they need to succeed in life. 
The council is working with families, schools and others 
to secure a brighter future for every child in Leeds.

While the UK is embarking upon a new 
relationship with European neighbours, Leeds 
remains an open, welcoming, outward-looking city 
ready to build new partnerships with places around 
the world in order to improve the lives of people 
and communities closer to home.

The Best City and Best Council ambitions and 
priorities set out here would not be achievable 
without close partnership working, effective 
community engagement and the dedication 
of councillors and staff: the elected members 
who serve the city, our partners and everyone 
who works for the council all play a vital role in 
delivering the Best Council Plan. 

 We thank you all.

FOREWORD  2

INTRODUCTION  6

THE BEST COUNCIL PLAN 
ON A PAGE  10

BEST CITY PRIORITIES:

INCLUSIVE GROWTH  12

HEALTH & WELLBEING  14

SUSTAINABLE 
INFRASTRUCTURE  16 

CHILD-FRIENDLY CITY  18

AGE-FRIENDLY LEEDS  20

CULTURE  22

HOUSING  24

SAFE, STRONG COMMUNITIES  26

5

Cllr Judith Blake
Leader of  

Leeds City  
Council

Tom Riordan
Chief Executive of 

Leeds City  
Council

P
age 85



6 7

Our Strengths 
Leeds is a thriving, diverse and dynamic city with 
five unique strengths:

• Leeds is the epicentre of the UK and the heart 
of the northern and national economies with strong 
international links. Leeds is the only Northern city 
from which all the other major Northern cities can 
easily be reached; an economic powerhouse 
predicted to grow by 50% over the next 20 
years, outperforming the national economy. 

• Leeds is young and getting younger.  
Our region is one of the youngest in the UK 
providing a talent pool that is digitally skilled and 
enterprising. The city’s dynamic start-up culture 
and vibrant, youthful environment give Leeds 
that crucial competitive edge. Nearly a quarter of 
the city is aged between 18 and 29 years. Our 
working age population is increasing at a higher 
rate than both the EU as a whole and key cities 
such as Berlin, Madrid and Milan. Our citywide 
talent and skills plan brings together employers 
and educators to collectively identify and provide 
new skills for the economy.

• Leeds is a diverse city, a place that closely 
represents the population of the UK as a whole 
– economically and socio-demographically. We 
put people first, and have a proud record of 
working together to deliver for everyone: Leeds

 is a compassionate city, with a tradition of social 
enterprise and with a social model that harnesses 
the energy of our communities and a strong charity 
sector. Leeds understands that tackling poverty 
and inequality drives economic and social growth. 

• People enjoy the best of both worlds in 
Leeds with all the advantages of a compact, 
cultural, green city and Yorkshire on its 
doorstep. Leeds has all the advantages of a big 
city too, with a thriving job market and access 
to culture, sport, food, and retail at the heart of 
a clean and walkable city centre. Our city has 
fantastic green spaces including one of the 
largest city parks in Europe. The costs of living 
and of doing business in Leeds are competitive, 
with housing, offices and workspaces in 
development to meet growing demand.

• Leeds is distinctively ambitious, powered 
by innovators, entrepreneurs and social 
priorities. Leeds is built on a rich tradition of 
social innovation and continues to support and 
celebrate start-up companies who, like us, are 
working to solve society’s biggest, most urgent 
and challenging problems. Our pioneering 
work on healthcare and technology is helping 
more people worldwide live healthier, more 
productive, active and creative lives. We are 
FinTech and HealthTech leaders with the 
only integrated open health data system in 
Britain; home to world-leading research and 
development through our five universities.

Our Best City Ambition
The Best Council Plan 2020 to 2025 maintains 
our long-term ‘Best City’ strategic focus on 
tackling poverty and inequalities through a 
combination of strengthening the economy and 
doing this in a way that is compassionate and 
caring, allowing us to support the people who 
need it most.

Building on the key council and partnership 
strategies in place and in development, this Best 
Council Plan sets out a number of interconnected 
priority areas of work. These flow in particular 
from our two long-standing main strategies –
Inclusive Growth and Health and Wellbeing – as 
well as a third, new for 2020, strategic key pillar 
for the organisation, Climate Emergency. This 
addition recognises the scale of the challenge 
facing the city – and indeed the world – to make 
the changes needed to combat climate change 
effectively. Consideration of the impact of our 
actions on the planet will need to thread through 
every aspect of daily life in the future, and that 
approach to sustainability is reflected throughout 
this Best Council Plan.

Taken together, a focus on eight ‘Best City’ 
priorities will deliver improved outcomes for 
everyone in Leeds:

• Inclusive Growth
• Health and Wellbeing
• Sustainable Infrastructure
• Child-Friendly City
• Age-Friendly Leeds 
• Housing
• Safe, Strong Communities
• Culture

Our emphasis on these priorities is crucial in 
establishing a ‘new normal’ for life in Leeds after the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Our longstanding commitment 
to them is now more important than ever as we 
continue to focus our support on those in most need, 
while enabling everyone to reach their full potential. 

The following pages briefly explain these priorities 
and set out the key performance indicators we use 
to track progress. We have also signposted the most 
significant ‘Best City’ strategies and action plans 
to read for more detail on both the issues and the 
collaborative and innovative work that we and our 
partners are doing in response – and in which the 
whole city is invited to play its part.

 
INTRODUCTION 

 

3,133kt
total estimated carbon  
dioxide emissions 
(2017 figures, published  
Jun 2019 BEIS):

• 36% domestic
• 34% industrial  

and commercial
• 30% transport

793,000
population of Leeds
(ONS MYE 2019)

• 153,600 (19%)  
children and young  
people 0-15 years

• 123,500 (16%)  
older people  
65+ years

• 516,100 (65%)  
working age  
16-64 years

18,900 
21% increase in  

0-10 year olds  
2008 to 2018 

(ONS MYE 2018)

18.9% 

of the population from  
a BME background 
(Census 2011)

 354,950
number of  
households
(VOA 2019)

 114 
neighbourhoods ranked 

in most deprived 10% 
nationally, 24% of Leeds 
neighbourhoods (IMD 2019)

34,000
people supported  
by foodbanks 
(2018/19)

28,385
number of businesses 

(ONS IDBR 2018)

74.6%
of the working  
age population  
in employment 
(ONS APS Dec 2019)

£28,849
average annual wage  

of a Leeds resident 
(ONS ASHE 2019)

About Leeds

P
age 86



  

8 9

Our Best Council Ambition

The Best Council Plan 2020 to 2025 also maintains 
our long-established ‘Best Council’ strategic focus 
on being an efficient, enterprising and healthy 
organisation, all of which are particularly relevant 
in the context of COVID-19. This reflects our wider 
positive outlook for the role of local government 
in working with our communities to shape and 
strengthen the prospects of the city and its 
residents. Underpinning everything we do and how 
we work to achieve our ambitions are our Values: 

• Being open, honest and trusted
• Treating people fairly
• Spending money wisely
• Working as a team for Leeds
• Working with all communities

Despite growing demand and an unprecedented 
period of budget reductions for local government, 
the council has continued to deliver high quality, 
improved public services and value for money for 
the Leeds public. We use our resources, influence 
and convening capacity to drive inclusive economic 
growth and promote health and wellbeing, tackling 
deprivation and other deep-rooted challenges to 
improve the quality of life for our residents.  

We have re-designed many of our 
services to focus on needs-led, 
asset-based early intervention 
and prevention, and have given 

citizens more control over 
decisions that directly affect them. 

This way of working has seen the council 
consistently receive national recognition for 
outcomes in adults' and children’s social work in 
particular. Our locality working and partnership 
approach continues to develop in communities, 
especially the priority neighbourhoods (small areas 
ranked as some of the most disadvantaged in the 
country where the council is targeting resources). 
By adopting the Climate Emergency as the third 
pillar – alongside Inclusive Growth and Health and 
Wellbeing – of our Best City ambition, we seek to 
further embed sustainability into all aspects of the 
authority’s decision-making.

However, if we are to maintain momentum and 
protect vital services, we must renew our efforts 
towards the Best Council ambition. For the 2020 to 
2025 planning period, we are establishing a Best 
Council framework that draws on our core strengths:

• Strong leadership of place: enabling, 
convening, facilitating and stimulating

• Effective partnership working and 
commissioning to make the most  of the 
collective ‘Leeds pound’ and improve outcomes

• Maintaining a clear focus on  
delivering high quality public services

• Using needs-led, asset-based approaches 
based on early intervention and  
prevention, supporting the people  
and places most in need

• Making the best use of  
our resources:

- Our people 
- Our money
- Our digital capabilities
- Our land and buildings
- Our evidence and insights
- Our communications

• Ongoing engagement with communities  
and individuals 

A set of annexes to this Best Council Plan  
explain these resources in more detail:

• Our People Strategy sets out our ambition to 
be the best place to work, through exceptional 
employee experience, talented managers 
and leaders, and a culture underpinned by 
fairness, diversity and collaboration. In line 
with our overall ambition to keep the city safe, 
the Strategy also includes a focus on keeping 
our staff safe whilst building in flexibility across 
the workforce in response to the pandemic. 

• Our Financial Strategy is helping us become 
more financially sustainable and resilient, 
safeguarding public funds while achieving value 
for money. This will ensure we are well placed to 
respond to the significant funding uncertainties 
and pressures we face – exacerbated to 
an unprecedented level as a direct result of 
coronavirus – and to target our money to where 
it can make the most difference.

• Our digital capabilities play a central role in 
maximising the use of tools and technology to 
improve and transform the way the council works, 
provides services and engages with citizens. 

• Our Estate Management Strategy explains our 
vision and approach to managing the council’s 
land and buildings across the city, helping us 
deliver a modern, efficient, sustainable estate and 
workplaces that remain fit for purpose as the world 
adapts to new ways – and places – of working.

• Our evidence and insights, drawn from 
listening to our citizens and effective use of data, 
help us identify and understand the challenges 
and opportunities we face, assess progress in 
delivering our Best City and Best Council  
ambitions and drive improvement.

• Our communications enable us to clearly 
explain the challenges and opportunities to our 
citizens, partners and other key stakeholders, and 
to engage them in being a part of the solutions, 
further strengthening these vital relationships and 
collaborative working.

As we start to understand the longer-term implications 
of COVID-19 on the city and the council, the Best 
Council framework will provide the basis for the 
decisions we make in the coming months and years 
on the services we provide and how best to allocate 
our resources. 

About Leeds City Council

552 km²

the area the local 
authority covers 

99
elected councillors 

representing 33 wards

15,000
council’s workforce, 
13,000 FTEs (end 
November 2019) 

£2bn
gross revenue for 

day-to-day spending 
(2020/21) 

Includes grants 
relating to schools of 

£805m and £249m for 
council housing (HRA), 

£526m – net revenue 
budget from council 

tax and  
business 

rates 

2,900 km 

of roads we maintain 
(December 2019)  

4,000 hectares 
of parks and green spaces  

we look after; that’s the same as  
around 4,000 rugby pitches 

(December 2019) 

2 million
 library book loans 
we issue each year 

(2018/19)

7,000
people aged over 65 our 

social care services provide 
support to (2018/19)

1,300 
children aged 0-17 in 

the local authority’s care 
(Sep 2019) 

55,000 
council homes (January 
2020) with plans to build 
300 each year over the 

next 5 years and beyond 

2 million 

 bins we empty each month 
(December 2019) 

£588m
 capital spend 

for managing our 
assets, including  

schools,  
housing 

 and roads 
(2020/21)

 

 
98,000 

streetlights  
we maintain  

(December 2019)  

P
age 87



 
BEST COUNCIL PLAN 
2020 to 2025 
Tackling poverty and  
reducing inequalities
with the city’s Inclusive Growth Strategy,  
Health & Wellbeing Strategy  
and Climate Emergency  
declaration as key drivers 

    

• Strong place  
leadership

• Effective  
partnership  
working and  
commissioning

• Clear focus on  
delivering high  
quality, locally  
integrated  
public services 

• Asset-based  
approaches,  
supporting the people  
and places most in need

• Ongoing engagement with 
communities and individuals

• Making the best use of  
our resources:
- Our people
- Our money
- Our digital capabilities
- Our land and buildings
- Our evidence and insights
- Our communications

Leeds Best  
Council Ambition
An Efficient,  
Enterprising  
and Healthy  
Organisation

OUTCOMES 
We want everyone in Leeds to…

• Be safe and feel safe
•  Enjoy happy, healthy, active lives  
• Live in good quality, affordable homes  

in clean and well cared for places
• Do well at all levels of learning and  

have the skills they need for life 
• Enjoy greater access to green spaces, 

leisure and the arts
• Earn enough to support themselves 

and their families
• Move easily around a well-planned, 

sustainable city that’s working towards 
being carbon neutral

• Live with dignity and stay independent 
for as long as possible  

What we and  
our partners are 

focusing on to  
improve outcomes 

 

Leeds Best  
City Ambition
A Strong Economy and  
a Compassionate City 

BEST CITY 
PRIORITIES

Inclusive  
Growth

• Supporting the city’s economic  
recovery from COVID-19 and building  
longer-term economic resilience

• Supporting growth and investment,  
helping everyone benefit from the  
economy to their full potential

• Supporting businesses and residents  
to improve skills, helping people into  
work and into better jobs

•  Targeting interventions to tackle  
poverty in priority neighbourhoods

•  Tackling low pay

Safe, Strong  
Communities
•  Keeping people safe from harm,  

protecting the most vulnerable
•  Helping people out of financial hardship
•  Tackling crime and anti-social behaviour
•  Being responsive to local needs,  

building thriving, resilient  
communities

•  Promoting community  
respect and resilience

 Health & Wellbeing  
•  Ensuring support for the health and social care  

sector to respond to and recover from COVID-19
•  Reducing health inequalities and improving  

the health of the poorest the fastest
•  Supporting healthy, physically active lifestyles 

•  Supporting self-care, with more  
people managing their own health  
conditions in the community

•  Working as a system to  
ensure people get the  
right care, from the right  
people in the right place

Sustainable  
Infrastructure
•  Improving transport connections, 

safety, reliability and affordability
•  Improving air quality, reducing  

pollution and noise
•  Improving the resilience of the city’s 

infrastructure and the natural environment, 
reducing flooding and other risks  
from future climate change

•  Promoting a more competitive,  
less wasteful, more resource  
efficient, low carbon economy

•  Strengthening digital and  
data ‘Smart City’  
infrastructure and  
increasing digital  
inclusion

Culture
•  Growing the cultural  

and creative sector
•  Ensuring that culture 

can be created  
and experienced  
by anyone

•  Enhancing the image  
of Leeds through  
major events and 
attractions

   Housing
•  Housing of the right quality,  

type, tenure and affordability  
in the right places

•  Minimising homelessness 
through a greater focus on 
prevention

•  Providing the right housing  
options to support older and 
vulnerable residents to remain 
active and independent

•  Improving energy performance 
in homes, reducing fuel poverty 

  Child- 
Friendly City

•  Supporting families to give 
children the best start in life

•  Improving educational attainment and 
closing achievement gaps for children 
and young people vulnerable to poor 
learning outcomes

•  Improving social, emotional and mental  
health and wellbeing 

•  Helping young people into adulthood, to  
develop life skills and be ready for work

•  Enhancing the city now and  
for future generations

Age-Friendly Leeds
•  Developing accessible and affordable transport 

options which help older people get around
•  Making Leeds’ public spaces and buildings 

accessible, safe, clean and welcoming
•  Promoting opportunities for older people to  

be healthy, active, included and respected
•  Helping older people participate in the  

city through fulfilling employment  
and learning opportunities

B E I N G  O P E N ,  H O N E S T  A N D  T R U S T E D   T R E AT I N G  P E O P L E  FA I R LY     S P E N D I N G  M O N E Y W I S E LY    W O R K I N G  A S  A  T E A M  F O R  L E E D S     W O R K I N G  W I T H  A L L  C O M M U N I T I E S

BEST COUNCIL PLAN 2020 – 2025
Tackling poverty and reducing inequalities

with the city’s Inclusive Growth Strategy, Health & Wellbeing  
Strategy and Climate Emergency declaration as key drivers  

and locality working as a core principle
 

                                                                                                                                      
OUR VALUES

Underpinning everything we  
do and how we work

10 11

P
age 88



   

However, 
improving 
longer term  
economic resilience  
must be a priority.  
Leeds has sizeable sectors of 
the economy which have been 
hardest hit by the COVID-19 
pandemic, such as retail and 
hospitality, and this has had 
a detrimental impact on the 
businesses concerned and the 
people they employ. We will need 
to use our full range of services, in 
particular economic development 
and employment and skills, to 
support those affected in the 
coming months.

Beyond the impacts of the 
pandemic, more stubborn and 
longstanding issues remain 
throughout the economy: people 
living in our disadvantaged areas 
continue to have poorer health 
outcomes, education attainment 
remains a challenge, and the 
hollowing out of the labour 
market drives down productivity. 

This year will see even more 
change to the city as we leave 
the European Union.  The overall 
impact of Brexit very much 
depends on the government’s 
future economic policy but we 
are working closely with partners 
across the region to plan 
responsibly to mitigate impacts 
and harness any opportunities.

Our Leeds Inclusive 
Growth Strategy 

focuses around three 
themes to address 
inequalities and 

deliver growth: People, 
Place and Productivity

 
Investing in people means 
investing in their health and 
wellbeing, improving education 
and skills, putting children at the 
heart of the growth strategy, and 
employers at the centre of the 
skills system. It means tackling 
low pay and securing better 
social and economic outcomes 
from the role and impact of the 
city’s ‘Anchor Institutions’ (the 
organisations with the biggest 
stake and the most influence 
and impact in Leeds).

A focus on place will mean 
developing and regenerating 
places, supporting neighbour-
hoods, communities and 
centres to respond to economic 
change, growing the city centre 
as an economic powerhouse 
for Leeds and the north, and 
growing major economic hubs 
around the city. An increase in 
new homes, improvements to 
existing housing and investment 
in modern infrastructure will 
support the city’s growth.

Improving productivity is 
also necessary. By backing 
innovators and entrepreneurs we 
can build on our strong start-
up and scale-up performance.  
Embracing technological change 
will create opportunities for 
Leeds, but we must continue 
to promote and invest in digital 
inclusion and skills. Promoting 
a modern, dynamic, diverse 
and outward-looking image of 
Leeds – including maximising 
the economic benefits of culture 
- can drive greater inward 
investment, exports and tourism.

As part of our Inclusive Growth 
Strategy, many businesses 
across all sectors have pledged 
to offer support for our city, 
setting out what they will do 
more of or do differently to 
promote inclusive growth.  
Added to this we now have 12 
Inclusive Growth Ambassadors 
in post to help us deliver our 
strategy and a wider delivery 
partnership working with 
communities, business and 
stakeholders.

• Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy
• Leeds Talent and Skills Plan
• Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan

Our ambition is for a 
strong economy within a 
compassionate city. We will 
deliver this through inclusive 
growth which seeks to ensure 
that the benefits of prosperity 
reach all our communities 
and citizens. This means 
tackling inequalities across 
the city, raising skills levels, 
creating more high quality 
jobs, improving health and 
wellbeing, focusing on our 
communities, embracing the 
digital revolution, supporting 
innovators and entrepreneurs 
and harnessing the economic 
benefits of all sectors. Looking 
at the economic aspect of our 
climate change ambitions, 
it is estimated that Leeds 
could save £277m a year 
if it exploited cost-effective 
opportunities for energy 
efficiency and low carbon 
development.

The Leeds economy is 
performing well with key 
strengths in financial and 
business services, advanced 
manufacturing, health, and 
creative and digital industries.  

 
Leeds has a strong knowledge-
rich employment base linked 
to the city’s universities and 
teaching hospitals which 
are major innovation assets.
Leeds also performs well in 
terms of business start-ups, is 
experiencing record levels of 
development and continues to 
attract Foreign Direct Investment. 
Strong private sector growth since 
2010 (prior to the pandemic) has 
maintained the city’s employment 
rate at above average for the 
region. All of this provides Leeds 
with a strong foundation as we 
look to recovery and, along 
with ongoing grants, rate relief 
and other support for business, 
gives the city’s economy and 
labour market the best chance of 
effectively managing an economic 
slowdown in the short-term to 
protect jobs and livelihoods.

•  Supporting the city’s economic 
recovery from COVID-19 and building 
longer-term economic resilience

• Supporting growth and investment, 
helping everyone benefit from the 
economy to their full potential

• Supporting businesses and  
residents to improve skills, helping 
people into work and into better jobs

•  Targeting interventions to tackle 
poverty in priority neighbourhoods

•  Tackling low pay

 
INCLUSIVE 
GROWTH 

743,192 sq.ft.
city centre office take-up in  

2019; 12% higher than 2018; 
280,524 sq.ft. out of town take-up, 

down 30% on 2018  
(Source: LOAF Jan ‘20)

4.3% (17,900 people) 
UNEMPLOYMENT RATE

 below regional, above national; 22.1% 
(114,100 people) economically inactive – 

slightly below regional, slightly above national 
 (Source: ONS APS, Dec ‘19) 

MAJOR REGENERATION
and infrastructure projects  

include HS2 and South Bank

• Employment in Leeds 

• Unemployment in Leeds

• GVA (Gross Value Added) per 
filled workforce job (current 
prices) 

• Number of new business 
start-ups and scale-ups

• Business survival rate  
(after 5 years)

• Change in business rates 
payable since 2017 revaluation

• Visitor economic impact  
for Leeds

• Percentage of working-age 
Leeds residents with at least a 
Level 4 qualification

• Number of people supported 
to improve their skills

• Percentage of Leeds residents 
and Leeds workers earning 
below the Real Living Wage

• Number of people supported 
into work

• Number of adults of working 
age affected by in-work poverty

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

12 13

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

74.6% 

EMPLOYMENT RATE
 higher than regional,  
slightly below national

(Source: ONS APS, Dec ‘19)

6.7% 
of 16-64 yr olds  

in Leeds have no  
qualifications, below regional and national 

(Source: ONS APS, Jan to Dec ’19) 

EXAM

 

gxu

30,000
Leeds residents in full-time work 

earned below the 2019  

REAL LIVING WAGE 
of £9/hr (Estimate based on ONS ASHE, Nov ’19)

P
age 89



   

There remains enduring 
inequality in the city. Some of us 
experience worse physical and/
or mental health and wellbeing 
because of where we live, 
how much we earn, the air we 
breathe or the pressures we 
face every day. As we have 
been acutely experiencing 
throughout 2020 so far, the  
cost is too great to our people,  
our economy and our city.   
With so many factors 
contributing to health and 
wellbeing, our challenge is 
to develop a broad approach 
reflecting the importance 
of housing, employment, 
community and the environment 
whilst being specific about the 
areas we need to focus on to 
make the biggest difference.  

 

 

  

 

Health and wellbeing start with 
people: our connections with 
family, friends and colleagues; 
the behaviour, care and 
compassion we show one 
another; and the environment 
we create to live in together. 
Our ambition is for Leeds 
to be the best city for health 
and wellbeing, underpinned 
by a strong commitment to 
partnership working across 
health and care services to 
the shared vision in the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy: 

Leeds will be a 
healthy and caring 

city for all ages, where 
people who are the 

poorest improve their 
health the fastest.

 

 
HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING 

• Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy
• Leeds Children and Young People’s Plan
• Leeds Better Lives Strategy
• Leeds Health and Care Plan
• West Yorkshire and Harrogate Integrated Care 

System 5 Year Plan
• Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy
• Leeds Mental Health Strategy

  
•  Ensuring support for the health and  

social care sector to respond to and 
recover from COVID-19

•  Reducing health inequalities and improving 
the health of the poorest the fastest

•  Supporting healthy, physically  
active lifestyles 

•  Supporting self-care, with more  
people managing their own health 
conditions in the community

•  Working as a system to ensure people  
get the right care, from the right people  
in the right place  

SUICIDE RATE 
in Leeds at 

10.9 
per 100,000 people,above  
the England average of 9.6 

14 15

          SMOKING LEVELS
                              at 18.2% 

among adults in 2018, 
above the national average of 14.7%

 (Source: ONS APS 2018, published Jul ’19)   

Local GP data puts the figure  
higher at 18.7% (Oct ’19)

51.6%  
of people in receipt  

of adult social care services  
said they have as much social contact 

as they would like, higher than England 
average (45.9%) but reducing social 

isolation remains a focus 
(Source: DoH ASCOF 1I(2) 2018/19, published Oct ’19). 

67.3% 
of adults (428,300 people) are

 PHYSICALLY ACTIVE  
(150+ minutes a week)  

and the number of inactive adults  
(<30 mins a week) continues to fall. 

 (Source: Active Lives Survey  
12 months to May 2019, published Oct ’19)

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

• Infant mortality rate
• Percentage/proportion of 

children maintaining a healthy 
weight at age 11

• Percentage of physically 
active adults

• Percentage of adults who smoke
• Avoidable years of life lost
• Suicide rate
• Percentage of pupils 

achieving a good level of 
development at the end of the 
Early Years Foundation Stage

• Percentage of CQC-registered 
care services in Leeds rated 
as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’

• Number of permanent 
admissions to residential and 
nursing care homes: (a) for 
people aged 18-64 including 
12 week disregards; (b) for 
people aged 65+ including  
12 week disregards

• Proportion of people who use 
social care services who have 
control over their daily life

 The average  
QUALITY OF LIFE

 rating for people receiving adult  
social care services remains 

HIGHER THAN THE 
NATIONAL AVERAGE

 ranking Leeds 16th in the country  
(19.6 in Leeds out of a maximum of 24; 

19.1 in England)
 (Source: DoH ASCOF 1a  

2018/19, published Oct ’19)

After an increase in 2014-16,

 INFANT MORTALITY
 rates fell 2016-18 

4.0 PER 1,000
live births for 2016-18, slightly higher than  

the England average (3.9), same as regional
(Source: PHE Fingertips 2016-18 data)  

We believe we are well placed 
to respond. We are working 
with communities and partners, 
delivering asset-based 
community development 
approaches, to improve local 
support for people with care 
and support needs.  

 85.5% 
of CQC-registered  
care services in  
Leeds rated as 

‘GOOD’ or ‘outstanding’
(Snapshot Dec’19)

63.3% 
of people receiving  
adult social care services

SATISFIED OVERALL 
with their care and support, slightly 
below national average of 64.3% but 
up from the previous year’s 62.94% 
(Source: DoH ASCOF 3a 2018/19,published Oct ’19).

In addition, the network of 
national health leadership, 
health-tech and research 
organisations in the city, along 
with our city’s strong economy 
and exceptional universities, 
create a unique health and 
care infrastructure.
Leeds is a pioneer in the use 
of information and technology. 
We have a thriving third sector 
and inspiring community assets. 
We have established strong 
relationships with health and 
care partners to continue 
to pursue improvement 
and integration aimed at 
making care services 
more person-centred, 
joined-up and 
preventative, whilst 
also responding 
to the financial 
challenges across 
the whole system.

 

 

In Leeds we believe  
that our greatest strength 
and our most important  

asset is our people.

 LIFE  
EXPECTANCY 

at birth in Leeds at   

below England averages
(Source: PHE Fingertips 2015-17 data)  

82.1 
years for women, 

78.2 
years for men,

More closely aligning the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy with the Inclusive 
Growth Strategy and our Climate 
Change ambitions will be crucial to 
these efforts, reflecting the pivotal 
relationship between these three 
agendas for the city.
The Leeds Health and Care Plan 
is key in taking our work forward: 
with its focus on protecting 
the vulnerable and reducing 
inequalities, improving quality 
and consistency, and building a 
sustainable system against the 
backdrop of reducing resources.

    
    

    
    

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

     
     

      
      

        
              

                                                                                                                                                             (Source: Leeds My Health, My School Survey 2018/19
)

After 7  
consistent years,  
2018/19 saw a 2%  
increase to just under

 24% 
of pupils reporting that, on an  

average day, they eat ‘5 or  
more portions of fruit and 

vegetables’ 

During 2020 we will continue our 
work to strengthen the health and 
care system, supporting patients and 
citizens even better than before as 
we move into a period of living with 
COVID-19. This will mean ensuring 
all health and care settings have the 
supplies and equipment they require to 
provide safe care, developing cutting 
edge approaches to testing and tracing 
the disease, and continuing to push for 
a fair settlement which values the vital 
work of social care. Moreover we will 
need to remain vigilant to any lasting 
effects of the lengthy lockdown period 
on the Leeds population. 

P
age 90



   

   

Our ongoing work to reduce 
the risk of flooding is protecting 
homes and businesses, 
increasing employment and 
making tourist attractions more 
accessible. Phase 1 of the 
Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme 
has been completed and Phase 
2 is in development. 

We are working with the 
Environment Agency, partners 
and landowners on the River 
Aire to deliver natural measures 
to slow the flow of water 
upstream so the landscape 
can hold more water in times of 
flood. Along with more traditional 
engineering solutions, we 
are creating new woodland, 
managing land to reduce the flow 
of water during heavy rain and 
restoring river and flood plains.  

We want Leeds to be a healthy 
city and reducing carbon 
emissions will help. We are 
introducing a Clean Air Zone that 

will charge buses, HGVs, taxis 
and private hire vehicles that 
fail to meet the latest emissions 
standards. We are providing 
assistance and advice to help 
local organisations prepare  
and are taking forward  
measures to encourage future 
zero carbon transport.  

The renewed commitment 
to HS2, the Northern 
Powerhouse agenda, the 
agreement of a West Yorkshire 
Devolution Deal and the West 
Yorkshire Transport Strategy 

are the context for a fresh 
strategic approach for the city’s 
transport. The £270m Leeds 
Public Transport Investment 
Programme is marking a new era 
in public transport investment. 
The programme has informed 
proposals to the Transforming 
Cities Fund, which aims to 
improve productivity and spread 
prosperity through investment in 
public and sustainable transport. 
The council is also leading on 
schemes within the £1bn West 
Yorkshire Transport Fund to 
promote housing and employment 
growth. Initiatives include:

• Investing in a new Leeds 
High Frequency Bus Network, 
aiming for 90%+ of core bus 
services running every  
10 minutes  7am– 8pm.

• Reduced bus delays through 
signal technology innovation 
to enhance bus priority, 
provide better pedestrian 
facilities and improve  
stop facilities.

• New buses that meet Euro 
6 air quality standards and 
offer a better passenger 
experience by 2020 and 
support the electrification of 
the bus fleet.

A joined up approach to digital 
technology, data, infrastructure, 
digital literacy and skills across 
the whole city is vital to our 
future success. This is managed 
through the Smart Leeds 
programme. An example of this 
is the accelerated delivery of 
full fibre across the city, helping 
to directly increase Leeds’ 
economic output as well as 
providing the infrastructure for 
more sustainable new models of 
care and other public services. 
The Smart Leeds approach 
builds on assets such as the 
Open Data Institute, Data Mill 
North and Leeds Institute for 
Data Analytics (LIDA) to further 
establish Leeds as a leader in 
the application of data.

  
•  Improving transport connections, 

safety, reliability and affordability
•  Improving air quality, reducing pollution and noise
•  Improving the resilience of the city’s infrastructure  

and the natural environment, reducing flooding  
and other risks from future climate change

•  Promoting a more competitive, less wasteful,  
more resource efficient, low carbon economy

•  Strengthening digital and data ‘Smart City’  
infrastructure and increasing digital inclusion

 
SUSTAINABLE 
INFRASTRUCTURE

• Leeds Transport Strategy
• Leeds Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Strategy 
• Leeds Local Flood Risk Management Strategy
• Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy
• Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy
• West Yorkshire Low Emissions Strategy
• West Yorkshire Transport Strategy
• Transport for the North Strategic Transport Plan

16 17

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

Like other growing cities, Leeds 
faces a number of challenges, 
including adapting to climate 
change, linking people to services 
and employment, enabling 
people to better manage their 
wellbeing and increasing the 
number of people choosing 
active travel and public transport.    

Sustainable and joined up 
infrastructure has a vital role 
to play in responding to these 
challenges. A resource-efficient 
and connected city will be 
a better, healthier place to 
live, more competitive and 
better placed to ride out future 
economic and climate shocks. 
The city’s infrastructure is facing 
significant short- and medium- 
term challenges, however, as 
social distancing requirements 
have become a national priority. 

In this context, sustainability has 
taken on a new emphasis as 
safety – for people and places 
– must be central to how our 
systems operate. The realities 
of this in practice will require 
creativity, innovation and effective 
partnerships to overcome, as 
previous business models come 
under pressure and we try to 
maintain open and accessible 
public spaces while needing to 
restrict person-to-person contact.  

In tackling this, our approach 
needs to go beyond a narrow 
pursuit of growth, ensuring 
Leeds is liveable as well as 
prosperous. More intelligent 
use of public transport will 
be needed to help those who 
need it most to safely go about 
their daily lives. But we must 
recognise our earlier focus on 

rapidly  
expanding  
the use of  
public transport  
has become less  
viable, at least in the  
short term. Instead,  
working with city stakeholders 
to examine how employment, 
education, and travel should 
take place will be needed 
to manage demand. And 
of course we must all be 
mindful of avoiding a surge 
in environmentally damaging 
activity which could have 
disastrous longer term effects.

Our sustainable infrastructure  
priority reflects the council’s 
2019 declaration of a climate 
emergency and our ambition 
to work towards being a net 
zero carbon city by 2030. 
We carried out a Big Leeds 
Climate Conversation to raise 
awareness and explore what 
people thought about some 
bold ideas to cut emissions. 
The 8,000+ responses received 
and Leeds Climate Change 
Commission's and Citizens’ 
Jury's recommendations are 
informing the council’s strategy: 
practical steps we can take now 
and further work required.

• Satisfaction with a range of 
transport services

• Number of passengers 
boarding buses in the  
Leeds district

• Increase in city centre travel 
by sustainable transport (bus, 
train, cycling, walking)

• Percentage of waste recycled
• Carbon emissions across  

the city
• Level of CO2 emissions 

from council buildings and 
operations

• Number of residential and 
commercial properties moved 
to a lower level of flood risk

• Increase in tenants’ digital 
skills/confidence, access to 
equipment and motivation

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

    Connect another

1,000  
homes to  

low carbon  
district heating

That’s why the council
 is going to…

We had a Big
Leeds Climate 
Conversation…

 Switch to

 100%  
green electricity

 
INCREASE 
tree canopy 

Trial tasty,  

REDUCED-
CARBON  
school meals 

 

Enable businesses  
to trial electric vans for  

FREE

P
age 91



   

Our child-friendly city aspiration 
is visible throughout this Best 
Council Plan in the work we are 
doing to make Leeds the best city 
in the UK for children and young 
people to grow up in; to improve 
the homes and places in which 
children live and play; and to 
increase their overall health and 
wellbeing. We want to make a 
difference to the lives of children 
and young people who live in 
Leeds, to have a positive impact on 
improving outcomes for all children, 
while recognising the need for 
outcomes to improve faster for 
children from disadvantaged 
and vulnerable backgrounds. 

The interventions we make 
and the support we provide 
to achieve these aspirations 
are even more important in 
the context of the COVID-19 
pandemic which is likely to 
impact harder upon more 
disadvantaged families.

It is our poorest areas that are 
growing the fastest. As the age 
profile of these areas shows a 
greater proportion of residents 
of childbearing age, combined 
with higher housing densities 
and patterns of migration, it 
is no surprise the city’s most 
deprived communities show 
higher birth rates than the Leeds 
average. Where Leeds most 
notably stands out is for the rate 
of growth in the child population 
living in areas considered in the 
3% most deprived in England 
(Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
2019).  Between 2012 and 
2018 it is estimated the child 
population (ages 0-17) grew by

17% or 3,400 children in these 
areas (based on ONS Mid-Year 
Estimates 2018), the largest 
numerical growth of any local 
authority. 

Realising our child-friend city 
aspiration will require progress 
across all the Best Council 
Plan priorities, with renewed 
action to integrate policy 
initiatives, for example:

• Through the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, we will 
promote healthy, physically 
active lifestyles for our 
young people.

• Our pursuit of safe, strong 
communities will endeavour 
to keep young people safe 
from harm, protecting the 
most vulnerable.

• Our approach to transport 
will aim to address the 
specific requirements of 
young people.

• We will continue to engage 
with children and young 
people to help respond to 
the climate emergency, 
recognising their valuable 
roles as agents of change 
in their families, schools 
and communities.

• Improving the skills and 
education of our young 
people as they enter the 
world of work is central to our 
approach to inclusive growth.

The introduction of the 3As 
Strategy in 2019 (attendance, 
attainment and achievement) 
was driven by our ambition 
to support all children and 
young people to reach their full 
potential. The strategy aims to 
close the gaps between more 
and less advantaged children 
and young people through 
collaborating with internal and 
external partners. Children 
and young people will be 
supported to engage positively 
with education and will be 
offered opportunities that lead 
to positive, lifelong pathways.  
Through this, we will give all 
children and young people 
in Leeds, particularly those 
who are vulnerable and/or 
disadvantaged, an empowering 
start in life and enable them 
to thrive in a vibrant and 
compassionate city.

Our approach places the child 
at the heart of everything we 
do: we give children a voice, 
we give them influence, and 
we work with children, young 
people and their families to 
develop quality connections and 
relationships. This means that 
together, we can make Leeds a 
safer and better place in which 
to live, learn, and grow up.

The Leeds Children and Young 
People’s Plan explains our child-
friendly approach and sets out 
eleven priority areas of work:

1. Help children and parents 
to live in safe, supportive 
and loving families

2. Ensure that the most 
vulnerable are protected

3. Support families to give 
children the best start in life

4. Increase the number of 
children and young people 
participating and engaging 
in learning

5. Improve achievement and 
attainment for all

6. Improve at a faster rate 
educational progress for 
children and young  
people vulnerable to  
poor learning outcomes

7. Improve social, emotional and 
mental health and wellbeing

8. Encourage physical  
activity and healthy eating

9. Support young people 
to make good choices 
and minimise risk-taking 
behaviours

10. Help young people into 
adulthood, to develop life 
skills, and be ready for work

11. Improve access to affordable, 
safe, and reliable connected 
transport for young people

• Number of children who need 
to be looked after

• Number of children and young 
people subject to a child 
protection plan

• Attendance at primary and 
secondary schools

• Percentage of pupils reaching 
the expected standard in reading, 
writing and maths at the end of 
Key Stage 2 (end of year 6)

• Progress 8 score for Leeds at 
the end of Key Stage 4 (end of 
year 11)

• Percentage and number of 
young people who are NEET  
or whose status is ‘not known’

• Average Attainment 8 score 
for pupils with SEND but no 
statement

• Fixed term exclusions  
in all schools

 
CHILD-FRIENDLY 
CITY

1,288  

CHILDREN 
LOOKED AFTER

 (2018/19) down from 
1,450 (March 2011) 
an 11.2% reduction 

compared to a rise of 
19.3% nationally.  

• Leeds Children and Young People’s Plan 
• The 3As Strategy (attendance, attainment and achievement)
• Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds

  
•  Supporting families to give children the best 

start in life
•  Improving educational attainment and closing 

achievement gaps for children and young 
people vulnerable to poor learning outcomes

•  Improving social, emotional and mental 
health and wellbeing 

 •    Helping young people into adulthood, to 
develop life skills and be ready for work

 

Nearly

50,000 
0-15yr olds  
live in 10% MOST  

DEPRIVED AREAS 
in England, a third of all  
0-15 year-olds in Leeds 

(Source: IMD 2019 and ONS MYE 2018)

18 19

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

9.9% 
of 16 and 17 year olds  
(1,573 young people) 

NOT IN EDUCATION, 
EMPLOYMENT OR 
TRAINING (NEET) 

or whose activity is not known 
(2.0% NEET, 7.9% not known),  
 above regional and national.
(DfE average of Dec ’18, Jan ’19 and Feb ’19)

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

Key Stage 2: 

61% 

EXPECTED STANDARD  
in reading, writing and maths, same 
as the year before, below national. 

   

Leeds pupils achieved:
Early Years Foundation Stage: 

66.4%
GOOD LEVEL 

of development, up from 2017/18, 
below regional and national 

 

Key Stage 4 (GCSE): 

41.2%
STRONG  PASS

(grade 9-5) in English and  
Maths, up on 2017/18, below 

national. Progress 8 score +0.02, 
Leeds above all comparator groups.  

(DfE 2018/19 academic year)

P
age 92



   

  
•  Developing accessible and affordable 

transport options which help older people 
get around

•  Making Leeds’ public spaces and buildings 
accessible, safe, clean and welcoming

•  Promoting opportunities for older people to 
be healthy, active, included and respected

•  Helping older people participate in the  
city through fulfilling employment  
and learning opportunities

Leeds wants to be a 
place where people 

age well: where older 
people are valued, 
feel respected and 
appreciated, and  
are seen as the  
assets they are.  

  

The opportunities and challenges 
presented by an ageing 
population are well known. Older 
people contribute in countless 
ways to Leeds’ rich and vibrant 
communities – as volunteers and 
community connectors, through 
intergenerational interactions 
and unpaid caring roles, and as 
business owners and employees. 
But many are more likely to 
have multiple long-term health 
conditions with inequalities 
disproportionately affecting the 
poorest. 

Inequalities in older age are 
cumulative and have a significant 
impact on health, wellbeing and 
independence. Unfortunately 
some of these inequalities have 
deepened over 2020 so far 
as COVID-19 has both had a 
stronger direct impact on the 
health of older people, and the 
measures introduced to control it 
have exacerbated some existing 
challenges, such as around 
social isolation. 

Pension Credit  
is available to 

supplement the UK State 
pension and help lift people out 
of poverty; but not everyone 
entitled to pension credit claims it.   

Our approach to making Leeds 
the best city to grow old is one 
of citizenship. The approach: 
ensures there is a strong focus 
on social networks within 
neighbourhoods and the city; 
promotes social capital and 
participation; age-proofs and 
develops universal services; 
tackles inequalities and reduces 
social exclusion; aims to 
change social structures and 
tackle ageist attitudes; and 
facilitates age-friendly practices 
in local communities.

This approach has shaped a 
culture in Leeds which will help 
the whole population to recover 
well from enforced distancing, 
reconnecting with friends, 
families and communities in a 
safe and fulfilling way.

A lot of good work already 
takes place in Leeds – and in 
the council, we are looking at 
our age-friendly employment 
practices – but to give this a 
clearer strategic context we 
developed an Age-Friendly 
Strategy which cuts across all 
our Best Council Plan priorities. 

 
AGE-FRIENDLY 
LEEDS

20 21

                 This focuses our work         
around six areas adapted for Leeds 
from the WHO’s Age-Friendly City 
domains: Housing; Public and civic 
spaces; Travel and road safety; 
Active, included and respected; 
Healthy, independent ageing; 
and Employment and learning.

CROSS-CUTTING 
THEMES:

Partnership working underpins 
our Age-Friendly approach: 

• The Age-Friendly Board (Making 
Leeds the Best City to Grow Old 
In) provides strategic leadership, 
supported by a broader Age-
Friendly Leeds Partnership, 
co-led by the council and 
Leeds Older People’s Forum. 
It brings together statutory, 
voluntary and private sectors 
to address priorities identified 
by older people to help make 
Leeds more age-friendly.

• The Centre for Ageing Better, 
the council and Leeds Older 
People’s Forum are piloting 
innovative approaches to 
generate new evidence of 
‘what works’ for ageing well. 
The partnership has three 
initial priorities: 

1) Addressing older people’s 
housing information  
and advice needs   

2) Developing innovative 
community transport    
        solutions

3) The motivations, 
barriers and enablers 
that older people face 
in contributing to their 

communities

• At national and 
international levels, 
Leeds is a member 

of: the UK Network 
of Age-Friendly 
Communities which 

collaborate to 

 

bring about change in the 
way we respond to population 
ageing; the Eurocities Urban 
Ageing Forum, raising 
awareness and improving 
strategies for age-friendly 
environments in cities; and 
the World Health Organisation 
(WHO) Age-Friendly Cities, 
fostering the exchange of 
mutual learning worldwide.  

In 2019, Leeds became the 
first local authority to join over 
60 leading public and voluntary 
sector organisations to commit 
to a shared vision for healthy 
ageing in preparation for the 
WHO’s Decade of Healthy 
Ageing 2020-2030. The 
commitments are based around 
five principles for healthy 
ageing: prioritising prevention; 
creating opportunities for people 
to contribute to society as they 
age; narrowing inequalities; 
fostering inclusive homes, 
workplaces and communities; 
and challenging ageist attitudes.

Of the

people estimated  
to be living in  
the 10% most  
deprived areas  
of Leeds...

Most deprived  
areas of Leeds 
 

The 2011 Census indicated that:

232,000
people in Leeds were aged 50+

110,000
people were aged 65+ 

15,000
were aged 85+  

Leeds’ population of  
793,000 grew by 6.6%  
from 2009;those aged  
65+ went up by

13.6%
from 2009 to 2019
(ONS: 2019 Mid-Year Estimates)

  

• Income Deprivation Affecting 
Older People Index (IDAOPI) 
as a percentage compared to 
Core Cities

• Percentage of new 
developments built to accessible 
and adaptable standards

• Healthy life expectancy (years) 
by gender

• Disability-free life expectancy 
(years)

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements 

26%  
(nearly 48,500 people)  

are aged 50+

11%  
(20,500 people)  

 are aged 65+ 

1.5%  
(2,800 people)  
are aged 85+

(Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation 2019)  

190,000

• Age-Friendly Leeds Strategy

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

ACCESS TO DIGITAL 
TECHNOLOGY 

– help and support for  
people who want to use  

digital technology to  
make their lives better. 

EFFECTIVE  
COMMUNICATIONS

 – promoting ageing positively and 
providing information about services and 

activities in a format that older 
people can easily  

access and which  
suits their needs.

ENGAGEMENT  
WITH OLDER PEOPLE 

– involving and consulting with older 
people on the development, delivery, 

management and evaluation of 
those services and projects  

which affect them.

REDUCING 
INEQUALITIES 

 – recognising the barriers faced by 
older people who are, or are at risk of, 

being vulnerable or disadvantaged, and 
putting interventions in place to  

remove or reduce these barriers. 

P
age 93



    

• For Leeds to be at the 
forefront of cultural innovation, 
making the most of new and 
emerging technologies.

• For the culture sector to grow 
and increase its contribution 
to Leeds’ economy, by 
placing culture at the heart of 
the city’s narrative.

• For established cultural 
organisations to be resilient, 
and to create an environment 
where new cultural 
organisations can flourish. 

In the last few years we have 
seen Leeds’ cultural profile 
increase significantly. This has 
been a major factor in boosting 
the economy, attracting new 
businesses and jobs to the city, 
with a major highlight being 
Channel 4’s decision to move 
its national headquarters to City 
Square. We will continue to 
support creative SMEs and 
entrepreneurs and 
the spaces they 
need to develop 
their ideas and 
businesses.  

We will also encourage 
creative and cultural 
education and participation 
among our children and 
young people, understanding 
the role this can play in 
giving them the skills they 
need to thrive in 21st-century 
jobs. Employers tell us that 
with the advance of robotics 
and artificial intelligence, key 
human skills required will 
increasingly include empathy, 
communications, flexibility  
and creativity – a strong 
cultural and creative education 
remains essential.

Our approach is rooted in our 
communities and takes a wide 
definition of culture, aiming to 
embed it across areas such as 
urban regeneration, education 
and health and wellbeing.  

Since the city’s bid to be 
European Capital of Culture 
came to an end, Leeds has 
forged ahead with its plans  
to host an alternative  
year-long celebration  
of culture in 2023. 

The Leeds 2023 festival of 
culture will have a strong 

international focus and will 
celebrate the 
diverse cultures 
from across 
the globe to be 
found here. As 
we reimagine our 
city post-COVID, 

2023 can signify the 
ambition to ‘build 
back better’. Please 
visit the Leeds 2023 
website here for more 
information, including 
how to get involved. 

  
•  Growing the cultural and 

creative sector
•  Ensuring that culture can be 

created and experienced by 
anyone

•  Enhancing the image of 
Leeds through major events 
and attractions

Culture is what we 
do and who we are, 

encompassing a 
broad range of actions 

and activities which 
have the capacity to 
transform, challenge, 
reassure and inspire, 
giving a place and its 
people a unique and 
distinctive identity. 

(Our definition of culture as set out  
in the Leeds Culture Strategy) 

Leeds backs culture in its 
widest sense. We believe 
it has a vital role to play in 
realising our Best City 
ambition, recognising the 
contribution it can make to 
individuals’ physical and 

mental health,  
educational and  
employment options  
and quality of life.  
We also recognise the 
contribution it can make  
to the city’s confidence,  
profile and economy. Our 
culture both defines our rich 
differences, and brings us 
closer together – its purpose 
is the very opposite of social 
distancing.  Sharing the 
diverse cultures of our city 
helps people to get to know 
and respect their neighbours 
and it can help build wider 
community cohesion. Most 
of all, culture can be fun and 
life-affirming. Thousands of 
arts, cultural and community 
organisations, and everyone 
in the city, make Leeds’ culture 
what it is and their exceptional 
contributions will continue to 

be valued.  

Our approach is  
set out in the Leeds  
Culture Strategy which has 
seven objectives:

• For the city to value and 
prioritise cultural activity, 
using it as a means of 
improving the quality of life 
of every person and every 
community in Leeds.

• For culture to build  
respect, cohesion and 
co-existence between and 
within communities and 
individuals.

• For people, whatever their 
background, to be supported 
to be creative through 
school, informal learning, 
training, volunteering and 
employment, ensuring that 
culture can be created and 
experienced by everyone.

• For Leeds to be nationally 
and internationally 
recognised as a liveable city, 
and a thriving, internationally 
connected cultural hub open 
to collaboration.

 
CULTURE 

Cultural events  
across the city attract 

thousands 

OF PEOPLE 

including Leeds Pride, 
Leeds West Indian Carnival, 
Leeds Light Night and  
Leeds International  
Film Festival

• Leeds Culture Strategy

KPIs 
We want everyone in Leeds to…

22 23

• Leeds’ Cultural Vibrancy, 
Creative Economy and 
Enabling Environment (as 
measured through the 
biennial European Cultural 
and Creative Cities Monitor). 

• Number of visitors at a range 
of venues and events

• Number of employees in the 
creative industries in Leeds

 

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

Leeds Museums  
& Galleries is the 

LARGEST 

local authority-run museum 
service in England, welcoming

1.7m visitors
 across its 9 sites in 2018/19 

 

INTERNATIONAL  
CULTURAL 
FESTIVAL 

for everyone, celebrating the  
diverse cultural life of Leeds

Leeds city 
 centre has 

 PURPLE  
FLAG STATUS

recognising excellence in managing  
  the evening and night time economy

Many of Leeds’ parks awarded  

GREEN FLAG STATUS 

 (2019) e.g. Roundhay, Golden Acre,  
Pudsey, Middleton, Kirkstall  

       Abbey & Temple Newsam

P
age 94



   

One of the biggest challenges 
Leeds faces is to provide 
enough quality and accessible 
homes to meet the city’s 
growing population, whilst 
protecting the quality of the 
environment and respecting 
community identity. The need 
for affordable housing and 
affordable warmth are key 
issues in meeting this 
challenge.

 

The Leeds Housing 
Strategy sets out 
our ambitions for 

effectively meeting 
housing need  
to make Leeds 
the best place 

to live.

We continue to deliver six 
priorities within the Leeds 
Housing Strategy:

• affordable housing growth
• improving housing quality 
• promoting independent living 
• creating sustainable 

communities
• improving health through 

housing
• meeting the needs of older 

residents 

Following the council’s 
declaration of a climate 
emergency, we can add 
another to this set of priorities:

• Improving housing energy 
performance

In practice, we are co-ordinating 
activity to meet housing 
needs, improve existing 
housing and regenerate 
neighbourhoods, and to 
secure housing growth of the 
right scale, type (including a 
good mix of housing size and 
tenure) and quality.  

In recent years there has been 
a growth in the private rented 
sector. The council supports 
landlords via the Leeds Rental 
Standard, self-regulation 
for the sector, and forums.  
Poor landlords are targeted 
by proactively addressing 
standards via regulation and 
initiatives such as the Leeds 
Neighbourhood Approach, 
selective licensing and the 
Rogue Landlord Unit. 

Working with developers and 
housing associations, we 
maximise opportunities to 
build new homes – including 
affordable homes – and bring 
empty homes back into use.

• Leeds Housing Strategy
• Leeds Core Strategy
• Leeds Site Allocations Plan
• Leeds Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy

 
HOUSING  
•  Housing of the right quality,  

type, tenure and affordability  
in the right places

•  Minimising homelessness through 
a greater focus on prevention

•  Providing the right housing  
options to support older and 
vulnerable residents to remain 
active and independent

•  Improving energy performance in 
homes and reducing fuel poverty 

 

 

This is above the 

 10.9% 

England and regional 
(10.6%) averages but  
down from 13.1%  
(42,929 households)  
the year before. 

(Source: BEIS Sub-regional fuel  
poverty, England, published Jun ‘19)

11.1% 
(36,926) of Leeds households 

estimated to live in 

FUEL POVERTY
in 2017, meaning their  
energy costs are high  
relative to their 
incomes.

24 25

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

• Growth in new homes  
in Leeds 

• Number of affordable  
homes delivered

• Housing mix in the city 
• Percentage of housing 

adaptations completed  
within target timescale 

• Improved energy and  
thermal efficiency 
performance of houses

• Number of households in  
fuel poverty

• Number of homeless 
preventions 

• Number of rough sleepers  
in Leeds

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

  
The council has committed to 
a significant council housing 
new build programme, including 
specialist Extra Care housing 
schemes, which are being built 
to the Leeds Standard: better 
urban design, meeting space 
standards and using sustainable 
construction. We work closely 
with health agencies to ensure 
that homes meet the health 
needs of residents, carrying 
out adaptations and rehousing 
support to enable disabled 
people to live independently and 
prevent admission to hospital  
or residential care.  

1,160 

adaptations installed in council 
homes to meet tenants’ needs 
(2018/19)

199,401 
repairs carried out on  
council housing across the city
(2018/19) 
Investment in the energy 
efficiency of homes is more 
important than ever before, 
helping us in our work to 
both respond to the climate 
emergency and tackle fuel 
poverty. Following extensive 
investment over the last 
fifteen years in insulation and 
efficient heating systems, 
council housing is at ‘C’ for 
energy efficiency (as at 2019) 

compared to ‘D’ for housing 
as a whole. The authority 
has now secured funding to 
install external wall insulation 
on much of its own back-
to-back stock and to roll 
out domestic solar, with the 
ability to store energy. We are 
building new council homes 
to near Passivhaus standards 
and investing heavily in 
retrofit programmes to bring 
all existing homes to this 
standard. The costs of this 
retrofit are high, in excess of 
£1bn, so the council is lobbying 
for enhanced national funding.

More significant challenges 
lie in the owner occupied and 
private rented sector where local 
authorities have less influence. 
However, Leeds will continue 
to support charities such as 
LATCH and Canopy who bring 
older properties back into use 
after extensive energy efficiency 
works and call for measures at 
a national level to improve the 
energy efficiency of privately 
rented and owned homes.     

All of this work is done through 
the lens of the council’s climate 
emergency declaration through 
which we are committed to 
making Leeds carbon neutral 
by 2030. This will require all 
homes to be well insulated, 
with low or zero carbon heating 
and many with integrated 
renewables by this time.  

We continue to be successful 
at minimising homelessness 
through prevention initiatives, 
ensuring that no person needs 
to sleep rough in Leeds.  
Vulnerable young people, 
adults and families are helped 
further through our Housing 
Related Support Programme.  

Our Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy sets out five 
themes that provide the 
framework for our work:

• Minimise rough sleeping
• Maximise homeless prevention
• Future role of housing related 

support in Leeds
• Youth homelessness
• A focus on  

priority  
groups

51 
households owed a  
housing duty as a homeless 
household in emergency  

TEMPORARY 
ACCOMMODATION
compared to Birmingham (2,477 
placements) and Manchester 
(1,971 placements) (end Sep 2019).

3,521 
newly built and  
converted homes  
delivered, Leeds’  
best result since 2012.  
433 of these affordable 
homes (2018/19)

P
age 95



   

Leeds is a growing and richly 
diverse city, with people of 
different ages, backgrounds, 
cultures and beliefs living and 
working alongside each other. As 
a City of Sanctuary, we celebrate 
this diversity and want Leeds 
to be a welcoming city for all, 
where people get on with each 
other and feel part of their local 
neighbourhood. To achieve this, 
we need strong local leadership, 
to increase community 
conversations to resolve 
problems locally, raise aspirations, 
create better links to social and 
economic opportunities, and 
improve resilience to extremist 
narratives. Increasing community 
engagement and participation 
will reduce dependency on public 
services, building thriving, more 
resilient communities that make 
the best use of their strengths and 
assets to overcome challenges.  

Never more so have we seen 
the strength and perseverance 
of our communities than over 
recent months. The COVID-19 
pandemic has brought real 
emotional and financial 
hardship to too many families, 
but it has also seen Leeds’ 
community spirit come into its 
own – truly the compassionate 
city in action. 

Whether it’s the thousands 
of people who volunteered 
to help those shielding at 
home, the businesses and 
charities which have supported 
the council’s food distribution 
efforts, or the coalition of voices 
responding to an uptick in 
domestic violence and abuse, 
Leeds has ensured that nobody 
is left isolated and forgotten 
throughout the challenge we 
are facing together. 

Central to our ambition is 
a place-based, integrated 
approach to service delivery, 
and a focus on tackling poverty 
and reducing inequality in some 
of our poorest neighbourhoods.
We are working seamlessly 
with partners from all sectors to 
meet the needs and demands 
of communities, regardless of 
responsibility for resources.   

Underpinning all our 
work is our ambition for 
Leeds to be inclusive, 
where all citizens are 

treated fairly. 

We are bringing people together to 
make a difference and help them 
to do more for themselves and 
others so that their communities 
can thrive, making sure that:

• Local councillors are at the 
forefront of our approach to 
community leadership, their 
community knowledge used 
effectively to plan local services

• Percentage of people with a 
concluded safeguarding enquiry 
for whom their desired outcomes 
were fully or partially met

• Self-reporting of domestic 
violence and abuse incidents 

• Number of people killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic collisions 

• Council tenant satisfaction with the 
neighbourhood as a place to live

• Percentage of Leeds residents 
who say they feel safe in their 
local area

• Number of reported anti-social 
behaviour / nuisance incidents

• Number of reported hate incidents

 
SAFE, STRONG 
COMMUNITIES 

• Safer Leeds Plan
• Leeds Children and Young People’s Plan
• Citizens@Leeds – Supporting communities and 

tackling poverty 
• Leeds City Council Equality Improvement Priorities
• Community Committees Annual Report

  
•  Keeping people safe from harm,  

protecting the most vulnerable
•  Helping people out of financial hardship
•  Tackling crime and anti-social behaviour
•  Being responsive to local needs,  

building thriving, resilient communities
•  Promoting community respect  

and resilience

26 27

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

 

• Residents, communities, 
businesses and organisations 
are equal partners

• Local people are engaged 
to achieve things we cannot 
achieve alone and we add 
value to their activities

• The city’s strategic priorities are 
aligned to local communities 
to deliver joint action

• Tools and support are provided 
so local people can take action  
and we share information, 
skills and resources

This approach expands on the 
work of Community Committees 
by outlining a more joined-up 
service offer in several inner 
area priority wards and outer 
area priority social housing 
estates, and importantly those 
neighbourhoods which fall into 
the 1% most deprived nationally. 
The work of Community 
Committees is promoted through 
@_YourCommunity.

Recognising our communities 
are more diverse than ever, 
our strategic approach to 
migration is based on engaging 
with established and new 
communities to improve the way 
we communicate how our city 
works. This is complex work, 
involving multiple partners, 
through which a wide range of 
support is provided to improve 
access to advice and services to 
those who are new to the 

city, including some of our most 
vulnerable residents. More 
information @_CohesionLeeds.

Our comprehensive approach 
to equality helps meet our local 
authority statutory obligations 
and wider city aspirations. This 
includes our work to engage 
with and support Leeds’ under-
represented groups, ensuring 
their voices are heard and they 
feel included in key decisions. 
More information about the city’s 
work to address equality can be 
found @_InclusiveLeeds.

105,508 CRIMES
 (Jan to Dec ’19),  

up 1% on the year before

Of incidents reported to police 
 (12 months to end Dec ’19):

2,202 
RACE HATE

 (76% of all hate incidents  
reported), down 4%  

on the year before 

15,715 

ANTI-SOCIAL  
BEHAVIOUR (ASB)

 down 14% on the year before 

21,889 

DOMESTIC
up by 9 incidents  

on the year before

We will continue to work to  
make all our communities  
safe for everyone,  
preventing risks,  
threats and harms,  
whether from  
anti-social   
behaviour, hate  
crime, domestic 
violence or theft  
and burglary.  

This includes a continued 
commitment to meeting 
the statutory Prevent Duty: 
ensuring the city’s safeguarding 
arrangements are fit for purpose 
in order to protect and support 
those most vulnerable from 
being drawn into extremism and 
terrorist-related activities. We 
will also take a wide approach 
to inclusive growth, working to 
make the connections between 
tackling low pay and promoting 
skills and career progression, 
with the challenges of welfare 
reform and financial hardship.   

23,215
people helped by the council’s 
Welfare Rights Unit  

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

BENEFIT

£

gxu

             33 

  volunteer coordinator hubs 
across the city, supported by 5,200 
volunteers to respond to COVID-19

!@***!!

82% 
of people  
surveyed  
said they  

FELT SAFE
 in their local area,  
compared to 80%  

across West Yorkshire
(Source: Office of Police Commissioner  

‘Your Views’ survey, 12 months to end Dec ’19)

76 %
of people surveyed were 

SATISFIED 
with their local area as a place 

to live, above the West  
Yorkshire average of 73%

(Source: Office of Police &  
Crime Commissioner ‘Your Views’ survey,  

12 months to end Dec ‘19)

P
age 96



!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

#

!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

OUTCOMES

£9
1.
4m

£2
7.9

m

£23
.0m

£14.4m

£123.8m£1
26
.6m

£57.7m

£31.6m

You can stay up to date with all our news  
and services throughout the year.

www.leeds.gov.uk

LeedsCC_News

Leedscouncil

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Leeds Health and  
Wellbeing Strategy  

2016-2021

‘Leeds will be a healthy  
and caring city for all ages,  
where people who are the 
poorest improve their  
health the fastest’.

Page 99



The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

In Leeds, as we grow up and as we grow 
old, the people around us, the places we 
live in, the work we do, the way we move 
and the type of support we receive, will all 
keep us healthier for longer. We will build 
resilience, live happier, healthier lives, do 
the best for one another and provide the 
best care possible to be the best city for 
health and wellbeing. 

Underpinning this statement we’ve identified five outcomes – 
the conditions of wellbeing we want to realise for everyone in 
Leeds. We have twelve priority areas that we will focus on to 
make change happen, and some indicators by which we can 
measure our progress. Collectively, these outcomes, priorities 
and indicators give us a framework to test whether the work we 
do is making a difference to the people of Leeds. Other strategies 
and action plans will provide further detail on how specific parts 
of the citywide vision can be achieved over the next five years. 

The launch of our new strategy comes at a particularly 
important and challenging moment for health and care 
services. As NHS England’s Five Year Forward View 
recognises, to achieve consistently high quality care for 
everyone, respond to demographic change and achieve 
long-term financial sustainability across the health and care 
system, we must do things differently. 

Leeds is well placed to respond. The network of national health 
leadership and research organisations in the city, along with our 
city’s relatively strong economy and exceptional universities, 
creates a unique health and care infrastructure. Leeds is a 
pioneer in the use of information and technology. We have a 
thriving third sector and inspiring community assets. There 
has never been a stronger commitment to partnership working 
across health and care services. The 
change required is significant, but it 
is possible  if we work towards a 
shared vision. 

This strategy provides that 
vision. It invites everyone to 
play an active part in making 
Leeds a healthy and caring 
city for all ages, where people 
who are the poorest improve 
their health the fastest.
 

 

In Leeds we believe that our greatest strength and our most 
important asset is our people. Wellbeing starts with people: 
our connections with family, friends and colleagues; the 
behaviour, care and compassion we show one another; the 
environment we create to live in together. 

Our Health and Wellbeing Strategy is about how we put in 
place the best conditions in Leeds for people to live fulfilling 
lives – a healthy city with high quality services. Everyone in 
Leeds has a stake in creating a city which does the very best 
for its people. This strategy is our blueprint for how we will 
achieve that. It is led by the partners on the Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Board and it belongs to everyone. 

We’re ambitious: we want Leeds to be the best city for health 
and wellbeing. Our first Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 
which ran from 2013-15, laid positive foundations for that. 
Leeds has seen a reduction in infant mortality as a result of 
our more preventative approach; we’ve been recognised for 
improvements in services for children; we became the first 
major city to successfully roll out an integrated, electronic 
patient care record; and early deaths from avoidable causes 
have decreased at the fastest rate in our most deprived wards. 

These are achievements to be proud of, but they are only 
the start. We continue to face significant health inequalities 
between different groups. A relentless focus on reducing these 
inequalities will remain at the forefront of our efforts over the 
coming five years. That is why Leeds vision remains to be a 
healthy and caring city for all ages, where people who are 
the poorest will improve their health the fastest. 

This new strategy has a wide remit. So many factors 
contribute to our health and wellbeing, meaning our 
challenge is to reflect the breadth of the agenda, whilst being 
specific about the areas we need to focus on to make the 
biggest difference. A simple statement of intent captures the 
connectivity between the multiple factors that contribute to 
people living healthier lives.

Foreword 

by Councillor Lisa Mulherin  
Chair of the Leeds Health & Wellbeing Board

Leeds – The Best City for Health and Wellbeing

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board2 3

P
age 100



Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

In Leeds, as we grow up and as we grow old,                     the people around us, the places w
e live in, the w

ork w
e do, the w

ay w
e m

ove and the                   type of support we receive, will keep us healthier for longer. We will build resilie
nce, liv

e h
ap

pie
r, h

ea
lth

ie
r l

ive
s,

 d
o 

th
e 

be
st

 fo
r o

ne
 a

no
th

er
 a

nd
 p

ro
vi

de
 th

e 
be

st
 c

ar
e 

po
ss

ibl
e.

In Leeds, as we grow up.. and as we grow old…                   the people around us.. the places w
e live in.. the w

ork w
e do.. the w

ay w
e m

ove and the...                 ..type of support we receive ..will keep us healthier for longer. We will build resilie
nce.. li

ve

 ha
pp

ier
, h

ea
lth

ie
r l

ive
s.

. d
o 

th
e 

be
st

 fo
r o

ne
 a

no
th

er
 a

nd
.. 

pr
ov

id
e 

th
e 

be
st

 c
ar

e 
po

ss
ibl

e.

Promote mental 
and physical 
health equally

=

10

Leeds Health and Wellbeing  
Strategy 2016-2021

We have a bold ambition: 

‘Leeds will be the best city 
for health and wellbeing’.
And a clear vision:

‘Leeds will be a healthy and  
caring city for all ages,  
where people who are the  
poorest improve their  
health the fastest’.

IndicatorsA Child Friendly 
City and  
the best  
start 
in life

11

A valued, well 
trained and 
supported 
workforce

1

The best care,  
in the right place, 

at the right time
12

People’s quality of life will 
be improved by access to 
quality services

People will live 
longer and have 
healthier lives 

People will live 
full, active and 
independent lives

People will be actively 
involved in their health 
and their care

People will live in healthy, 
safe and sustainable 
communities

5      Outcomes

1.

2.

3.

4. 

5.

 

12 
Priority  
areas

Support self-care, 
with more people 

managing their 
own conditions

9

Strong, 
engaged and 

well-connected 
communities

 

3

A strong 
economy with 
quality, local jobs

5

Get more 
people, more 
physically 
active,  
more  
often

6

In our city…
wellbeing starts 
with people and 
everything is 
connected 

An Age Friendly 
City where 

people age well

A stronger focus 
on prevention

8

Maximise the 
benefits from 
information and 
technology

7

4

Housing  
and the  

environment  
enable all  

people of Leeds 
to be healthy

2

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

• Infant mortality

• Good educational  
attainment at 16

• People earning a Living Wage 

• Incidents of domestic violence

• Incidents of hate crime

• People affording to heat  
their home

• Young people in employment, 
education or training

• Adults in employment 

• Physically active adults

• Children above a  
healthy weight

• Avoidable years of life lost

• Adults who smoke

• People supported to manage 
their health condition

• Children’s positive view  
of their wellbeing

• Early death for people with  
a serious mental illness

• Employment of people with  
a mental illness

• Unnecessary time patients 
spend in hospital

• Time older people spend  
in care homes

• Preventable hospital 
admissions

• Repeat emergency visits  
to hospital

• Carers supported

4 5

P
age 101



Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Draft for approval by H&WB Board

6

Overall, health in Leeds remains worse than the England  
average. Thousands of people in deprived areas  
live shorter lives than they should. Costs of providing high  
quality care continue to rise. This strategy helps us plan  
how to address key challenges, so health and  
wellbeing in Leeds can be better, fairer and sustainable. 

Over the next 25 years the number of people who live in Leeds is  
predicted to grow by over 15 per cent. The number of people aged  
over 65 is estimated to rise by almost a third to over 150,000 by 2030.  
The city is going to provide more complex care for more people.

The Challenges

Improving  
health and care services

As more people develop multiple long term conditions, focus 
shifts from curing illnesses to managing health conditions. 
Health and care services need to adapt to these changes. 

Too often care is organised around single illnesses rather than all 
of an individual’s needs. Many people are treated in hospitals when 
care in their own homes and communities would be better for them. 
Services can sometimes be hard to access and difficult to navigate.

Leeds will focus on making care services more person-
centred, integrated and preventative. All organisations need to 
work together to achieve this.

Improving health services needs to happen alongside achieving 
financial sustainability. This is a major challenge. Rising cost 
pressures means a potentially significant financial gap by 2021 
across Leeds health and social care organisations. Making the 
best use of the collective resources across organisations will 
help us sustain and develop the city’s health and care system.Improving  

health and 
wellbeing

Becoming a healthier, happier city requires 
improvements in living conditions and lifestyle choices.

164,000 people in Leeds live in areas ranked amongst 
the most deprived 10 per cent nationally. One in five 
children in Leeds live in poverty. People living in deprived 
neighbourhoods are more likely to experience multiple 
disadvantage, die earlier, and have more years in long-term 
ill health. This is wrong and it needs to change.

Improving health requires having better social and  
economic conditions. For example, people living 
in good quality affordable houses, achieving in 
education and working in good jobs.

The majority of early deaths are related to unhealthy 
lifestyles; smoking, excessive alcohol use, poor diet, 
and low levels of physical activity. More often than not, 
people who develop long term health conditions have  
two or more of these risk factors. Poor lifestyle choices 
shorten lives and burden the health system. To be the best  
city for health and wellbeing everyone must work together 
to get mentally and physically healthier.

£700million 
estimated funding gap 
between resources  
and requirements
by 2021

12% 
of households 
in Leeds are in 
fuel poverty 10yrs 

difference in 
life expectancy 
between Hunslet 
and Harewood 

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

A relentless focus on:

Reducing health  
inequalities in Leeds

Creating a high quality  
health and care system

Having a financially  
sustainable health  

and care system

10%  
reduction in  

emergency hospital  
admissions could help  

us afford teams of  
2 GPs, 2 nurses and  

6 community care workers 
(in each of the 13 neighbourhood areas in Leeds)

6Page 102



A Child Friendly 
City and the best 
start in life

There is a huge opportunity to improve health and wellbeing 
outcomes by focusing on children and young people. The best 
start in life provides important foundations for good health and 
wellbeing throughout life. 

This means the best start for every 
Leeds baby from conception to age 
two, providing high quality, joined-up 
maternity and antenatal care guided 
by the mother’s needs for supported 
families, strong attachments and positive 
infant wellbeing. It means professionals 
adopting the Leeds ‘Think Family, Work 
Family’ protocol, ensuring solutions are 
coordinated around needs and assets in 
families and the wider community.

Leeds must focus on reducing child obesity 
and the differences which exist across the city. 
Prevalence among children in the most deprived 
areas of Leeds is double that of children in the 
least deprived areas. We must address this 
through long-term coordinated action. For 
example, we can change environmental design, 
available food choices and education.  

We must also continue to promote mental health and 
emotional wellbeing for all children and young people in 
Leeds.  A transformation plan reviewing the whole system 
of support for social, emotional and mental health and 
wellbeing will focus on enabling children and young people 
to access services quickly, easily and effectively.

Priorities

An Age Friendly 
City where 
people age well

1 in 5 people in Leeds are aged over 60. Our ageing population 
presents opportunities for the city and challenges for our health 
system. We want Leeds to be the best city in the UK to grow old in.

Being an Age Friendly City 
means promoting ageing 
positively and maximising 
opportunity for older people to 
contribute to the life of Leeds. 
We must build on the strengths 
of older people and recognise 
first and foremost their roles 
as employees, volunteers, 
investors and consumers. Our 
built environment, transport, 
housing must all promote independence and social inclusion.

Health and care services will focus on supporting independent 
living, reducing falls and reducing excess deaths during the 
winter. As a city we will talk with local communities about 
dying and bereavement to support people to plan for their last 
years of life.

Strong, engaged 
and well-
connected 
communities

The relationships and 
resources in communities are 
building blocks for good health. 
Leeds has brilliant and diverse 
communities, well-established 
neighbourhood networks and 
a thriving third sector; we must 
harness these strengths. 

There are vulnerable groups and areas of the city which 
experience health inequalities. These include people in poverty, 
migrants, refugees and asylum seekers, the homeless and 
people with disabilities. People’s health outcomes can also 
depend on specific characteristics, such as ethnicity, gender 
and sexuality, amongst others. For some groups, tailored work 
can help close the gap in health outcomes, sensitive to specific 
needs. This also applies for those with learning and/or physical 
disabilities who need specific support in order to thrive in the 
city. Fair access to person-centred services, which 
build on individual and community strengths, will help 
reduce health inequalities in Leeds.

34% 
of children  
aged 11 in  
Leeds have  
an unhealthy 
weight

37,000
Estimated number 
of older people 
who experience 
social isolation or 
loneliness

Social isolation and loneliness can have a bad effect on 
people’s health. This is particularly true for vulnerable groups and 
people with high levels of need. We want a city where no one is 
lonely, with diverse opportunities for people to live healthy, active 
and fulfilling lives. 

Carers are crucial to our communities. Our 70,000 plus unpaid 
carers help health and social care to function, supporting 
thousands of people. We must continue to recognise, value 
and support these carers. We will identify the needs 
and contribution of carers early on when decisions 
are being made about care and support. The physical, 
mental and economic wellbeing of carers also needs to be 
continually promoted.

Housing and 
the environment 
enable all people 
of Leeds to be 
healthy, social  
and active

To be a healthy city, our environment must promote positive 
wellbeing. This means Leeds houses are affordable, warm, 
secure, and support independent living. This includes 
developments as part of the 70,000 new homes proposed in 
Leeds between 2012 and 2028.

Green space, leisure provision and 
walking and cycling opportunities 
promote health and happiness. 
Considerations about future growth 
must ensure adequate provision 
of quality and accessible open 
spaces. Areas of Leeds with the 
lowest overall green space provision 
are predominantly inner city, high density housing areas.  
We need to address this to reduce health inequalities.

As Leeds grows and care settings change, facilities must 
enable the best care to be provided in the right place for 
the most efficient use of resources. Health and social care 
organisations need to ensure there are enough facilities 
and they are fit for purpose for those who use them and 
work in them. 

A strong  
economy with 
quality local jobs

A good job is really  
important for good health 
and wellbeing of working 
age people. To reduce social 
inequalities, Leeds needs a 

strong local economy driving sustainable economic 
growth for all people across the city. This includes creating 
more jobs and better jobs, tackling debt and addressing health 
related worklessness. 

One of our biggest economic strengths as a city is our 
health and medical sector, with a wealth of talent and 
huge concentration of innovative organisations. With 
collaboration across private, public, academic and community 
organisations, Leeds is perfectly placed to be a great 
location for health innovation.  

We must also recognise that health and care organisations 
employ a huge number of people in the city. We must do all we 
can to promote the health and wellbeing of the workforce and 
reduce social inequalities through how people are employed.

Get more 
people, more 
physically 
active, more 
often

If everybody at every age gets more physically active, 
more often, we will see a major improvement in health and 
happiness. We can reduce obesity, improve our wellbeing, 
become more socially connected and recover better from 
health problems.

One in five adults in Leeds is inactive. As 
a general rule, the more we move, the 
greater the benefit. The biggest benefit 
will be for those who are currently inactive. 
We should focus efforts here. 

We want Leeds to be the most active 
big city in England. This requires wide-
ranging action, including inspiring people 
to be active and targeting participation in 

sports and other activities to specific geographic areas and 
groups. It means including physical activity as part of 
treatment more. It also means making active travel the 
easiest and best option wherever possible, with lots more 
walking and cycling due to good infrastructure, creative 
planning and behaviour change.

Maximise the 
benefits from 
information and 
technology

New technology can give 
people more control of their 
health and care and enable 
more coordinated working 
between organisations. 

This includes continuing the development of the Leeds 
Care Record to ensure professionals directly involved in 
care have access to the most up-to-date information. People 
want to tell their story once and choose the channel they 
use to communicate. Joined-up information enables this. 

Physical  
inactivity is our
 4th largest 
cause of disease 
and disability

7

1

2

3

6

5

4

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing BoardLeeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board7 8

P
age 103



We also want patients to have access to and control over 
their personal health records. Linked to this, for planning and 
decision making, we need to make better use of the data 
which is held by organisations in Leeds.

We want to make better use of technological innovations 
in patient care, particularly for long term conditions 
management. This will support people to more effectively 
manage their own conditions in ways which suit them.

A stronger focus 
on prevention

There are some specific 
areas where we can make 
a really big difference to 
prevent ill health. 

We need to maintain a 
continued focus on obesity, 
smoking and harmful 
drinking. A radical upgrade  
in prevention requires  
a whole-city approach. 
Obesity is a huge local and 
national challenge. It is 
preventable, but is currently 
rising due to poor diet, low 
levels of physical activity 
and environments which 
encourage unhealthy weight. 

About half of people born after 1960 will develop some form 
of cancer during their lifetime. Many of these can be linked 
to lifestyle choices. Cancer prevention, early diagnosis and 
successful therapy will reduce inequalities and save money. 
Leeds must pursue a sustained programme to increase  
public awareness of lifestyles which increase the risk  
of cancer and support lifestyle changes. 

Our services need to be more proactive and preventative in 
their approach. This will involve making more use of evidence-
based interventions at the early stages of 
disease. Local, timely and easy access 
to tests and treatment will be important to 
prevent conditions getting worse, together 
with a focus on earlier identification of 
those at higher risk of hospital admission. 
These approaches should help people 
remain healthy and independent for longer.

To protect the health of Leeds’ 
communities, infection prevention and 
control, and environmental 
hazards such as air quality and 
excess seasonal deaths will 
be improved by a coordinated 
local and regional partnership 
approach. The Leeds Health 
Protection Board lead on  
this key agenda.

Cancer deaths  
account for over 

 
 30%  

of the life  
expectancy gap 

between Leeds and  
the rest of England

8

Support self-care, 
with more people 
managing their 
own conditions
Long term conditions are the 
leading causes of death and 

disability in Leeds and account for 
most of our health and care spending. 

Cases of cancer, diabetes, respiratory disease, dementia 
and cardiovascular disease will increase as the population 
of Leeds grows and ages. There will be a rise in the number 
of people living with at least two health conditions and this 
is most common in deprived areas of the city.  We must see 
a shift in the way care is provided to enable people to better 
manage their own health conditions. 

We must focus on supporting people to maintain 
independence and wellbeing within local communities 
for as long as possible. People need to be more involved in 
decision making and their own care planning by setting goals, 
monitoring symptoms and solving problems. To do this, care 
must be person-centred, coordinated around all of 
an individual’s needs through networks of care rather than 
single organisations treating single conditions.

To have more active involvement in health and care we all 
need to make the most appropriate use of services. We need 
to make sure the best thing for people to do is the 
easiest thing for people to do. This means having better 
and more coordinated information to make it easier for people 
to understand what to access and when. 

Promote mental 
health and 
physical health 
equally

Our ambitions for mental health 
are crucial for reducing health 

inequalities. Good employment, 
opportunities to learn, decent 
housing, financial inclusion and debt 
are all key determinants of emotional 
wellbeing and good mental health. 
Improving mental health is 
everyone’s business. We want 
to see this led by employers, service 
providers and communities. 

=

People with severe 
mental illness die on 

average  

15-20 years 
earlier than the rest of 

the population

10

9

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board9

The Leeds Mental Health Framework will 
be implemented to improve services across 
the city. By redesigning community mental health 
services with improved information and advice and 
more joined up working we can improve access 
and reduce repeat assessments. Care for people 
experiencing a mental health crisis will be improved, 
with crisis resolution available 24/7 and more 
provision within health and social care.

We need improved integration 
of mental and physical 
health services around all 
the needs of individuals. This 
means addressing the physical 
health needs of those living 
with mental illness, and always 
considering the mental and 
emotional wellbeing of those 
with physical illness.

Three quarters of lifetime mental illness (except dementia) 
begins by the age of 25, so mental health and wellbeing support 
for children and families is a priority. This includes early support 
for women during pregnancy and the first few months post-birth, 
improved links with schools and better experiences for service 
users as they move between children and adult services.

A valued,  
well-trained 
and supported 
workforce 

We have a highly motivated, 
creative and caring workforce 
in our city, working hard to 
deliver high quality care for 

people in Leeds. This workforce, many of whom live as well as 
work in the city, are a huge asset for making change happen.

We should work as one workforce for Leeds. Shared 
values and collaborative working will support joined-up 
services. New population-based models of care will require 
the development of multi-disciplinary working across 
organisational boundaries. Better workforce planning can 
ensure the workforce is the right size and has the knowledge 
and skills needed to meet future demographic challenges. 

Working fully in partnership with the third sector and 
those in caring and volunteer roles in the community will be 
crucial to make the most of our city wide assets.  

Leeds is one of the 
best places in the 
UK to work in health 
and social care. We 
need to build on 
this through world-
class education 
and training, 

attracting people who reflect the full diversity of our population. 
This will ensure we continue to build the very best, modern 
and fit for purpose workforce for Leeds now and in the future.

The best care, in 
the right place,  
at the right time

For more effective, efficient 
health and care we need  
to move more services 
from hospitals to 
community settings.  

This needs population–based, integrated models of 
care, sensitive to the needs of local communities. This 
must be supported by better integration between physical 
and mental health care with care provided in and out of hospital. 

Services closer to home will be provided by integrated 
multidisciplinary teams working proactively to reduce 
unplanned care and avoidable hospital admissions. They will 
improve coordination for getting people back home after a 
hospital stay. These teams will be rooted in neighbourhoods and 
communities, with coordination between primary, community, 
mental health and social care. They will need to ensure care is 
high quality, accessible, timely and person-centred. 

Providing care in the most appropriate setting will ensure our 
health and social care system can cope with surges in demand 
with effective urgent and emergency care provision.

Our health and social care commissioner and provider 
organisations will lead the coordination of these changes 
over the coming years, starting with the city’s five year 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan. How services 
are configured and where they are placed will change over the 
coming years, so engagement with local populations is 
really important.

 57,000  people work in  
health and care 

 in Leeds

 105,000  people in the city 
suffer from anxiety  

and depression

12

11

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board10

P
age 104



Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Draft for approval by H&WB Board

11

The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

One city... everyone plays a part
Provide leadership and 

direction to help and 
influence everyone to 

achieve the 5 outcomes

Provide a public forum 
for decision making and 

engagement across  
health and wellbeing

Continually ask what we 
are all doing to reduce 

health inequalities, create 
a sustainable system and 

improve wellbeing

Provide and commission services 
which support the priorities of the 

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Make plans with people, 
understanding their needs and 

designing joined-up services around 
the needs of local populations

Provide the best quality services 
possible, making most effective  

use of ‘the Leeds Pound’ - our  
collective resource in the city

Support the priorities  
of the Leeds Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy

Create plans and strategies 
which help achieve specific 
priorities and outcomes of  

the Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy

Promote partnerships 
wherever possible, working as 

one organisation for Leeds

Support vulnerable members of 
the community to be healthy and 

have strong social connections

Take ownership and responsibility 
for promoting community  

health and wellbeing

Make best use of community 
assets and leadership to  

create local solutions

Take ownership and 
responsibility for promoting 

personal health and wellbeing

Be proactive in accessing 
services which are available

Get involved in influencing and 
making change in Leeds

Individuals

Local 
Communities

Other 
Boards and 
Groups

Leeds 
Health and 
Wellbeing 
Board

Health 
and Care 
Organisations 
in Leeds

One health and care system... 
consistently asking

Can I get the right 
care quickly at 
times of crisis or 
emergency?

Can I get effective 
testing and treatment 

as efficiently as 
possible?

Can I live well in my 
community because the 
people and places close 
by enable me to?

11Page 105



C
S

15
25

0L
D

P
M

Page 106



Appendix 3 
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL 

2021/22 BUDGET REPORT 

Directorate: Adults and Health 
1. Introduction

1.1 This report has been produced in order to inform members of the main variations and
factors influencing the Directorate’s budget for the 2021/22 financial year.

1.2 The 2021/22 Revenue Budget provides £24,600k within the Council’s Strategic Budget for
the ongoing impact of COVID-19 pandemic.  As such no directorate COVID impacts are
detailed below.

2 Service Context

2.1 The current context for Adult Social Care and Public Health is heavily influenced by the
Covid pandemic.  It has necessarily changed significantly how and which services are
commissioned and delivered.  The near future is therefore somewhat uncertain; in Public
Health sizeable efforts will still need to be input on managing the pandemic and its after
effects throughout next year and a possible reprioritisation of services funded by the PH
grant.  Adult Social Care has to work within an uncertain environment of changes to its
service offer mix and whether those changes are permanent or temporary, and a care
market significantly affected by the pandemic.  With specificity to each service the following
aims to add further context.

2.2 Adult Social Care: the national context for Adult Social Care continues to be one of 
demographic increases, increased life expectancy, increasing complexity of need and 
service user expectations, greater support for people to remain living independently in their 
own homes for as long as possible, a national drive to improve the quality of social care 
services and an increasing focus on the integration of health and social care services.  
These national trends, which are leading to increased cost pressures, have been evident for 
many years, but the economic climate is putting increasing pressure on public finances and 
the reductions in public spending have added to the financial challenges faced by Adult 
Social Care. 

2.3 In an attempt to mitigate this financial pressure the Government, in its 2020 Spending 
Review, announced an increase in the Social Care Grant and that a consultation would be 
undertaken to permit local authorities to levy a 3% adult social care precept. 

2.4 There is a concern that given the scale of demand and cost pressures on adult social care 
this additional funding in itself will not fully address the financial challenges faced, 
particularly within the context of continuing funding pressures for the Council as a whole.  
The Government Green Paper on the Future of Adult Social Care Funding was due to be 
issued in the summer of 2018, but has been deferred with an issue date not yet determined. 

2.5 The pandemic has had an impact on the mix of care provided, particularly a move from 
residential into community based care, over the last year and the long-term effects of this 
may impact on the types and volumes of future provision. 

2.6 Adult Social Care will continue to develop and implement its approach to design care and 
support arrangements around the strengths of individual service users and carers (strengths 

Page 107



based social care), and the assets available within their communities empowering them to 
live the ‘Better Life’ that they want for themselves.  In addition, it will continue to work with 
health partners to develop plans for meeting the needs of the NHS England-led 
Transforming Care programme. 

2.7 Public Health: Public Health commissions a wide range of providers to deliver Public 
Health services.  These include 3rd sector providers, GPs, Pharmacists and Leeds 
Community Healthcare.  Though the government increased the Public Health grant in 
2020/21, after several years of cuts, this came with new burdens and the service is still 
operating on smaller grant than in previous years. 

3  Budget Proposals 

3.1 This 2021/22 budget has been set at £195,211k representing a net decrease of £6,938k 
(3.44%) when compared to the adjusted budget for 2020/21.  This net decrease comprises 
a number of changes in grant funding and in the use of reserves totalling £5,627k and 
pressures totalling £14,687k offset by savings of £15,519k which are explained below. 

3.2 Budget Adjustments and Transfers 

3.2.1 There have been a number of organisational changes, service transfers and other budget 
adjustments which are reflected in the 2021/22 budget which have an overall net impact of 
£429k. 

3.2.2 These include a transfer of £301k from Resources and Housing representing the 
transference of the Intelligence and Policy team to Adults and Health; there has also been a 
transfer of staffing to the Financial Operations team from Resources and Housing to the 
value of £224k.  A net transfer of £96k has been made to the Resources and Housing 
directorate, representing the move to an internally managed waste contract, transfer of an 
income stream, the transfer of a post, a saving target set against the corporate taxi and mail 
and print contracts; a sum is all included for additional usage of corporately managed 
mobile devices. 

3.3 Changes in Specific Grant Funding – increase of £4,473k 

3.3.1 The budget proposals include an increase in the Social Care Grant of £4,473k announced 
in the 2020 Spending Review. 

3.4 Changes in Use of Reserves and Balances – increase of £1,154k 

3.4.1 Social Care reserves totalling £3,444k will be applied in 2021/22 an increase of £1,154k on 
those utilised in 2020/21.  £792k is to be employed to fund short-term schemes within 
Organisational Development, Commissioning, Safeguarding, Service Transformation, 
Operational Finance and social work largely to deliver savings plans; £2,652k of reserves 
will be utilised to partially mitigate the reductions required in service provision in 2021/22. 

3.5 Changes in prices – pressure of £1,116k 

3.5.1 The budget reflects the announcement of a public sector pay freeze by Government at 
Spending Review 2020. As such the budget provides £1,043k for two elements of pay: the 
0.75% in year pay increase in 2020/21 which had not been provided for in the 2020/21 base 
budget and a minimum pay increase of £250 in 2021/22 for all staff earning less than 
£24,000 as announced at the Spending Review 2020.  The provision reflects the Council’s 

Page 108



    
 

continuing commitment to be a Real Living Wage employer.  Consequently, the minimum 
hourly rate paid to current Leeds City Council employees will rise to £9.56 per hour which is 
6p above the Real Living Wage rate.  Apprentices and new starters on the A1 spinal point 
will be paid £9.50 per hour for the first year only. 
 

3.5.2 No provision has been made for inflation on running cost budgets other than demand based 
budgets and where there are specific contractual commitments.  The main provision for 
price inflation is £750k for care packages and £77k for the impacts of price increases on the 
in-house client transport service.  No provision has been made for inflation on utilities 
budgets, reflecting the increased use of energy efficiency schemes, a reduction in the 
usage of many of the Council’s buildings and planned rationalisation of the Council’s estate. 

 
3.5.3 Inflationary increases in the level of fees, charges and income from other organisations are 

estimated to generate additional income of £754k.  Many adult social care fees and charges 
are related to Department for Works and Pensions benefits rates and will be uplifted 
accordingly from April 2021.  Those charges not linked to benefits rates have been 
budgeted to increase by 3%.  An increase in the charges for services does not necessarily 
generate a proportionate increase in income as the amount people pay for most services is 
determined by individual financial circumstances. 
 

3.6 Actuarial Review 
 

3.6.1 The 2021/22 budget does not provide for an increased contribution to the West Yorkshire 
Pension fund.  Whilst this reflects the most recent Actuarial Review, which showed the West 
Yorkshire Pension Fund to be in a surplus position, the Council will continue to monitor this 
position. 
 

3.7 Capitalised Pension Costs – saving of £320k 
 

3.7.1 The fall out of capitalised pension costs associated with staff who have left the Council 
under the Early Leaver’s Initiative (ELI) to date will save an estimated £159k. 
 

3.7.2 In 2020/21 the Council relaunched its ELI scheme and a range of other voluntary options to 
reduce the wage bill in July 2020.  Provision of £479k has been made to meet the 
capitalised pension costs associated with those staff leaving on an early retirement basis. 
The associated salary savings are captured in the savings proposals below. 

 
3.8 National Living Wage/Ethical Care Charter Commissioned Services – pressure of 

£3,003k 
 

3.8.1 The Government announced an increase to the National Living Wage from £8.72 per hour 
to £8.91 effective from April 2021 for all employees aged over 23.  The budget makes 
allowance for implementing the cost of the National Living Wage for commissioned services 
within Adult Social Care.  The proposed budget also includes provision to enable a 
continuation of meeting the aims of the Ethical Care Charter.  The impact of the National 
Living Wage and the Ethical Care Charter in 2021/22 is estimated at £3,003k. 

 
3.9 Demand and Demography – pressure of £8,411k 

 
3.9.1 Additional provision of £6,919k has been made to reflect the demand and demographic 

pressures forecast for 2021/22 for care packages.  In recognition of the financial challenges 
facing the council the directorate intends to put measures in place to carefully manage this 
demand and ensure the costs of care packages represent value for money.  Whilst the 

Page 109



    
 

additional provision has been allocated across placements, domiciliary care, direct 
payments and the learning disability pooled budget, the type of service will reflect client 
needs and choices so each element of the community care packages budget cannot be 
predicted with absolute accuracy. 
 

3.9.2 An additional provision of £1,492k has been built in to the budget recognising the national 
Transforming Care agenda which will result in more people with a learning disability and/or 
autism being discharged from long-stay hospitals to their home location and supported in 
more independent settings such as supported living and with enhanced community support 
in place. 
 

3.10 Other budget pressures – £1,837k) 
 

3.10.1 Recognising the pressure the Covid pandemic has had on the care sector a budget of 
£1,150k has been created to support one-off payments to mitigate short-term pressures.  
Discussions on how best to do this are taking place with providers.  There has been funding 
fall out of £235k associated with the cessation of government funding.  The move from 
analogue to digital has a revenue of effect of £70k per annum for the Telecare service.  
Other minor variations amounting to £324k are included in the budget.  A number of 
corporately managed areas have small impacts in Adults and Health; increases for NNDR 
£45k, insurance £6k and £7k for the Apprentice Levy are also provided for. 
 

3.11 Savings 
 

3.12 Business As Usual – £11,675k 
 

3.12.1 Improvements in productivity within the Enablement Service is projected to save £300k 
through a reduced requirement for home care. 

 
3.12.2 A remodelling of commissioned day opportunities provision for Working Aged Adults is 

expected to deliver £430k of savings to the directorate. 
 

3.12.3 Within the commissioned services for Working Age Adults a review of eligibility for 
Continuing Health care is calculated to save £2,600k per annum.  A review of the makeup 
of a block contract is expected to deliver an efficiency of £250k. 
 

3.12.4 A review of primarily Working Age Adults care packages to ensure value for money is being 
achieved and that packages are appropriate when aligned the Strengths-Based approach 
adopted by the directorate.  This exercise will also take in a review of s117 eligibility.  The 
total target of these initiatives is to deliver a saving of £2,750k. 

 
3.12.5 A review of the funding by both the Council and the CCG to the Adult Safeguarding Board 

has determined a reduction in contribution of £75k.  It is noted that the Board has access to 
earmarked reserves to help it manage this reduction. 
 

3.12.6 The directorate is putting processes in place to ensure recovery of home care payments 
from providers where it is proven that the service has not been delivered; modelling of this 
has suggested a saving of £489k is deliverable. 
 

3.12.7 The directorate continues to improve its processes for the billing and collection of assessed 
client contributions, a further net £1,000k is projected to be recoverable in 2021/22. 

 

Page 110



    
 

3.12.8 Since the beginning of the pandemic the day services provided at Osmondthorpe Resource 
Centre have been successfully provided through outreach services and from other day 
centre facilities around the city; a continuation of this type of provision will free up savings of 
£119k, remove a substantial maintenance liability as well as providing a potential capital 
receipt. 

 
3.12.9 Reflecting a review of commissioned day services, and a number of ceased projects a 

saving of £162k will be delivered. 
 

3.12.10 A review of general expenditure across the directorate and the cessation of a number of 
small programmes will deliver £479k of savings and efficiencies. 
 

3.12.11 Reviewing the impact of the pandemic has merited a rebasing of demand for residential and 
nursing care.  This rebasing will remove £2,400k from the demand based budgets. 
 

3.12.12 Non-client based income is expected to increase by £231k.  This is largely related to 
changes in funding from the CCG as the service mix contractually provided by the 
department has become more complex in nature. 
 

3.12.13 A saving of £57k is delivered by the ending of a data contract; a number of minor variations 
will further contribute £333k savings. 
 

3.13 Service Review £3,844k 
 

3.13.1 Following an assessment of the in-house occupancy levels and costs within its existing 
provision the directorate proposes to close two care homes, Richmond House and Homelea 
House, with a part-year saving of £489k.  Work is ongoing to determine possible future uses 
including the potential for affordable or Council housing delivery, with care support also 
being considered for the Richmond House site. 
 

3.13.2 Additional client contributions of £1,236k are estimated to be achieved following reviews 
and changes to the Maximum Assessed Contribution and billing being based on total costs 
for home care; it should be noted that clients will still be assessed for their ability to pay 

 
3.13.3 The directorate proposes to reduce contracts and grants with the third sector across all 

client groups by £883k.  The directorate is in discussions with the sector as a whole with a 
view to deciding the incidence of these reductions on individual organisations and 
minimising the impact these cuts will have on the sector.  It is noted that though the 
proposed reduction has an ongoing impact that Test and Trace funding in excess of £800k 
(£500k of which is to the Neighbourhood Networks) is being injected into the third sector 
which it is hoped will help to mitigate and help to manage any resultant pressure. 
 

3.13.4 To assist in addressing the financial pressure facing the Council the Early Leavers Initiative 
was extended in 2020/21; a number of individuals have left or will shortly leave the authority 
which will generate a saving calculated to be £1,236k. 

 
4 Risk Assessment 

 
4.1 In determining the 2021/22 budget, consideration has been given to all the risks which are 

managed within the directorate’s overall risk management framework.  Within this 
framework, a register of those items considered carrying the highest risk and therefore 
requiring careful and regular monitoring has been prepared.  The key risks in the 2021/22 
budget for the Adults and Health Directorate are: 

Page 111



    
 

 
4.2 For Adult Social Care, a significant ongoing risk relates to the demand led nature of the 

services provided, together with the statutory responsibility to ensure that all assessed 
eligible needs are met, which means that the expenditure requirements to be met from the 
Adult Social Care budget cannot be predicted with absolute certainty. 
 

4.3 The impact of the pandemic and the change on the current mix of care provided only 
enhances this risk.  The budget is based on realistic demographic information using trends 
experienced in Leeds and national and local indicators that are available to the Council.  
However, the nature of demand for these services can be somewhat volatile and subject to 
demand factors that Adults & Health cannot directly control.  The numbers of service users 
and the complexity of their needs may exceed the provision made within the budget.  With 
approximately 3,500 placements in total a relatively modest percentage variance in 
numbers can give rise to a substantial cash variance.  These variations could affect 
community care packages for adults, including those commissioned within the pooled 
budget for people with learning disabilities.  In this context, delivering a number of the 
savings included within the 2021/22 budget carries some risk. 

 
4.4 For Public Health; outside of the uncertainties that the Covid pandemic continues to provide, 

there is a continued risk of harm to health and an increase in health inequalities due to the 
impact of the Public Health cuts on commissioned services and programme budgets over 
the last few years.  Though the grant was increased in 20/21 it is still lower than several 
years ago. 

 
4.5 A risk of newly endorsed NICE (National Institute for Clinical Excellence) treatments 

becoming a cost pressure due to the Council’s Public Health responsibilities.  The Office of 
the Director of Public Health is responsible for a number of contracts which are activity 
based.  There is a financial risk, based on the possibility of fluctuation of demand, some of 
which is determined by NHS tariff. 
 

4.6 There is an overarching risk covering public health and social care relating to changes in 
national policy, practice and legislation e.g. Agenda for Change and the ongoing legal 
process concerning payments for ‘sleep-in’ costs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Briefing note prepared by:  John Crowther (Head of Finance) 
Telephone:  0113 37 88714 

 

Page 112



Directorate -  Adults and Health 

2021/22 FTEs
£m

Net managed budget 2020/21 201.24

Adjustments
Transfers of function 0.49
Other adjustments (0.06)

Adjusted net managed budget 201.67

Grant Fallout

Grant Increases
Social Care Grant (4.47)

Changes in the use of Reserves & Balances
Adult Social Care (1.15)
Public Health

Total Funding Changes (5.63) 0.00

Budget Pressures:
Inflation

Pay 1.04
Price 0.83
Income (0.75)

Employers Pension

Capitalised Pensions 0.32

National Living Wage - commissioned services
National Living Wage/Ethical Care Charter 3.00

Demographic and demand pressures
Demand and demography 8.41

Other
Apprentice Levy 0.01
NNDR 0.05
Insurance 0.01
Care Market support 1.15
Cessation of Spring Budget spending 0.24
Telecare - digitalisation 0.07
Other minor variations 0.32

Total Pressures 14.69 0.00

Savings Proposals:
Business As Usual

Enablement Service - improved productivity (0.30)
Public Health - change in funding priorities 0.00 (3.00)
Working age adults:  remodelling of day opportunities provision (0.43)
Review of Continuing Health Care eligibility (2.60)
Working age adults: value for money reviews, reassessments and demand mngt (1.25)
Review of Care Packages (1.50)
Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board (0.08)
Recovery of Payments for Care not delivered (0.49) 2.00
Client Income recovery (1.00)
Transforming Day Care Opportunities (0.12) (3.00)
Reduction in Grants - Working Age Adults (0.16)
Review of General Expenditure (0.48)
Rebasing of Demand Budgets (2.40)
Contractual income/capitalisation (0.23)
Cessation of Caretrak contract (0.06)
Reviewing Block Contracts (0.25)
other minor variations (0.33) 1.00

Service Review
Decommission two Care Homes (0.49)
Review of Client Contributions for whilst maintaining means-testing (1.24)
Reduction in Services - Working Age Adults (0.38)
Reduction in Services - Older People (0.50)
Staffing reductions (1.24) (38.00)

Total Savings (15.52) (41.00)

Net Managed Budget 2021/22 195.21 (41.00)

Page 113



Adults and Health 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
Equality 
Impact 

Assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2020/21 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Decommission two 
Care Homes – 
Richmond House and 
Homelea 

Decommission the 
service due to the 
need for residential 
homes decreasing 
within Leeds and 
where this resource 
is required to meet 
people’s needs, 
there is a well-
developed 
independent sector 
market 

There is a risk 
whenever a 
home is 
closed to a 
client’s 
immediate 
well-being 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be 
undertaken at 
the same time 
as the decision 

June 2021 £1,531k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

Review of Client 
Contributions whilst 
maintaining means-
testing 

A review of the 
Maximum 
Assessed 
Charge, charging 
for the cost of 
care 

Though 
charging is still 
to be means-
tested there is 
a risk that 
clients do not 
take up 
services 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be 
undertaken at 
the same time 
as the decision 

June 2021 £33,523k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

Reduction in Services - 
Working Age Adults 

Reducing grants, 
contracts 

There is a risk 
that services 
provided will 
be reduced 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be 
undertaken at 
the same time 
as the decision 

March 2021 £14,235k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

Reduction in Services - 
Older People 

Reducing grants, 
contracts 

There is a risk 
that services 
provided will 
be reduced 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be 
undertaken at 
the same time 
as the decision 

March 2021 £5,114k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

P
age 114



LEEDS CITY COUNCIL 
2021/22 BUDGET REPORT 

Directorate: City Development 

1. Introduction

1.1 This report has been produced in order to inform Members of the main variations and
factors influencing the Directorate’s budget for the 2021/22 financial year.

1.2 The 2021/22 Revenue Budget provides £24,600k within the Council’s Strategic Budget for
the ongoing impact of COVID-19 pandemic. As such no directorate COVID impacts are
detailed below.

2 Service Context

2.1 City Development is responsible for the Council’s physical, economic, and cultural and sport
services. The range of services and functions that the Directorate provides makes a significant
contribution to the life, growth and vitality of the city.

3  Budget Proposals

3.1 This 2021/22 budget has been set at £30,648k representing a net decrease of £7,552k
(19.77%) when compared to the adjusted budget for 2020/21. This net decrease comprises
a number of changes in grant funding totalling £1,700k and pressures totalling £3,638k
offset by savings of £9,990k which are explained below.

3.2 Budget Adjustments and Transfers

3.2.1 There have been a number of organisational changes, service transfers and other budget
adjustments which are reflected in the 2021/22 budget.

3.2.2 £59k has been transferred to Resources in respect of insourcing of the general waste
contract and the Corporate Taxis contract.

3.2.3 Other budget adjustments give a net budget reduction of £80k which comprises of minor
budget adjustments relating to items such as mail, print and IT, reducing the need for
recharges to be made in year.

3.3 Changes in Specific Grant Funding – increase of £1,7000k

3.3.1 The 2021/22 budget reflect receipt of £1,700k of Gain Share from WYCA in respect of the
West Yorkshire Devolution Deal.

3.4 Changes in Use of Reserves and Balances – reduction of £500k

3.4.1 In the 2020/21 the budget proposals included the one year only use of balances of £500k,
2021/22 budget proposals recognises that it was a one year only proposal and removes the
need for this £500k.

Page 115



    
 

 

3.5 Changes in prices – pressure of £1,445k  
 
3.5.1 The budget reflects the announcement of a public sector pay freeze by Government at 

Spending Review 2020. As such the budget provides £603k for two elements of pay: the 
0.75% in year pay increase in 2020/21 which had not been provided for in the 2020/21 base 
budget and a minimum pay increase of £250 in 2021/22 for all staff earning less than 
£24,000 as announced at the Spending Review 2020. The provision reflects the Council’s 
continuing commitment to be a Real Living Wage employer. Consequently, the minimum 
hourly rate paid to current Leeds City Council employees will rise to £9.56 per hour which is 
6p above the Real Living Wage rate.  Apprentices and new starters on the A1 spinal point 
will be paid £9.50 per hour for the first year only. 
 

3.5.2 No provision has been made for inflation on running cost budgets other than demand based 
budgets and where there are specific contractual commitments. No provision has been 
made for inflation on utilities budgets, reflecting the increased use of energy efficiency 
schemes, a reduction in the usage of many of the Council’s buildings and planned 
rationalisation of the Council’s estate. £842k has been provided for such contractual 
commitments including the PFI contracts for Street Lighting and three Leisure Centres. 
 

3.6 Actuarial Review 
 

3.6.1 The 2021/22 budget does not provide for an increased contribution to the West Yorkshire 
Pension fund. Whilst this reflects the most recent Actuarial Review, which showed the West 
Yorkshire Pension Fund to be in a surplus position, the Council will continue to monitor this 
position. 
 

3.7 Capitalised Pension Costs – pressure of £814k  
 

3.7.1 In 2020/21 the Council relaunched its ELI scheme and a range of other voluntary options to 
reduce the wage bill in July 2020. Provision of £814k has been made to meet the 
capitalised pension costs associated with those staff leaving on an early retirement basis. 
The associated salary savings are captured in the savings proposals below. 

 
3.8 Other budget pressures – £1,379k  

 
3.8.1 A number of pressures have been recognised in the 2021/22 budget, £555k which is the net 

loss of income (after prudential borrowing) from the anticipated sale of the Trilogy 
Warehouses and Building One at Logic Leeds, and £500k has been provided for the loss of 
income at the Town Hall when it closes for refurbishment in autumn 2021.   

 
3.8.2 £238k has been provided to ensure that the Flood Alleviation team in Highways is 

adequately resourced, and a further £200k is provided to increase the council’s contribution 
to the Leeds 2023 Trust, and £75k for increased cleaning and security costs at Kirkgate 
Market. 

 
3.8.3 These pressures include a resource allocation reduction of £195k for insurance costs which 

reflects changes in the number and value of insurance claims. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



3.9 Savings - at total of £9,990k savings are proposed details of which are provided below. 

3.10 Business As Usual – £7,240k  

3.10.1 £520k of the savings relate to energy costs from the continuation of the Street Lighting LED 
conversion scheme, this is in addition to the £430k of LED conversion savings in the 
2020/21 budget  

3.10.2  £350k will be saved by mitigating pay inflation via charging the additional 0.75% cost of the 
2020/21 pay award in Highways and Asset Management mainly to capital schemes, and a 
further £175k of income will be achieved as part of the full year effect of the 2020/21 saving 
in Highways for site development. 

3.10.3 £700k of savings will be made in the Asset Management and Regeneration via staffing 
savings through voluntary means and expenditure savings from service revenue budgets 
and £480k of additional income is budgeted for which will come from the capital receipts fee 
income based on the 2021/22 Capital Receipts Programme.  An additional £236k saving 
from the ongoing asset rationalisation programme freeing up existing building capacity is 
included in the 2021/22 budget increasing the 2021/22 savings target from £450k to £686k. 

3.10.4 A further £350k of savings will be achieved via the increased capitalisation of staff costs and 
reductions in general expenditure budgets in Resources and Strategy.  £250k of savings will 
be achieved via a directorate wide review and cash limiting of appropriate other operating 
expenditure budgets. 

3.10.5 The Markets & City Centre Service will achieve £200k of savings via a reduction in staffing 
via voluntary means and expenditure reductions and increased income. 

3.10.6 Savings of £400k are planned through the reduction of the major events budget in the Arts 
and Heritage Service, and an additional £254k from across some of its venues.  £60k is to 
be saved on the Museum’s Collections insurance, and £227k from a 15% reduction in arts 
grants to certain organisations.  Cessation of annual Christmas Lights switch on and 
international football screenings in Millennium Square will achieve a further £88k saving. 

3.10.7 Within Active Leeds a £100k saving will be achieved by the cessation of funding 
contributions to several sporting partnerships 

3.10.8 £1,500k of savings will be achieved across the directorate from voluntary staffing reductions 
facilitated by the council's Early Leavers Initiative 

3.11 Service Reviews £2,750k 

3.11.1 Highways & Transportation have undertaken a service review of staffing operations across 
the service to deliver £1,620k of savings and/or additional income. 

3.11.2 The Arts and Heritage have undertaken a number of reviews to deliver further savings. 
These were to consult on the introduction of an annual charge for Breeze card saving 
£150k, a reduced programme and new delivery model for Leeds Lights to save £208k, and 
reviews of Lotherton Hall and Thwaite Mills Museums to deliver £67k and £70k of savings 
respectively. At the time of writing this report evaluation of consultation responses for these 
proposals were being considered. With the exception of the Breezecard proposal, early 

Page 117



    
 

 

indication is that alternative means of delivering these savings will be found without the 
recourse to service closures and/or reduced opening arrangements.  
 

3.11.3 The Planning and Sustainable Development Service is undertaking service reviews in both 
Strategic Planning and Development Management to deliver savings of £100k each. 
 

3.11.4 Active Leeds is reviewing proposals to cease the service level agreement for Chippendale 
Pool to save £37k, close the Leeds Sailing and Activity Centre to save £88k, and a review 
of operational efficiencies at John Charles Centre for Sport (JCSC) to deliver a further 
£200k including potential changes in the operation of the Tennis Centre. At the time of 
writing this report evaluation of consultation responses for these proposals was being 
undertaken. The savings proposals at Chippendale Pool, Leeds Sailing Centre and the 
Tennis Centre at JCSC are all subject to potential third party interest which would result in 
alternative delivery models that means there would be no service closures and/or 
withdrawal of services. The intention is that a process of due diligence is undertaken on the 
viability of the third sector interest. In the interim period alternative savings would be 
provided by the Active Leeds Service to allow that assessment work to continue prior to 
formally reaching a decision on the way forward. 
 

3.11.5 The Economic Development service review seeks to deliver £110k of savings via a staffing 
reduction from and reductions in memberships and events attendance. 

 
4 Risk Assessment 

 
4.1 In determining the 2021/22 budget, consideration has been given to all the risks which are 

managed within the directorate’s overall risk management framework. Within this 
framework, a register of those items considered carrying the highest risk and therefore 
requiring careful and regular monitoring has been prepared.  The key risks in the 2021/22 
budget for the City Development Directorate are: 
 

4.2 As the majority of their income streams are predicated on a buoyant and active economy, 
major Capital Programmes, Strategic Investments, Planning and Building Control fees, 
Advertising, Markets, Active Leeds, and Arts and Heritage income are all affected by local, 
regional, and national economic conditions and developments and therefore any downturn 
would be noted sharply in these service areas.  This is particularly relevant to the Covid 
Pandemic and delivery of the 2021/22 budget will need a good recovery in the economy. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Briefing note prepared by:  Jill Stuart (Principal Finance Manager) 
Telephone:  3788043 

 

Page 118



City Development Directorate 

2021/22 FTEs

£m

Net managed budget 2020/21 38.34

Adjustments

Transfers of function (0.06)

Other adjustments (0.08)
Adjusted net managed budget 38.20

Grant Fallout 0.00

Grant Increases
Gain Share from Devolution (1.70)

Changes in the use of Reserves & Balances

Use of Balances 0.50

Total Funding Changes (1.20) 0.0

Budget Pressures:

Inflation

Pay 0.60

Price 0.84

Income 0.00

Employers Pension 0.00

Capitalised Pensions 0.81

National Living Wage - commissioned services

National Living Wage/Ethical Care Charter 0.00

Demographic and demand pressures 0.00

Other

Apprenticeship Levy 0.01

Strategic Investment Income 0.56

Town Hall Refurbishment Loss of Income 0.50

Flood Alleviation Team 0.24

Leeds 2023 0.20

Cleaning & Security 0.08

Insurance (0.20)

Total Pressures 3.64 0.0

Savings Proposals:

Business As Usual
Street Lighting LED Conversion (0.52)
Capital Receipts Fee Income (0.48)
Income - mitigation of pay inflation via charging (0.35)
Highways - Site Development external chargeable works (0.18)
Asset Rationalisation (0.24)
Staffing savings through voluntary means and expenditure savings from service revenue budgets (0.70) (7.7)
Increased capitalisation of staff costs and reductions in general expenditure budgets (0.35)

Markets & City Centre Service - staffing and expenditure reductions and increased income (0.20) (1.5)
Employment and Skills - deletion of vacant post and reduction in expenditure budgets (0.10) (1.0)
Planning & Sustainable Development - voluntary staffing reductions and expenditure savings (0.35) (6.0)
Highways & Transportation - use of balances and review of charging (0.90)
Reduction in Budgets for major events (0.40)
Efficiencies across venues (0.25)
Museums & Galleries collection insurance (0.06)
15% reduction in grants to selected organisations (0.23)
Cessation of annual Christmas Lights switch on and international football screenings in Millennium Square (0.09)
Cessation funding contributions to several sporting partnerships (0.10)
Savings across the directorate from voluntary staffing reductions facilitated by the council's Early Leavers (1.50) (97.9)
Reductions in miscellaneous spend budgets across the directorate (0.25)

Service Review
Economic Development - Staffing reduction and reduction in memberships and events attendance (0.11) (1.0)

Strategic Planning - develop further options following completion of service review (0.10) (2.0)

Highways & Transportation - review staffing operations across the service for savings and/or additional income (1.62) (26.0)

Planning Applications - savings through voluntary staffing reductions and procedural efficiencies (0.10) (2.0)

Proposal to reduce opening hours at Lotherton Hall (0.07) (5.2)

Proposal to reduce opening Hours at Thwaite Mills Museums (0.07) (5.1)

Proposal to consult on introduction of £3 annual charge for Breeze card (0.15)

Proposed reduced programme and new delivery model for Leeds Lights (0.21) (9.0)

Proposal to end SLA with Chippendale Pool (0.04) (5.6)

Proposal to close Yeadon Tarn Sailing Centre (0.09) (4.8)

Proposal for operational efficiencies within John Charles Centre for Sport (0.20) (1.5)

Total Savings (9.99) (176.3)

Net Managed Budget 2021/22 30.65 (176.3)

Page 119



City Development 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Economic Development 
- Staffing reduction and
reduction in
memberships and
events attendance

Budget review of 
activities 
undertaken 

Reduced 
economic 
outcomes for 
Leeds – 
mitigated by 
overall 
economic 
position  

Non – considered 
as a BAU 
proposal with no 
staffing 
implications not 
delivered through 
voluntary means 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£110k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Strategic Planning - 
develop further options 
following completion of 
service review 

Options for 
efficiencies were 
supported by 
independent 
review 

Some 
technologic 
risks 
associated 
with 
deliverables 

Yes, as part of 
the service review 
and through 
further internal 
staff consultation 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£100k Chief Planning 
Officer 

Highways & 
Transportation - review 
staffing operations 
across the service for 
savings and/or 
additional income 

Budget review of 
activities 
undertaken 

Reduced 
capacity to 
deliver – 
mitigated by 
effective 
deployment of 
resources 

Internal Staff 
Consultation 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£1,620k Director of City 
Development 

Planning Applications - 
savings through 
voluntary staffing 
reductions and 
procedural efficiencies 

Options for 
efficiencies were 
supported by 
independent 
review 

Some 
technologic 
risks 
associated 

Internal Staff 
Consultation  

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£100k Chief Planning 
Officer 

P
age 120



City Development 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

with 
deliverables 

Proposal to reduce 
opening hours at 
Lotherton Hall 

Operating costs of 
facility and 
collection make-
up alongside 
visitor attendance 

N/A Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£67k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Proposal to reduce 
opening Hours at 
Thwaite Mills Museums 

Operating costs of 
facility and 
collection make- 
up alongside 
visitor attendance 

N/A Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£70k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Proposal to consult on 
introduction of an 
annual charge for 
Breeze card 

Area of 
discretionary 
Spend.  

Differential 
impact on 
most 
vulnerable – 
mitigated by 
use of 
concessions 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users  

There are 
equality 
implications as 
the card is used 
by younger 
people. Some 
safeguarding of 
detrimental 
impact could be 
provided by the 
use of 
concessionary 
pricing 

February 
2021 

£150k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

P
age 121



City Development 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Proposed reduced 
programme and new 
delivery model for 
Leeds Lights 

Area of 
discretionary 
spend  

N/A Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users and local 
organisations/co
mmissioners of 
lighting displays 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£208k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Proposal to end SLA 
with Chippendale Pool 

Operating costs of 
facility and usage 
and attendance 

Reduced 
community 
and primary 
school usage 
of facility 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and school 
and local 
Members 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£37k Chief Officer 
Operations 

Proposal to close 
Leeds Sailing and 
Activity Centre 

Operating costs of 
facility and usage 
and attendance. 
Discrete activity. 

Loss of 
discrete 
functionality 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and 
‘Friends of’ Group 

As a single 
source of 
activity within 
Leeds, removal 
of the facility 
would impact 
upon certain 
groups. 
Mitigation could 

February 
2021 

£88k Chief Officer 
Operations 

P
age 122



City Development 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

identification of 
alternative 
provision 
outside the city. 

Proposal for operational 
efficiencies within John 
Charles Centre for 
Sport 

Operating costs of 
facility and usage 
and attendance. 
Discrete activity in 
relation to Tennis 
Centre  

Loss of 
discrete 
functionality 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and LTA 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£200k Chief Officer 
Operations 

Cessation of annual 
Christmas Lights switch 
on and international 
football screenings in 
Millennium Square 

Area of 
discretionary 
spend 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£88k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Cessation funding 
contributions to several 
sporting partnerships 

Area of 
discretionary 
spend 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and 
individual sporting 
associations 
impacted   

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£100k Chief Officer 
Operations 

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
  

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 This report provides an overview of outcomes and service performance related to the 

council and city priorities within the remit of the Adults and Health Scrutiny Board.  Reflecting 

delivery of Best Council Plan priorities and the council’s performance management 

framework relevant to this Scrutiny Board.    

 

 This report focuses on 2020-21 quarter 4 and year-end performance information (or latest 

available where Quarter 4 data is not yet available).  The report is for information, providing 

assurance that current performance is visible, understood and responded to.  It also serves 

as information to the Board when considering areas to undertake further scrutiny work. 

Recommendations 

a) It is recommended that the Board consider and comment on the performance information 

contained in the report and appendices, noting the assurance provided and considering if 

any additional information or further scrutiny work would be of benefit.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Performance update adult social care, public health and 
active lifestyles  

Date: 15 June 2021 

Report of: Directors of Adults and Health, Public Health, City Development 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Report author: Peter Storrie, Suresh 

Perisetta, Chris Shillito, Irene Dee, 

Elaine Rey  

Tel: 

Page 125

Agenda Item 7



Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1 This report provides an overview of outcomes and service performance related to the 

council priorities and services within the remit of the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles 

Scrutiny Board.  It is intended as a succinct overview ensuring visibility, providing 

assurance and informing ongoing scrutiny work. 

 

2 This report provides an update on progress in delivering the council and city priorities in line 

with the council’s performance management framework and the Best Council Plan.  It also 

relates to city and council strategies including the Health and Well Being Strategy, the 

Leeds Health and Care Plan and the Better Lives Strategy.  

 

3 Updates against city and council priorities are brought to the Board to inform the start of the 

scrutiny year and the annual budget setting cycle. This report is in a new format with the 

majority of the updates in the respective appendices.  The report is presented in three 

distinct sections reflective of council accountabilities.  These are Public Health, Adult Social 

Care and Active Lifestyles.  While there are commonalities in how these relate to the 

citizens of Leeds the appendices are in effect distinct reports, with the covering report 

offering an introduction.  Feedback on the new report format is welcomed, specifically on 

how best to present the three areas of Public Health, Adult Social Care and Active 

Lifestyles.  

 

4 Appendices 1a & 1b update on population health outcomes and the use of services 

commissioned by local authority public health teams in Leeds.  The first appendices 

providing a commentary and the second tables and graphs.  These support the monitoring 

of health inequalities in Leeds and public health service outcomes.  This report includes the 

following outcome updates. 

% Adults over 18 that smoke - The percentage of adults over 18 who smoke continues to 
decline from 18.4% (Q4 2020/21) to 17.8% (Q4 2020/21). There has also been a small 
reduction for Deprived Leeds over the same period from 28.8% to 28.7%  
 
The percentage of adults with a BMI over 30, for Leeds it is 23.1%, and Deprived Leeds 
27.7%. The rates have remained relatively stable throughout the year, seeing similar rates in 
Q3, 22.8% (Leeds) and 27.1% (Deprived Leeds). 
 
The suicide rate has slightly increased for Leeds and declined for Deprived Leeds in the latest 
period (2018 – 2020). The rate for Leeds is 11.9, up from 11.2 in 2017 – 2019. The rate for 
Deprived Leeds is 15.2, down from 17.2. The changes are not statistically significant. 

 
Other outcomes updated included:  

 Mortality rates in respect to cardiovascular disease, respiratory mortality, cancer, 

alcoholic liver disease and excess winter deaths 

 Childhood obesity rates among Reception and Year 6 pupils. 

Operational indicators related to  

 NHS Health Check invitations offered and checks completed  

 People referred or signposted to stop smoking services from GP practices’ 

 Completions of drug dependency treatment and of alcohol dependency treatment 

 Recorded diabetes  

 Breast feeding % maintenance at 6-8 weeks  

 Emergency Admissions from Intentional Self-Harm  

 

Page 126



5 Appendices 2a & 2b update on Adult Social Care, this is based largely on Adult Social Care 
Outcomes Framework (ASCOF).  Results for 2020-21 are provisional they will be published 
with comparator information later in the year.   Due to Covid national surveys of service users 
and carers were not undertaken, this has reduced the number of ASCOF measures available.   

 
Adults Social Care in Leeds provides a range of care and support services to help meet the 
needs of older people, people with a learning disability, those with mental health issues and 
people with a physical or sensory impairment.     During 2020/21, Adult Social Care in Leeds 
provided long term support to 10,616 people, 6,457 of whom where aged 65 and over.  At 
the end of March 2021 there were 6,614 people who had an open case and who had been 
in receipt of long term support for over 12 months, 3,265 of whom were aged 65 or over.   

 
A draft version of the annual Short and Long Term servicer users (SALT) national data return 
for 2020/21 has been completed. This reflects the impact of COVID-19 on social care 
demand. Requests for support are down compared to last year by 18% for 18-64 year olds 
and by 35% for Over 65s, it is requests for services for people being discharged from hospital 
that account for the majority of this decrease.  The overall number of Long Term Service 
Users supported in year are broadly in line with the previous year with a 3% increase in the 
number of 18-64 year olds supported and a 2% reduction for over 65 year olds.   

 
6 Appendix 3 is an update on More Adults are Active.  This is based on the national Active 

Lives Survey (ALS), carried out by Sport England.  This provides the data for the “percentage 
of people who are inactive” Best Council Plan 2020-2025 performance indicator.  The Survey 
samples around 2,000 Leeds’ residents on a rolling basis; with “inactive” defined as 
undertaking less than 30 minutes of moderate activity per week.  The November 2019 – 
November 2020 result indicates that 25.6% of adults in Leeds were inactive representative 
of 163,900 people.  The update reflects the impact of the pandemic on physical activity, 
changing how people are active and in reducing overall activity levels, both locally and 
nationally, and the Active Leeds initiatives to mitigate this.  An active travel update is not 
provided in this report due to the impact of the pandemic, including data capture.  

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

7 This is an update paper on city outcomes and service performance there are no specific 

proposals.   
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

8 This is an information report and as such does not need to be consulted on with the public. 

However performance information is published on the council’s website and is available to 

the public, locally and often through national publications and websites.  

 

What are the resource implications? 

9 There are no direct resource decisions involved in this report.  How resources are best 

used to achieve priorities is relevant especially given our asset based and strengths based 

approach.  The current need to prioritise resources in response to Covid-19 are relevant in 

considering performance.  

 

 

 

Wards Affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐Yes    ☒No 

 

Page 127



What are the legal implications?  

10 All performance information is publicly available.  This report is an information update 

providing Scrutiny with a summary of performance for the strategic priorities within its remit 

and as such is not subject to call in. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

11 In presenting performance against key priorities key risks and challenges are highlighted.  

This report forms part of a comprehensive risk and performance management process in 

the council to monitor and manage key risks. The council’s most significant risks are 

available and can be accessed via the council’s website.  

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars? 

☒Inclusive Growth  ☒Health and Wellbeing  ☒Climate Emergency 

12 Equality issues are implicit in the priorities presented in this report.   As a broad headline 

report the detail is not necessarily provided, accepting that some of the outcomes and 

services included directly relate to user groups that match protected characteristics. The 

adult social care and many of the health outcomes relate to vulnerable adults and reflect 

how well their needs are being met and their vulnerabilities addressed.  The purpose of the 

strategic and operational activity in this report is to ensure that the needs of people at risk 

of poor outcomes are identified and responded to at both individual and community levels.  

Protected equalities characteristics such as race and sexuality are considered in the design 

and operation of services. 

 

13 There are no specific climate change implications from this report.  However in broad terms 

the promotion of healthy lifestyles and the maintenance of good health and independence 

is supportive of addressing the impact on the climate emergency, an example being 

walking and cycling as means of travel. 

  

Options, timescales and measuring success  

a) What other options were considered? 

14 Not applicable  

 

b) How will success be measured? 

15 Not applicable 

 

c) What is the timetable for implementation? 

16 Not applicable 

  

Appendices 

17 Appendix 1a: Public Health update paper (summary of key issues) 

18 Appendix 1b: Public Health Q4 Performance Indicators  

19 Appendix 2a: Adults Social Care update paper (summary of key issues) 

20 Appendix 2b: ASCOF measures (Adults Social Care Outcomes Framework) 

21 Appendix 3   More Adults are Active  

 

Page 128



Background papers 

22 None. 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1a 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 

 
 

Summary/Purpose: 

This paper provides an update on population health outcomes and the use of services 

commissioned by local authority public health teams in Leeds. 

In this edition, some quarterly and annually reported indicators have been updated 

(marked with an asterisk in the indicator report). Time series comparisons between Leeds 

and Deprived Leeds populations are provided for updated indicators.   

Annual updates include:  

Life Expectancy at Birth - Males 
Life Expectancy at Birth - Females 
 
Quarterly updates include: 

% Adults over 18 that smoke 
Excess weight in adults % of Adults who have a BMI of over 30 
# Alcohol – rate of admissions of under 18’s to hospital for alcohol related problems (per 
100,000) 
# NHS Health Check Completion Rate (of those offered - rolling year) 
# NHS Health Check Invitations (rolling year) 
# Number of people referred or signposted to stop smoking services from GP practices’ 

# Successful completions of drug dependency treatment (rolling year) 

# Successful completions of alcohol dependency treatment (rolling year) 
Recorded diabetes type 1 and 2 (per 100,000) 
# HIV late diagnosis: % 15+ or above newly diagnosed with HIV with a CD4 count < 350 
cells per mm3 
# Chlamydia detection rate (15-24 year olds) (per 100,000) 
# Uptake of Long-acting reversible contraceptives (LARC) (per 1,000) 
 
# - Indicators without deprived Leeds data 

Note: Deprived Leeds for some indicators are not available due to lack of access to latest 

local data/data quality issues. 

Deprived Leeds is any Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) which falls into the top 10% most 

deprived LSOAs in England, which equates to around 20% of the LSOAs (114 LSOAs out 

Scrutiny Board :   June 2021 

Director of Public Health: Victoria Eaton 

Paper author: Maria White/Suresh Perisetla 

Paper title: Public Health Performance report 
(Q3 – 2020/21)  

 

Page 131



Appendix 1a 

Page 2 of 4 
 

of 482) in Leeds. Geographical data is required at the LSOA level to calculate Deprived 

Leeds data and this is not available for all indicators.  

Key issues or outcomes: 
 
Population indicators 

 
Life Expectancy at birth – Males and Females 
For 2017-19, average life expectancy at birth for Leeds is 78.4 years (Males) and is 81.7 years 

(Females). For Deprived Leeds the average life expectancy at birth is lower; 73.8 years (Males) and 

77.0 years (Females). This indicates a life expectancy gap between Leeds average and Deprived 

Leeds average of 4.6 years in males and 4.7 years in females. Compared to the previous period 

(2016-18), life expectancy at birth in males is 78.1 years and in females is 81.5 years. For Deprived 

Leeds the life expectancy at birth is 73.2 years (Males) and 77.1 years (Females), indicates a gap 

of 4.9 years in males and 4.4 years in females. 

 
These changes show a stalling in increases in life expectancy and are not statistically significant.  

 
% Adults over 18 that smoke 
The percentage of adults over 18 who smoke continues to decline from 18.2% (Q2 2020/21) to 

17.8% (Q3 2021). There has also been a reduction for Deprived Leeds, from 29.1% (Q2 2020/21) 

to 28.0% (Q3 2021). There has been a continued reduction since the start of Q1 2020/21 where 

rates were 18.4% and 29.3% for Leeds and Deprived Leeds, respectively. This decline is in line with 

national smoking trends. 

Excess weight in adults % of Adults who have a BMI of over 30’ 
There has been a slight increase in the percentage of excess weight in adults from 22.7% (Q2 

2020/21) to 22.8% (Q3 2020/21) for Leeds. Deprived Leeds has remained the same at 27.1%. The 

figures for this indicator have shown a slight improvement from the start of Q1 2020/21 for both 

Leeds (23.0%) and Deprived Leeds (27.6%). The impact of COVID-19 on obesity is not yet visible.  

 
Operational indicators 
 
Alcohol – rate of admissions of under 18’s to hospital for alcohol related problems (per 
100,000) 
The rate of admissions in 2017/18 – 2019/20 is 27.8%, this is a decrease from the previously 

reported period 2016/17 – 2018/19 where the rate was 34.1%. The decrease trend has been 

observed since 2015/16. The decrease is not statistically significant.  

 
NHS Health Check Completion Rate (of those offered - rolling year) 
The NHS Health Check completion rate is higher for this reporting period compared to the 

previously reported figure. It currently stands at 61.6% (Q3 2020/21) whereas the previously 

reported figure was 58.7% (Q2 2020/21). Whilst this is positive given the impact of the pandemic, 

this may be partly due to significantly less people being invited compared with the same period in 

2019/20. The current figure still remains lower than the same reporting period last year (Q3 

2019/20) at 64.3% due to NHS HC being paused for the majority of the period. As this indicator is 

a rolling year figure (taking into account the number of invites and the corresponding NHS Health 

Check completion rate) the significant decrease in activity during the Covid-19 period is beginning 

to be apparent from this percentage. As this is a five year cycle this lost activity will need to be 

caught up. It is anticipated that activity levels will remain relatively low for Q4 compared to 

Page 132



Appendix 1a 

Page 3 of 4 
 

previous years. An additional target group of people from BAME communities has been included 

in the new GP practice contracts. 

NHS Health Check Invitations (rolling year) 
There has been a steep decline in the number of invitations for this reporting period compared to 

the previously reported figure, due to the pandemic. The latest (rolling year) figure is 10,301 (Q3 

2020/21 invitations). The previous reported figure was 17,321 (Q2 2020/21). The steep reduction 

in this figure can be attributed to the significant drop in invites in Q1 and Q2. Normally the 

quarterly invite figure averages around 7,500. For Q3 20/21 a total of 4,000 invites were recorded. 

Number of people referred or signposted to stop smoking services from GP practices’ 

There has been a decrease in the number of people being referred to stop smoking services. The 

current figures in Q3 2020/21 are 421 (Leeds) and 205 (Deprived Leeds). The previously reported 

figures in Q2 2020/21 were 1,345 (Leeds) and 798 (Deprived Leeds). There has however been 

an increase in self-referrals. Data from One You Leeds confirms the actual access for smoking 

cessation (that is people who attend their first appointment) has declined slightly. In Q3 2020/21 

a total of 551 people attended an appointment in comparison to 765 in Q2 2020/21.  

Successful completions of drug dependency treatment (rolling year) 
There has been a small increase in the number of successful completions of drug dependency.  

The current figure is 503 (rolling year including Q3 2020/21 data). The previously reported figure 

was 485 (Q2 2020/21). The service appears to have adapted well to the impact of COVID-19. 

The Forward Leeds service adapted its offer due to Covid and the signs are that these changes 

appear to be having a positive impact on performance.  

 
Successful completions of alcohol dependency treatment (rolling year) 
There has been an increase in the number of successful completions of alcohol dependency. The 

current figure is 861 (rolling year including Q3 2020/21 data). The previously reported figure was 

834 (Q2 2020/21). As stated above the service appears to have adapted well to the impact of 

COVID-19.  

 
Recorded diabetes type 1 and 2 (per 100,000) 
There has been a slight decrease in the number of recorded diabetes type 1 and 2 per 100,000 for 

Q3 2020/21 for both Leeds and Deprived Leeds. For Leeds the current figure is 6,528.1 the 

previously reported figure was 6,537.7 (Q2 2020/21). For Deprived Leeds the current figure is 

9,258.1 the previously reported figure was 9,281.0 (Q2 2020/21). Whilst there has been a positive 

trend since Q1 2020/21, compared to the same period last year (Q3 2019/20) there has been no 

change for Leeds, which was previously 6,528.9 and there has been an increase for Deprived 

Leeds, which was 9,237.1. This may partly be due to the pausing of the NHS Health Check and the 

impact of COVID on primary care.    

Late HIV late diagnosis 
There has been an increase in HIV late diagnosis in 2017/19, the current figure is 57.1%. The 

current figure is higher than the Yorkshire and the Humber region (51.3%) and England (43.1%). 

However as a city with  

higher rates of HIV, there has been an investment in both community HIV testing and opportunistic 

HIV screening in a range of settings including termination services, community testing aimed at gay 

men and black African communities, new registrants in GP practices within high prevalence areas, 

A&E and acute medical admissions. This additional proactive approach which aims to diagnose 

Page 133



Appendix 1a 

Page 4 of 4 
 

those who are unaware of their HIV status and who do not see themselves as being ‘at risk’ has 

increased the city’s late diagnosis rates, as more positive cases are being found opportunistically.  

 
Chlamydia detection rate (15-24 year olds) (per 100,000) 
The Chlamydia detection rate has increased from 3,434 in 2018 to 3,946 in 2019, which is positive 

as it shows that the right young people are accessing testing. Leeds continues to perform better 

than the Yorkshire and Humber region (2,200) and England (2,043). As a city Chlamydia testing is 

available to 15-24 year olds via a variety of options including online, via the specialist sexual health 

service and through one of the numerous community based 3 in 1 sites.   

 
Uptake of Long-acting reversible contraceptives (LARC) (per 1,000) 
The uptake of LARC has increased from 59.2 in 2018 to 61.9 in 2019, which is positive. Leeds has 

a much better uptake of LARC methods than the regional and national average. LARC is 

recommended as the most effective method of contraception for preventing unwanted 

pregnancies.  

 

Identified risks or opportunities: 

Smoking 

The continuing decline in the number of adults who smoke is positive and the result of a consistent 

and co-ordinated effort by Public Health and partners locally and nationally, as well a reflection of 

national trends.  Smoking rates remain higher in deprived Leeds than Leeds as a whole and 

smoking cigarettes is still the leading cause of preventable death. Therefore a comprehensive 

tobacco control approach continues to be required particularly focused on reducing health 

inequalities.  

 

NHS Health Checks 

COVID has had a significant impact on delivery of the mandated NHS Health Check programme 

which could also impact on identification of diabetes and CVD premature mortality in future years. 

 

Actions or recommendations: 

It is recommended that the Scrutiny Board accept this report, as a key part of surveillance 

to monitor health inequalities in Leeds and public health service outcomes. 

 
 

Page 134



Public Health Performance Indicators

Population Indicators

Leeds Deprived

* Life Expectancy at Birth - Males  78.4  73.8

* Life Expectancy at Birth - Females  81.7  77.0

1. Improving the health and wellbeing of children and young people:

* Infant mortality rate per 1000 births  4.0  5.0

Obesity % excess weight in 4-5 year olds  23.4%  27.2%

Obesity % excess weight in 10-11 year olds  35.8%  42.0%

Reception: Prevalence of obesity (including severe obesity)  9.8% #

Year 6: Prevalence of obesity (including severe obesity)  21.0% #

2. Improving the health and wellbeing of adults and preventing early death:

Rate of early death from CVD per 100,000  77.1  122.0

CVD Mortality, all ages, DSR per 100,000  250.6  325.3

Respiratory mortality, all ages, DSR per 100,000  87.3  146.2

Rate of early death under 75 from cancer per 100,000  138.0  202.4

Alcoholic liver disease mortality, under 75, DSR per 100,000  10.2  17.4

PYLL avoidable causes (DSR per 100,000)  5,692.2  9,525.5

* % Adults over 18 that smoke  17.8%  28.0%

* Excess weight in adults % of Adults who have a BMI of over 30  22.8%  27.1%

Percentage of physically inactive adults (aged 19+, <30 moderate 
intensity minutes per week)

 17.8 #

3. Protecting health and wellbeing (*protect the health of the local population):

Excess winter deaths  20.6  22.9

Suicide Rate (persons)  11.2  17.2

4.

Public Health advice to NHS Commissioners – Leeds CCG’s

Notes

* Indicators marked with an asterisk have been updated Significance of change since previous period:

Statistically significant, direction is postive  

Statistically significant, direction is negative  

Not statistically significant, direction is negative  

Unable to test, direction is positive  

Unable to test, direction is negative  

# Deprived Leeds data unavailable due to no access to latest 
data / data quality issue 

Updated March 2021

Overarching Indicator

Support NHS to provide effective and equitable health care service:              

For the majority of these indicators a reduction represents an improvement. Notable exceptions are Life Expectancy at Birth, service / health intervention uptake and 
successful completion / continuation

5. Developing 
community health 
capacity and the 
wider public               
health workforce:

- Training and 
development 
programmes

- Local community 
health 
development

- City wide health 
determinants

6. Improving the 
use of Public 
Health Intelligence in 
decision making by 
organisations 
and the public:

- Health profiling
- Needs assessment
- Social marketing 

and insight

Page 135



Operational Indicators
Leeds Deprived Leeds

1 Improving the health and wellbeing of children and young people:

Leeds Deprived

Best start - number of under 2s taken into care  123.0  74.0

Breast feeding % initiation  73.7%  67.5%

Breast feeding % maintenance at 6-8 weeks  48.7%  43.3%

*
Alcohol – rate of admissions of under 18’s to hospital for alcohol 
related problems (per 100,000)

 27.8 #

2 Improving the health and wellbeing of adults and preventing early death:

* NHS Health Check Completion Rate (of those offered - rolling year)  61.6% #

* NHS Health Check Invitations (rolling year)  10,301 #

*
Number of people referred or signposted to stop smoking services 
from GP practices’

 421  205.0

Rate of alcohol related admissions to hospital per 100,000  649.0 #

* Successful completions of drug dependency treatment (rolling year)  503.0 #

* Successful completions of alcohol dependency treatment (rolling year)  861.0 #

* Recorded diabetes type 1 and 2 (per 100,000)  6,528.1  9,258.1

3 Protecting health and wellbeing (*protect the health of the local population):

*
HIV late diagnosis: % 15+ or above newly diagnosed with HIV with a 
CD4 count < 350 cells per mm3

 57.1 #

* Chlamydia detection rate (15-24 year olds) (per 100,000)  3,946.4 #

* Uptake of Long-acting reversible contraceptives (LARC) (per 1,000)  61.6 #

Emergency Admissions from Intentional Self-Harm (DSR per 100,000)  227.0 #

4.

Public Health advice to NHS Commissioners – Leeds CCG’s

Notes

* Indicators marked with an asterisk have been updated Significance of change since previous period:

Statistically significant, direction is postive  

Statistically significant, direction is negative  

Not statistically significant, direction is postive  

Not statistically significant, direction is negative  

Unable to test, direction is positive  

Unable to test, direction is negative  

Updated March 2021

Support NHS to provide effective and equitable health care service:              

For the majority of these indicators a reduction represents an improvement. Notable exceptions are Life Expectancy at Birth, service / health intervention uptake and 
successful completion / continuation

# Deprived Leeds data unavailable due to no access to latest 
data / data quality issue 

5. Developing 
community health 
capacity and the 
wider public               
health workforce:

- Training and 
development 
programmes

- Local community 
health 
development

- City wide health 
determinants

6. Improving the 
use of Public 
Health Intelligence in 
decision making by 
organisations 
and the public:

- Health profiling
- Needs assessment
- Social marketing 

and insight

Page 136



Population Indicators Leeds Deprived Leeds Latest period
Previous period

Leeds
Previous period
Deprived Leeds

Previous period
An improving 
direction is an 

Overarching Indicator Updated March 2021

* Life Expectancy at Birth - Males  78.4  73.8 2017 - 2019 78.1 73.2 2016 - 2018 increase

* Life Expectancy at Birth - Females  81.7  77.0 2017 - 2019 81.5 77.1 2016 - 2018 increase

1 Improving the health and wellbeing of children and young people:

* Infant mortality rate per 1000 births  4.0  5.0 2017-2019 3.9 4.8 2016-2018 decrease

Obesity % excess weight in 4-5 year olds  23.4%  27.2% 2018/19 22.4% 25.7% 2017/18 decrease

Obesity % excess weight in 10-11 year olds  35.8%  42.0% 2018/19 34.0% 39.9% 2017/18 decrease

Reception: Prevalence of Obesity (including severe obesity)  9.8%  # 2018/19 9.5% # 2017/18 decrease

Year 6: Prevalence of Obesity (including severe obesity)  21.0%  # 2018/19 19.9% # 2017/18 decrease

2 Improving the health and wellbeing of adults and preventing early death:

Rate of early death from CVD per 100,000  77.1  122.0 2017-2019 82.1 137.8 2016 - 2018 decrease

CVD Mortality, all ages, DSR per 100,000  250.6  325.3 2017 - 2019 262.2 349.2 2016 - 2018 decrease

Respiratory mortality, all ages, DSR per 100,000  87.3  146.2 2017 - 2019 87.0 146.8 2016 - 2018 decrease

Rate of early death under 75 from cancer per 100,000  138.0  202.4 2017 - 2019 140.1 200.0 2016 - 2018 decrease

Alcoholic liver disease mortality, under 75, DSR per 100,000  10.2  17.4 2017 - 2019 10.3 16.4 2016 - 2018 decrease

PYLL avoidable causes (DSR per 100,000)  5,692.2  9,525.5 2017 - 2019 5,612.7 9,451.6 2016-2018 decrease

* % Adults over 18 that smoke  17.8%  28.0% Q3 2020/21 18.2% 29.1% Q2 2020/21 decrease

* Excess weight in adults % of Adults who have a BMI of over 30  22.8%  27.1% Q3 2020/21 22.7% 27.1% Q2 2020/21 decrease

Percentage of physically inactive adults (aged 19+, <30 moderate intensity 
minutes per week)

 17.8  # 2018/19 20.6 # 2017/18 decrease

3 Protecting health and wellbeing (*protect the health of the local population):

Excess winter deaths  20.6  22.9 2018/19 29.3 27.9 2017/18 decrease

Suicide Rate (persons)  11.2  17.2 2017-19 9.7 13.5 2016-18 decrease

P
age 137



Operational Indicators Leeds Deprived Leeds Latest period
Previous period

Leeds
Previous period
Deprived Leeds

Previous period An improving 
direction is an 

1 Improving the health and wellbeing of children and young people:

Best start - number of under 2s taken into care  123.0  74.0 2019/20 121.0 75.0 2018/19 decrease

Breast feeding % initiation  73.7%  67.5% 2018/19 73.0% 65.5% 2017/18 increase

Breast feeding % maintenance at 6-8 weeks  48.7%  43.3% 2018/19 48.4% 44.0% 2017/18 decrease

* Alcohol – rate of admissions of under 18’s to hospital for alcohol related 
problems (per 100,000)

 27.8  # 2017/18 - 19/20 34.1 # 2016/17 - 18/19 decrease

2 Improving the health and wellbeing of adults and preventing early death:

* NHS Health Check Completion Rate (of those offered - rolling year)  61.6%  # Q3 2020/21 58.7% # Q2 2020/21 increase

* NHS Health Check Invitations (rolling year)  10,301  # Q3 2020/21 17,321 # Q2 2020/21 increase

* Number of people referred or signposted to stop smoking services from GP 
practices’

 421  205.0 Q3 2020/21 1,345 798.0 Q2 2020/21 increase

Rate of alcohol related admissions to hospital per 100,000  649.0  # 2018/19 646.4 # 2017/18 decrease

* Successful completions of drug dependency treatment (rolling year)  503.0  # Q3 2020/21 485.0 # Q2 2020/21 increase

* Successful completions of alcohol dependency treatment (rolling year)  861.0  # Q3 2020/21 834.0 # Q2 2020/21 increase

* Recorded diabetes type 1 and 2 (per 100,000)  6,528.1  9,258.1 Q3 2020/21 6,537.7 9,281.0 Q2 2020/21 increase

3 Protecting health and wellbeing (*protect the health of the local population):

* HIV late diagnosis: % 15+ or above newly diagnosed with HIV with a CD4 count 
< 350 cells per mm3

 57.1  # 2017 - 19 52.5 # 2016-18 decrease

* Chlamydia detection rate (15-24 year olds) (per 100,000)  3,946.4  # 2019 3,434.8 # 2018 increase

* Uptake of Long-acting reversible contraceptives (LARC) (per 1,000)  61.6  # 2019 59.2 # 2018 increase

Emergency Admissions from Intentional Self-Harm (DSR per 100,000)  227.0 # 2018-19 240.9 380.1 2016-17 decrease

Notes

* Indicators marked with an asterisk have been updated for March 2021

"Deprived Leeds" is the population of Leeds living in an area ranking in the 10% most deprived nationally

# Deprived Leeds data is unavailable due to no access to latest data / data quality issue 

Population' and 'Operational' indicators are defined as follows. Population level indicators are health outcomes (i.e. Increased life expectancy, Reduced premature mortality, People living healthier lifestyles). Operational 
indicators are measures of service delivery or health intervention, and the outcome of that service delivery or health intervention (i.e. breast feeding initiation, and continuation at 6-8 wks, health checks and numbers on 
diabetes register, completion of alcohol dependency treatment and admission to hospital for alcohol harm). Please note that providing a Leeds Deprived split is not possible for all indicators.

P
age 138



Updated March 2021

Population Indicators

Life Expectancy at Birth - Males Life Expectancy at Birth - Females

Infant mortality rate per 1000 births

70

72

74

76

78

80

82

84

Leeds Deprived

72

74

76

78

80

82

84

Leeds Deprived

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Leeds Deprived

P
age 139



% Adults over 18 that smoke Excess weight in adults % of Adults who have a BMI of over 30

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Leeds Deprived

20%

21%

22%

23%

24%

25%

26%

27%

28%

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Leeds Deprived

P
age 140



Uptake of NHS Health Checks

Number of people referred or signposted to stop smoking services from GP practices’

Operational Indicators - March 2021

Alcohol – rate of admissions of under 18’s to hospital for alcohol related problems (per 
100,000)

Successful completions of drug dependency treatment (rolling year)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

45000

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

In
vi

te
s 

(r
ol

lin
g 

ye
ar

)

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

(%
)

Rolling 4 Quarter Completion Rate (%) Number of Invites

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Leeds Deprived Leeds rolling 4 qtr ave Deprived rolling 4 qtr ave

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

P
age 141



Recorded diabetes type 1 and 2

Chlamydia detection rate (15-24 year olds) (per 100,000)

Successful completions of alcohol dependency treatment (rolling year)

HIV late diagnosis: % 15+ or above newly diagnosed with HIV with a CD4 count < 350 cells 
per mm3

# Deprived Leeds data 
unavailable due to no 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

3500

4500

5500

6500

7500

8500

9500

10500

Q1Q2 Q3Q4 Q1Q2 Q3 Q4Q1 Q2Q3 Q4Q1 Q2Q3Q4 Q1Q2 Q3Q4 Q1Q2Q3 Q4Q1 Q2Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2Q3 Q4 Q1Q2 Q3

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Leeds Deprived

0.0

500.0

1000.0

1500.0

2000.0

2500.0

3000.0

3500.0

4000.0

4500.0

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2009 - 11 2010 - 12 2011 - 13 2012 - 14 2013 - 15 2014 - 16 2015 - 17 2016-18 2017-19

P
age 142



Uptake of Long-acting reversible contraceptives (LARC) (per 1,000)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

P
age 143



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2a: Adults Social Care Update  
 
Background 
 
1. Social Care in Leeds provides a range of care and support services to help meet 

the needs of older people, people with a learning disability, those with mental 
health issues and people with a physical or sensory impairment.   

 
2. These services range from those available on a direct access basis for preventative 

support through to residential and nursing care, when this is the right option.  
Services can be provided directly and through commissioning and funding 
arrangements.   

 
3. During 2020/21, Adult Social Care in Leeds provided long term support to 10,616 

people, 6,457 of whom where aged 65 and over.  Looking at people who had been 
in receipt of long term support for over 12 months, and who had an open case at 
the end of March 2021, there were 6,614 people with a currently open case, 3,265 
of whom were aged 65 or over.   

 
4. The Leeds approach to Adult Social Care is informed by the Better Lives Strategy 

and its themes of better conversations, better living and better connections.  This 
strategy is currently being renewed.   

 
5. The Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) provides an outcomes 

based national framework for measuring performance of all local authorities. 
Metrics are organised under four key aims or domains. 

 Domain 1: Enhance quality of life for people with care and support needs.    

 Domain 2: Delay and reduce the need for care and support. 

 Domain 3: Ensure that people have a positive experience of care and support. 

 Domain 4: Safeguarding adults whose circumstances amen them vulnerable 

and protecting them from harm.   

 

6. The metrics within the ASCOF are informed by the results of mandatory national 
data collections and surveys. This report presents 2020/21 provisional results 
where possible, alongside the most recent comparative data from 2019/20 
(2020/21 national data is published in November 2021) and includes local metrics 
where relevant to the Better Lives Strategy. 

 
7. The impact of Covid-19, meant that national surveys were not undertaken so we 

do not have outcomes results for ASCOF metrics based upon the survey results.  
In addition there have been changes during the year in patterns of demand and 
operation of services which have impacted upon results and trends.  We will 
continue monitoring closely to ensure we understand need and are informing 
service delivery.  

 
8. An initial draft version of the annual Short and Long Term servicer users (SALT) 

data collection return for 2020/21 has been completed, prior to submission. As 
expected this reflects the impact of COVID-19 on social care demand.   

 

Page 145



 Requests for support are down compared to the same point last year by 18% 
for 18-64 year olds and by 35% for Over 65s.  Looking at the sources of 
requests, while there is some limited decline in community sourced requests, it 
is requests for services for people being discharged from hospital that account 
for the majority of the decrease.  
 

 Despite this the overall number of Long Term Service Users supported in year 
are broadly in line with last year with a 3% increase in the number of 18-64 year 
olds supported and a 2% reduction for over 65 year olds.  The reduction in older 
people supported is due to an 8% reduction in those supported in care homes 
partially offset by an increase in support in the community. This reflects a 
reduction in admissions to care homes during the year. 
 

 A snapshot of the number of Long Term Service Users supported at the end of 
March 2021 shows that the numbers of 18-64 year olds are broadly in line with 
last year whilst there has been an overall 6% reduction in the number of older 
people supported and a 15% reduction in the number in care homes. This is 
due to the impact of COVID-19, though in year monitoring shows that the 
numbers are beginning to increase. 
 
ASCOF framework  

 
9. Domain 1: Enhance quality of life for people with care and support needs       
 

 The overall proportion of people receiving self-directed support has dropped 
slightly but remains strong. The proportion of people receiving direct payments 
in particular has declined. There was also a reduction in the number of carers 
using direct payments. 

 

 Results for adults in contact with secondary mental health services in paid 
employment has fallen compared to last year potentially as a result of COVID-
19, whilst the proportion living independently has fallen significantly, however, 
this is due to data recording issues at LYPFT rather than an actual change in 
performance. These issues have been reported to NHS Digital.   

 

 Both the employment and settled accommodation metrics for people with 
learning disabilities continue to improve.  

 
10. Domain 2: Delay and reduce the need for care and support  
 

 The Leeds rate of adults over 65 who have their needs met through permanent 
admission to nursing and care homes continues to fall, and has dropped 
considerably lower compared to previous years in 2020/21, this is likely due to 
COVID-19. Admissions for adults aged 18-64 2020/21 saw a reduction in the 
admission rate compared to 2019/20 and is now more in line with previous 
years.  

 

 Delayed Transfers of Care statistics have not been collated since February 
2020 and will be replaced following the pandemic.  

 

Page 146



 The sequel to reablement metric has continued to improve with 71.9% of people 
achieving independence following short term support.  81.4% of older people 
were at home 91 days after leaving hospital and receiving short term 
reablement support compared to 83.1% in 2019/20.   The overall number of 
people receiving reablement services in the 2020/21 is 34% lower than last 
year. The ability of the service to operate has been greatly impacted on by 
COVID-19, although progressively services are resuming. 

 
11. Domain 3: Ensure that people have a positive experience of care and support  
 

 The ASCOF metrics within this domain are based upon surveys which were not 
carried out in 2020/21.  

 

 Leeds indicators.  A Best Council Plan metric not included in ASCOF but 
relevant to Adult Social Care include the results of Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) inspections of local provision.  This result improved in March 2020 to 
87% but fell to 83.5% at the end of March 2021. This fall is due to not being 
able to attend regular inspections apart from when providers require immediate 
support with significant challenges. A small number of inspections have been 
reported during the period for homes that were subsequently rated as requiring 
improvement or inadequate, thus impacting upon the overall score. 

 
12. Domain 4: Safeguarding adults whose circumstances amen them vulnerable 

and protecting them from harm   
 

 The ASCOF metrics within this domain are all based upon surveys which were 
not carried out in 2020/21.   

 

 Leeds indicators.  A key local metric relates to meeting the outcomes for people 
who have been supported with safeguarding. During 2020/21 93.5% of people 
had their desired outcomes fully or partially met when being the subject of a 
safeguarding inquiry. This is in line with the target of 93% but is lower than 
2019/20.   There has been an increase in safeguarding concerns raised during 
2020/21, however, safeguarding enquiries remain stable. This maybe an 
impact of COVID-9 and people erring on the side of caution. 

 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2b   

PROVISIONAL 2020-21  

Leeds Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework  & Better Lives Strategy Measures   (ASCOF)  
Leeds 

 Comparison  

(2019-20 Data) 

  ASCOF Measure 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 
2020-21 

Provisional 

1 Year 
Trend 

Yorkshire 
& Humber  

Comparator* England  

Domain 1: Enhancing quality of life for people with care and support needs 

1A** Social care-related quality of life score 19.4 19.7 19.6 19.7 NA NA 19.1 19.0 19.1 

1B ** The proportion of people who use services who have control over their daily life 77.6 79.3 75.1 80.2 NA NA 75.2 77.2 77.3 

1C(1A) The proportion of people who use services who receive self-directed support 98.3 98.1 91.2 92.7 90.5  88.5 89.5 91.9 

1C(1B) The proportion of carers who receive self-directed support 95.6 94.6 94.0 93.4 88.3 
79.9 80.4 86.9 

1C(2A) BL7 The proportion of people who use services who receive direct payments 21.1 20.1 17.8 16.2 15.4 
26.7 25.6 27.9 

1C(2B) BL2 The proportion of carers who receive direct payments 89.2 88.4 87.4 83.7 65.6 
73.0 78.0 77.1 

1D*** Carer-reported quality of life 7.4 NA 7.5 NA  NA  NA 8.0 7.7 7.7 

1E The proportion of adults with a learning disability in paid employment 6.1 6.7 7.7 8.1 8.5 
6.3 4.8 5.6 

1F 
The proportion of adults in contact with secondary mental health services in 
paid employment 

NA 8.1 12.0 12.0 9.5  
11.0 8.4 9.0 

1G 
The proportion of adults with a learning disability who live in their own home or 
with their family 

61.9 71.9 73.0 74.8 76.8  80.9 80.9 77.3 

1H 
The proportion of adults in contact with secondary mental health services living 
independently, with or without support 

NA 59 72.0 74.0 12.8  
67.0 67.0 58.0 

1I(1) ** 
The proportion of people who use services who reported that they had as much 
social contact as they would like 

45.5 50.8 51.6 49.4 NA NA 46.2 45.9 45.9 

1I(2)*** 
The proportion of carers who reported that they had as much social contact as 
they would like 

29.9 NA 32.4  NA NA NA 38.7 36.1 35.5 

1J** Adjusted Social care-related quality of life – impact of Adult Social Care services 0.413 0.407 0.362 0.351 NA NA 0.404 0.405 0.405 

Domain 2: Delaying and reducing the need for care and support 

2A(1)  
BL 8 

Long-term support needs of younger adults (aged 18-64) met by admission to 
residential and nursing  care homes, per 100,000 population 

7.7 11.7 13.4 16.2 13.4 
17.8 16.7 14.6 

2A(2) 
BL 9 

Long-term support needs of older adults (aged 65 and over) met by admission to 
residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population 

615.6 594.6 524.4 561.1 462.3 
654.8 675.0 584.0 

2B(1) 
The proportion of older people (aged 65 and over) who were still at home 91 
days after discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services 

89.2 85.8 82.2 83.1 81.4%                
80.4 82.5 82.0 

2B(2) 
The proportion of older people (aged 65 and over) who received 
reablement/rehabilitation services after discharge from hospital 

2.9 3.3 2.9 2.0 NA   NA 2.4 3.1 2.6 

2C(1) Delayed transfers of care from hospital, per 100,000 population 12.7 16.9 16.4 12.6 NA  NA 9.4 10.2 10.8 

P
age 149



PROVISIONAL 2020-21  

Leeds Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework  & Better Lives Strategy Measures   (ASCOF)  
Leeds 

 Comparison  

(2019-20 Data) 

  ASCOF Measure 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 
2020-21 

Provisional 

1 Year 
Trend 

Yorkshire 
& Humber  

Comparator* England  

2C(2) 
BL 5 

Delayed transfers of care from hospital that are attributable to adult social care, 
per 100,000 population 

3.8 4.2 1.1 0.7 NA NA  2.7 2.6 3.2 

2C(3) 
 Delayed transfers of care from hospital that are attributable to NHS and adult 
social care, per 100,000 population 

NA  1.0 3.0 2.0 NA  NA  1.0 1.1 1.0 

2D The outcome of short-term services: sequel to service 54.9 59.5 60.6 65.7 71.9 
73.1 69.8 79.5 

Domain 3: Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care and support 

3A ** Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their care and support 60.9 62.4 63.3 66.7 NA NA 64.0 63.4 64.2 

3B*** Overall satisfaction of carers with social services 41.6 NA 38.0 NA NA NA 41.3 33.0 39.0 

3C*** 
The proportion of carers who report that they have been included or consulted 
in discussion about the person they care for 

70.2 NA 73.1 NA 
NA 

NA 73.6 71.6 70.6 

3D(1) ** 
The proportion of people who use services who find it easy to find information 
about support 

75.7 74.1 69.8 71.5 
NA 

NA 68.1 67.9 68.4 

3D(2)*** The proportion of carers who find it easy to find information about services 64.5 NA 65.4 NA NA  NA 66.4 64.6 64.2 

Domain 4:  Safeguarding adults whose circumstances make them vulnerable and protecting them from harm 

4A ** The proportion of people who use services who feel safe 72.8 72.7 73.0 69.4 NA NA 69.7 68.9 70.2 

4B ** 
The proportion of people who use services who say that those services have  
made them feel safe and secure 

86.9 86.9 91.1 87.6 NA NA 86.7 86.8 86.8 

Additional Leeds Better Lives Strategy Measures 

BL 1 
Percentage of referrals for social care resolved at initial point of contact or 
through accessing universal services 

20.8 24.1 25.5 29.3 30.3  Local Measure 

BL 4 
People completing a reablement service (Data is not comparable given service 
redesign in 2017-18, the figure for that year is for 8 months) 

1717 1868 257.0 231 113  Local Measure 

BL 6 
Proportion of Care Quality Commission registered care services in Leeds rated 
overall as good or outstanding 

65.2 75.9 82.0 87.8 83.5  Local Measure 

BL 10 
The percentage of people with a concluded safeguarding enquiry for whom their 
outcomes were fully or partially met (overall number) 

95.1 
(2029) 

94.8 
(2466) 

96.5 97.2 93.5  Local Measure 

Notes  

* Comparator Authorities - Nationally agreed group of LA's for comparing outcomes      

** = Results from Annual survey of ASC service users. No survey in 2020/21 due to COVID 

*** = Carers survey occurs every two years. No survey in 2020/21 due to COVID 

BL=Better Lives  

 

P
age 150



 

Appendix 3:   More Adults are Active 

Percentage of Physically Active Adults 

 

 

The national Active Lives Survey (ALS), carried out by Sport England, is used to 

provide the data for this indicator. The survey produces in depth information about 

participants’ activity and lifestyle. The Best Council Plan 2020-2025 performance 

indicator uses the “percentage of people who are inactive” in order to determine if 

more ‘inactive’ people are becoming ‘active’, and a reduction in the number of adults 

who fall into the ‘inactive’ category is sought. The Survey samples around 2,000 

Leeds’ residents on a rolling basis; and “inactive” is defined as undertaking less than 

30 minutes of moderate activity per week. 

The ALS result (November 2019 – November 2020) is reported here and showed 

that 25.6% of people in Leeds were inactive i.e. 163,900 people. An increase of 

4.8% compared to the full previous year’s ALS result of 20.9% of people were 

inactive, which equated to 132,900, an increase of 31,000 people over the 12 month 

period; these figures are reflective of pre-pandemic and during pandemic activity 

levels. It should be noted here that the national lockdown which began in January 

2021 is not reflected in these figures. 

The pandemic led to unprecedented decreases in activity levels and, as a result, the 

latest annual national results show the following changes compared to 12 months 

earlier: 

• 0.7m (-1.9%) fewer active adults 

• 1.2m (+2.6%) more inactive adults 

Activity choice was severely restricted during the initial phase of lockdown, 

highlighting the importance of organised sport and access to facilities for specific 

groups, and that some groups found it more difficult to adapt to the new regulations 

than others. Active Leeds tried to combat some of this by delivering a physical 

activity toolkit to deprived areas in Leeds and providing activities for children to do at 

home (even swimming activities to do in the paddling pool and live gymnastic 

sessions in the garden and on trampolines). Active Leeds also started outdoor 

fitness classes, running, cycling activities, as well as targeted outdoor classes for the 

health programmes. Over 90,000 calls were carried out to members in all 

programmes to provide exercise advice and support including ensuring that they had 

Priorities 
BCP Key 

Performance 
Indicators (KPI) 

2020/21 
Target 

Q4 Result RAG 

Health & 
Wellbeing 

 Supporting 
healthy, 
physically 
active lifestyles 

Bi-Annual KPI 
Percentage of 
physically active adults 

<20.9% of 
people are 

inactive 
(132,900) 

(Nov 2018-Nov 
2019) 

25.6% of 
people are 

inactive 
(163,900 people) 
(Nov 2019-Nov 

2020) 

 

Page 151



 

access to essential equipment. Calls were especially concentrated on the older aged 

groups, who just liked having someone to chat to during this period.  

In lockdown itself, positive government messages about getting outside once a day 

for exercise played an important role in reminding people about the importance of 

activity for their health. The Active Lives Report paints a picture of a nation doing its 

best to stay active despite the challenges to their daily lives, with people turning to 

home-based fitness, running and cycling in great numbers, however as the 3rd 

lockdown came in during the winter months people did find it harder to do some of 

things they had enjoyed during previous lockdowns.  

Walking was the most popular overall activity in the early weeks from mid-March, 

with more than 21 million adults walking at moderate intensity, while outdoor running 

was also popular. However with most business premises and offices closed, walking 

for travel saw the largest drop over the period, down 7.3m.  

Exercising at home also saw a boom, as people were encouraged to get active 

indoors, with Active Leeds launching the exercising at home toolkit and online fitness 

class programme for people to join. This developed more throughout the year giving 

customers a hybrid approach to service delivery, especially those that didn’t feel 

comfortable to coming back to physical locations. The impact of the pandemic is 

likely to have been mitigated to a certain extent by activity providers in Leeds and 

growth of online fitness activities creating more content especially for disabled 

people and those with long-term health conditions. For example, Active Leeds Health 

Programmes team put on specific online sessions for their clients during this time 

and sent out resources for people to be able to take part in activities at home. 

The leisure centres opened on and off through the year which provided safe 

environments for people to exercise indoors. Usage across the sites was down 40% 

whilst they were open and with reduced capacities in programmes such as 

swimming lessons which could only run at 50% of pre-pandemic numbers. Exercise 

classes weren’t allowed indoors during some of these periods even when the leisure 

centres were open. School access has been allowed, even during some of the 

lockdown periods, when schools were open and now have just over 200 schools 

attending swimming lesson across the leisure centres. Active Leeds have been 

working to offer additional sessions for schools to catch up for children that may 

have missed out due to the sites being closed and are looking to put more intensive 

swimming lessons on during the holiday periods, especially in the summer holidays. 

The service will be working with schools to offer reduced priced swimming lessons 

and working with the healthy holiday schemes to offer swimming lessons to 

providers running sessions to really target those children who have missed out 

learning to swim through the schools programme.  

Active Leeds has received lots of positive comments from customers using the 

services with 94% of customers returning rating the facilities safe/very safe and 92% 

rating the cleaning standards as brilliant/good and scoring their experience 8.5 out of 

10. 

 

Page 152



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the 
municipal year.  In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid 
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to 
reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also reflect any timetable 
issues that might occur from time to time. 
 

 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules also state that, where appropriate, all terms of 
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘ to review how and to what 
effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas, 
as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’. 
 

 Reflecting on the information in this report and also information presented as part of other 
agenda items at today’s meeting, Members are requested to consider and discuss the 
Board’s work schedule for this municipal year.   

 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the 

2021/22 municipal year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Work Schedule 

Date: 15th June 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Angela Brogden 

Tel: 0113 3788661 

Page 153

Agenda Item 8



 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  
 

1. A draft work schedule for the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board is 
presented at Appendix 1 for consideration and discussion.  Reflected in the work schedule 
are known items of scrutiny activity, such as performance and budget monitoring, identified 
Budget and Policy Framework items and recommendation tracking. 

 
2. The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 21st April 2021 are also 

attached as Appendix 2.  The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive 
Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any 
matter where specific scrutiny activity may also be warranted. 
 
Areas of work carried forward/recommended by the former Adults, Health and Active 
Lifestyles Scrutiny Board 

 
3. In March 2021, Members of the former Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board 

were invited to identify any other specific areas/ matters that it would like to recommend to 
the successor Scrutiny Board in terms of its future work programme.  In doing so, a 
particular suggestion was made for the Board to explore how GP services are planning to 
safely return to a face-to-face appointment service. 
 

4. On 26th April 2021, the former Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board also held 
a Health Service Developments Working Group meeting to consider development 
proposals linked to adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation services and community 
neurological rehabilitation services in Leeds.  During this meeting, Board Members had 
requested that further service-related information, including patient numbers, waiting times 
and initial findings arising from ongoing patient engagement, be made available before 
determining what, if any, further scrutiny activity may be warranted. This information will 
therefore be circulated separately to Board Members in due course. 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

5. All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the 
municipal year. 
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  
 

6. In order to enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, it is recognised that each 
Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with the Directors and Executive 
Board Members holding the relevant portfolios. The Vision for Scrutiny also states that 
Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and 
Executive Member about available resources prior to agreeing items of work. 
 

7. The Director of Adults and Health; Director of Public Health; Director of City Development 
and relevant Executive Board Members have therefore been invited to today’s meeting to 
share their views and contribute to the Board’s discussion. 

 

8. As the remit of the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) includes the 
council’s statutory health scrutiny function, an invitation to today’s meeting has also been 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 154



extended to senior representatives of local NHS organisations to provide an opportunity for 
them to also share their views and contribute to the Board’s discussion.  

 
What are the resource implications? 
 

1. Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if 

the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and 

focus its resources on one key issue at a time.    

 

2. The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council 

functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and 

that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.   

 

3. Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should: 

 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member 
about available resources; 
 

 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having 
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue; 
 

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and 
can be delivered within an agreed time frame. 

 
What are the legal implications?  
 

4. This report has no specific legal implications. 
 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 
 

5. There are no risk management implications relevant to this report. 
  

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 
 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 
6. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking 

Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives. 
  

Appendices 
 

7. Appendix 1 – Draft work schedule of the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny 
Board for the 2021/22 municipal year. 
 

8. Appendix 2 – Draft minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 21st April 2021. 
 

 

Background papers 
 

9. None. 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

June 2021 July 2021 August 2021 

Meeting Agenda for 15/06/21 at 1.30 pm. Meeting Agenda for 13/07/21 at 1.30 pm. No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled 
 

 
** Consultative Meeting** 

 
Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference and 
Sources of Work (DB) 
 

Performance Update (PM) 
 

 

  
Update surrounding the Health and Care Bill – 
“Integration and Innovation: working together to 
improve health and social care for all” (DB) 

 

Working Group Meetings 

  
 
 
 

Site Visits / Other  

   

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 157



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 
 

September 2021 October 2021 November 2021 

Meeting Agenda for 07/09/21 at 1.30 pm. Meeting Agenda for 05/10/21 at 1.30 pm. Meeting Agenda for 16/11/21 at 1.30 pm. 
 

 
 

 

 

Working Group Meetings 

   

Site Visits / Other  

   

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 158



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

December 2021 January 2022 February 2022 

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled Meeting Agenda for 11/01/022 at 1.30 pm. Meeting Agenda for 08/02/22 at 1.30 pm. 

 
 
 

 
Performance report (PM) 
 
Financial Health Monitoring (PSR) 
 
2022/23 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS) 
 

 

Working Group Meetings 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Site Visits / Other  

   

 
 
 
 

P
age 159



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 
 

March 2022 April 2022 May 2022 

Meeting Agenda for 15/03/22 at 1.30 pm. No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled 
 

 
 

Working Group Meetings 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

P
age 160



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 21ST APRIL, 2021 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair 

 Councillors S Arif, A Carter, D Coupar, 
S Golton, M Harland, H Hayden, J Pryor, 
M Rafique and F Venner  

 
 

149 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
There was no information contained within the agenda which was designated 
as being exempt from publication and which required exclusion of the press 
and public. 
 

150 Late Items  
Agenda Item 12 - Update on Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic – Response 
and Recovery Plan 
 
With the agreement of the Chair, a late item of business was admitted to the 
agenda entitled, ‘Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic – Response 
and Recovery Plan’. 
 
Given the scale and significance of this issue, it was deemed appropriate that 
a further update report be submitted to this remote meeting of the Board. 
However, due to the fast paced nature of developments on this issue, and in 
order to ensure that Board Members received the most up to date information 
as possible, the report was not included within the agenda as originally 
published on 13th April 2021. (Minute No. 157 refers). 
 
Agenda Item 6 – Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan 
 
With the agreement of the Chair, supplementary information in the form of 
Appendix 4 to the report had been circulated to Board Members following the 
despatch of the agenda, in order to provide Members with the latest 
information possible ahead of the meeting in respect of the work being 
undertaken with the aim of increasing the uptake of the Covid-19 vaccine 
across all communities in Leeds.  (Minute No. 153 refers).  
 

151 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting. 
 

152 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 17th March 
2021 be approved as a correct record. 
 
 
 
 

Page 161



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
 

153 Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan  
The Director of Public Health submitted a report providing an update on the 
Leeds Covid-19 Vaccination Programme’s approach towards mitigating 
inequalities and ensuring that all communities have access to the Covid-19 
vaccine through the ‘Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan’. 
 
With the agreement of the Chair, supplementary information in the form of 
Appendix 4 to the report had been circulated to Board Members following the 
despatch of the agenda, in order to provide Members with an update on the 
main work streams of the Health Inequalities Vaccination Programme, 
including headline Covid-19 vaccination uptake data for the city. 
 
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted the range of 
actions being taken with partners and established community networks to 
increase the vaccination uptake across all communities in Leeds, in order to 
maximise the benefit of the current vaccination programme with the overriding 
principle that no one is left behind. As part of the introduction it was noted that 
50% of Leeds’ adult population had now received a first Covid vaccination. 
 
Responding to a Member’s specific enquiry, the Board received further detail 
regarding the progress which had been made to date, and the range of work 
which continued in encouraging vaccination uptake in BAME communities, 
with specific reference being made to the older generation. It was noted as 
part of the discussion that this was an issue affecting other vaccinations and 
was not unique to the Covid programme. As such, it was highlighted that in 
addition to the approach being taken to address inequalities in the current 
Covid vaccination round, the programme of work moving forward would reflect 
the longer term nature of this issue.      
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the contents of the submitted report and appendices, together 

with the related ambitions, as set out within the report, be noted, 
together with Members’ comments on such matters; 
 

(b) That it be noted that the Director of Public Health is the senior 
responsible officer for the Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities 
Plan; 

 
(c) That the Board’s continued support be provided in relation to the 

commitment of all directorates in delivering the Leeds Covid-19 
Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan. 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE, TRANSPORT AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
 

154 Responding to the Levelling Up Fund  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which set out proposals 
for how the Council intended to respond to the Government’s ‘Levelling Up’ 
Fund, which was released as part of the March 2021 Budget, with it being 

Page 162



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

noted that the related prospectus presented an opportunity to bid for 
significant capital investment for the delivery of projects from the 2021/22 
financial year. 
 
As part of the introduction to the report, the Board noted the intention for an 
additional meeting of the Board to be held prior to the submission of any 
bid(s) and before the 18th June 2021 Round 1 Levelling Up Fund submission 
deadline, to consider the proposals. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, in acknowledging the tight timeframe 
involved, the Board received further detail and assurance that consultation 
would take place with local MPs in line with the Fund’s requirements. In 
addition, it was noted that consultation would also take place with local Ward 
Councillors, initially with those Members affected by the proposals being 
considered for Round 1 submission, with the same principle for Ward 
Councillor engagement being used for future rounds when those details were 
known. 
 
In considering the report a Member commented upon the need for all 
communities in Leeds to have equal opportunity to access this and other 
funding streams; highlighted the longer term and collaborative approach 
required to enable districts and communities to maximise the benefit from 
such funding, and enquired whether this could potentially be an area for future 
consideration by the Board.  
 
In response, Members were provided with further detail regarding average 
levels of potential funding available per constituency and per Priority 1 Local 
Authority area, with any funding secured being subject to Leeds’ success in 
the bidding process. Also, emphasis was placed upon the importance of 
Leeds, and all communities within it, maximising the benefit from all external 
funding streams which were being made available, with the potential benefits 
from a longer term approach towards such matters being acknowledged.  
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the approach, as detailed within the submitted report, to bringing 

forward bids to the Levelling Up Fund, be noted and supported, with it 
being agreed that constituency MP’s within the Leeds Metropolitan 
District boundary are asked to indicate their priorities for investment, so 
that these can be taken into consideration by the Council; 
 

(b) That agreement be given for the Director of City Development to 
undertake an assessment and a prioritisation of projects for the 
Levelling Up Fund in consultation with relevant Executive Members, as 
set out in paragraphs 3.4 – 3.11 of the submitted report; 
 

(c) That agreement be given for proposals for Round 1 bids to be 
considered at an additional meeting of Executive Board to take place 
prior to the submission of any bid(s) and before the 18th June 2021 
Levelling Up Fund submission deadline; 
 

Page 163



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

(d) That the intention to bring a further report to Executive Board be noted, 
which will relate to the submission of bids for future rounds of the 
Levelling Up Fund and in relation to any changes to the Government 
prospectus and guidance. 

 
155 Proposed Grey to Green Projects - Progress Update  

Further to Minute No. 125, 10th February 2021, the Director of City 
Development submitted a report providing an update on the progress of the 
‘Grey to Green’ infrastructure projects following the successful ‘Getting 
Building Fund’ submission in September 2020 and the subsequent Full 
Business Case approval at the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Investment Committee in February 2021. The report also sought approval of 
the designs developed to date for each scheme and their progression into the 
detailed design and planning submission phase, together with the necessary 
‘Authority to Spend’ of the allocated funding identified for each scheme. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with information 
on how the principles of the proposed schemes remained appropriate when 
taking account of the current economic position and the evolving ways of 
working and living as a result of the pandemic.  
 
Members also discussed the decision making processes by which the final 
business case for the projects had been approved by the Combined Authority 
and given the advanced stage at which these projects were at, it was felt that 
any risk of further intervention by the Combined Authority or Mayoral Authority 
was minimal.      
 
The Board discussed the associated timeframes for this funding process, 
whilst a Member reiterated his earlier comment about the need for 
communities outside of the city centre to have an opportunity to access 
appropriate funding streams moving forward. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the progress which has been made to date regarding the 

development of the ‘Grey to Green’ programme following the 
successful bid to the ‘Getting Building Fund’, be noted, with the 
development of the three projects, namely: Meadow Lane Greenspace; 
Sovereign Street Bridge and Crown Point Road calming and greening, 
also being noted; 
 

(b) That the design proposals developed for the creation of Meadow Lane 
Green Space as part of the Council’s ongoing commitment to the 
development of green infrastructure in the city centre to support the 
implementation of the ‘Our Spaces’ Strategy and the South Bank 
Regeneration Framework Supplementary Planning Document, be 
approved, and that approval also be given to the progression of the 
scheme, as presented, into the next phase of detailed and technical 
design; 
 

Page 164



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

(c) That the design proposals developed to date for Sovereign Street 
Bridge, be approved, and that approval also be given for the 
submission of a planning application for the bridge, in order to enable 
the continued progression of the scheme; 
 

(d) That the indicative layout proposals developed to date for the Crown 
Point Road calming and greening scheme, be approved, and that 
approval also be given for the progression of the scheme into the next 
phase of design; 
 

(e) That it be noted that the Director of City Development will be 
responsible for the implementation of such matters, as detailed within 
the submitted report, and the resolutions, as above.  

 
156 City Centre Transformation - Enabling Schemes (Highways)  

Further to Minute No. 79, 18th November 2020, the Director of City 
Development submitted a report which sought approval of the outline highway 
design concept for the closure of City Square and its subsequent 
implementation in readiness for the Year of Culture. The report also sought 
approval of the preliminary design and implementation of Armley Gyratory, 
subject to any Planning conditions and detailed design changes. 
 
Regarding the potential inclusion of water features within the design for the 
City Square proposals, Members were assured that the images within the 
submitted report were indicative only and that the related design competition 
continued. However, should water features be included in the final design it 
was acknowledged that appropriate due diligence would need to be 
undertaken and resource allocated to ensure the long term maintenance of 
them. On this point, the Director of City Development offered to provide 
relevant Executive Members with further information regarding the specific 
challenges of maintaining public water features, if required. 
 
In relation to the proposals, a Member highlighted the importance of ensuring 
that they did not deter visitors to the city centre via car or any other means of 
transport. Also, an enquiry was raised regarding how the proposals would 
impact upon the flow of traffic in the city centre and how they would affect air 
quality. In response, it was noted that detailed transport modelling work on 
issues such as air quality would continue as part of the respective Combined 
Authority and planning processes. Also, it was highlighted that the proposals 
would aim to maximise ‘movement capacity’ for all forms of transport, with it 
being emphasised that the proposals did not aim to stop cars from accessing 
the city centre. 
 
Specifically regarding the proposals for Armley Gyratory, a Member 
highlighted the issue of users’ safety, with reference being made to those 
accessing the Gyratory via active travel and also when considering female 
users’ safety. In response, it was confirmed that such matters were being 
taken into consideration as part of the design work, with reference being 
made to landscaping, lighting, connectivity and users’ general visibility when 

Page 165



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

travelling through the Gyratory. In conclusion, it was noted that Executive 
Members’ suggestions regarding the design proposals would be welcomed.  
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That in the context of previous decisions taken by Executive Board, 

and as outlined within the submitted report, the outline design for the 
closure of City Square to through traffic, as per the plan in Appendix 1, 
including the indicated bus and taxi only restrictions, be approved, with 
it being noted that at the discretion of the Chief Officer (Highways and 
Transportation), there may be further adjustments to the design in 
order to respond to stakeholders’ needs and the proposed public 
consultation; 
 

(b) That the preliminary design of Armley Gyratory, as shown in Appendix 
1 to the submitted report and as presented in the recent engagement, 
be approved, subject to any changes arising from Planning conditions 
or the detailed design process; 
 

(c) That it be noted that the City Square closure (highway works) and 
Armley Gyratory are to be fully funded from the West Yorkshire Plus 
Transport Fund; 
 

(d) That the importance of the delivery of the Highways England M621 
Road Investment Strategy (RIS) scheme (Junctions 1 to 7) for the 
realisation of the city centre vision, be noted;  
 

(e) That it be noted that the Chief Officer (Highways and Transportation) is 
responsible for the associated programme delivery, with a target 
completion date of December 2022. 

 
RESOURCES 
 

157 Update on Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – Response and Recovery 
Plan  
Further to Minute No. 144, 17th March 2021, the Chief Executive submitted a 
report which provided an update on the Covid-19 Response and Recovery 
Plan, as well as the Local Outbreak Management Plan, which in the last 
month had included: the safe reopening of businesses; continued work and 
proactive communications with communities and services in line with the 
national recovery roadmap; the vaccination rollout and the tackling of health  
inequalities in this area; outbreak management work, including testing, tracing 
and support to self-isolate; and further action in the areas of compliance and 
enforcement. 
 
With the agreement of the Chair, the submitted report had been circulated to 
Board Members as a late item of business prior to the meeting for the reasons 
as set out in section 11.12 of the submitted report, and as detailed in Minute 
No. 150. 
 

Page 166



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

By way of introduction to the report, it was highlighted that 1,608 people had 
died in the city as a result of Coronavirus to date. On behalf of the Council, 
the Leader extended his sympathies to the families and loved ones of all 
those who had lost their lives.   
 
The Leader also noted that over the past week, the infection rate in Leeds had 
reduced by 32%, which was below the Yorkshire and Humber average. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Director of City Development 
undertook to provide further detail to relevant Executive Members regarding 
the grant which had been received from Arts Council England’s Cultural 
Recovery Fund, in terms of what the funding was intended to be used for and 
on which sites.  
 
Also, further detail was provided regarding the ongoing citywide ‘conversation’ 
on the future use of city and local centres and how they will be used in the 
longer term as we continue to move through the pandemic, with the Director 
offering to provide the Member in question with a briefing on this matter, if 
required.  
 
Regarding a Member’s enquiry on the current position relating to the backlogs 
for treatment in hospital settings, the Director of Public Health undertook to 
make enquiries on such matters and provide further detail to the Member in 
question. 
 
Also, regarding the provision of grants for businesses which were 
administered by the Council, responding to an enquiry, the Board received an 
update on the current position regarding the allocation and distribution of 
grants, together with details on the actions being taken to deliver such funding 
as efficiently as possible, and working to the Government’s deadline of end of 
June 2021, with the Member in question being offered a separate briefing on 
such matters.  
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the Response and Recovery Plan, as appended at Annex A to 

the submitted report, together with the full range of activity taking place 
to prepare for the safe reopening of services and the economy in the 
coming months, be noted, with the focus on planning for the year 
ahead also being noted; 
 

(b) That the current position with regard to the four measures in the 
Roadmap, be noted, and that the continued need for everyone to play 
their part while restrictions remain in place, be recognised and 
emphasised; 
 

(c) That the refreshed Local Outbreak Management Plan, as detailed at 
Annex C to the submitted report, be agreed, and that the continued 
proactive approach being taken towards all aspects of the plan, 
including vaccinations, testing, tracing, support to self-isolate, support 

Page 167



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

to businesses, communications, compliance and enforcement, be 
noted; 
 

(d) That in respect of the financial implications for the Council arising from 
the Coronavirus pandemic, the content of the submitted report be used 
as context when the Board considers the more detailed finance based 
report as referenced at Minute No. 158;  
 

(e) That in respect of the issue of addressing health inequalities in relation 
to the uptake of the Covid-19 vaccination across all communities in 
Leeds, the content of the submitted report be used as context when the 
Board considers the more detailed report on such matters as 
referenced at Minute No. 153. 

 
158 Financial Health Monitoring 2020/21 – Provisional Outturn  

The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which set out the 
Council’s projected provisional financial outturn position for 2020/21 in respect 
of both the General Fund revenue budget and also the Housing Revenue 
Account. 
 
In considering the submitted report, Members welcomed the provisional 
balanced budget position for 2020/21 which was presented, and extended 
their thanks to all those who had helped achieve this position, given the 
significant challenges which had been faced throughout the year. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the projected provisional financial outturn for the Authority, as 

detailed within the submitted report, be noted, with the projected impact 
of COVID-19 on that position also being noted; 
 

(b) That with regard to the 2020/21 financial year, it be noted that the 
Authority is forecasting a balanced budget position. 

 
LEARNING, SKILLS AND EMPLOYMENT 
 

159 Outcome of statutory notice on a proposal to establish Resource 
Provision at St Margaret's Church of England Primary School from 
September 2021  
Further to Minute No. 127, 10th February 2021, the Director of Children and 
Families submitted a report presenting the outcomes from the statutory notice 
published under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and in accordance 
with the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013 regarding a proposal to establish a 12 place 
Resource Provision for pupils with complex communication difficulties 
including Autistic Spectrum Condition at St. Margaret’s Church of England 
Primary School, and which sought a final decision in respect of that proposal. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the proposal to establish a 12 place Resource Provision for pupils 

with complex communication difficulties including Autistic Spectrum 

Page 168



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

Condition (ASC) at St. Margaret’s Church of England Primary School in 
Horsforth with effect from September 2021, be approved; 
 

(b) That approval be given to exempt the resolutions arising from the 
submitted report, as detailed within this minute from the Call In process 
for the reasons as set out in paragraph 4.5.2 of that report;  
 

(c) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems. 

 
(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a 
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the 
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would 
seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the public’s interests. In line with this, the 
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In 
process, as per resolution (b) above, and for the reasons as detailed within 
section 4.5.2 of the submitted report) 
 
CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
 

160 Youth Work Review and Future Vision  
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report that presented the 
findings from the review which had been undertaken into Youth Work in 
Leeds, and which outlined the vision for youth work together with the 
proposals for future delivery. 
 
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted the extensive 
consultation which had been undertaken to inform the proposed model, and it 
was highlighted that no single Ward would receive any less Council delivered 
youth work provision than what was currently being received, but that moving 
forward a greater focus would be placed upon the city’s more deprived 
communities and neighbourhoods with the greatest need.  
 
Members welcomed proposals to establish a more collaborative approach 
between communities and youth work provision, and in response to a 
Member’s enquiry, the Board received further detail on the provision that was 
currently in place and what was proposed as part of the new model to support 
those pockets of deprivation located in more affluent areas.  
  
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the comprehensive consultation and assessment work which has 

been undertaken to develop the vision for youth work in Leeds, be 
noted, and that the continuing commitment to youth services as a key 
strand of work to enable the most vulnerable young people in the city 
achieve their aspirations and ambitions, be endorsed; 
 

(b) That the proposed new model of youth work delivery, as detailed within 
the submitted report, be approved, and that support be given to further 
work being undertaken which will be led by the Youth Offer Lead in 
order to co-produce the enhanced youth work specification; 

Page 169



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

 
(c) That it be noted that the new model of youth work delivery will be fully 

implemented by April 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE OF PUBLICATION:  FRIDAY, 23RD APRIL 2021 
 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN 
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS: 5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 30TH APRIL 2021 
 

Page 170


	Agenda
	2 Minutes - 16th March 2021
	3 Co-opted Members
	4 Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference
	Item 4 - Appendix 1 - General Scrutiny Board TOR
	Item 4 - Appendix 2 - Article 6 Scrutiny Boards
	Item 4 - Appendix 3 - Scrutiny Board alignment to Executive functions

	5 Local Authority Health Scrutiny
	Item 5 - Appendix 1 Department of Health guidance (June 2014)
	Local Authority Health Scrutiny
	Guidance to support Local Authorities and their partners to deliver effective health scrutiny.

	Title: 
	Author: 
	SCLGCP/PCLG/18280  
	Document Purpose: 
	Guidance
	Publication date: 
	June 2014
	Target audience:
	Contact details: 
	Local Authority Health Scrutiny
	Guidance to support Local Authorities and their partners to deliver effective health scrutiny.

	Contents
	Key messages
	1. Introduction
	1.1 Background
	1.2 Purpose of guidance
	1.3 Scope of the Regulations

	2. What remains the same following the new legislation?
	2.1   For local authorities
	2.2 For the NHS
	2.3 For patient and public involvement

	3. Changes arising from the new legislation
	3.1 Powers and duties – changes for local authorities
	Councils as commissioners and providers of health services
	Councils as scrutineers of health services
	Conferral of health scrutiny function on full council
	Delegation of health scrutiny function by full council
	Joint health scrutiny arrangements
	Reporting and making recommendations
	3.1.21 Regulation 22 enables local authorities and committees (including joint committees, sub-committees and other local authorities to which health scrutiny functions have been delegated) to make reports and recommendations to relevant NHS bodies an...

	Conflicts of interest
	Councils operating a committee system
	3.1.29 In deciding how to operate a health scrutiny function, councils operating a committee system will need to consider issues of potential conflicts of interest. Like upper tier and unitary councils, they will need to have a health and wellbeing bo...

	The role of district councils
	3.2 Powers and duties – changes for the NHS
	Extension of scope of health scrutiny
	Required provision of information to health scrutiny
	Required attendance before health scrutiny
	Responding to scrutiny reports and recommendations
	3.3 Powers and duties – referral by local Healthwatch

	4. Consultation
	4.1 The context of consultation
	4.2 When to consult
	4.3 Who consults
	4.4 Timescales for consultation
	4.5 When consultation is not required
	4.6 Responses to consultation
	4.7 Referrals to the Secretary of State
	4.7.1 Local authorities may refer proposals for substantial developments or variations to the Secretary of State in certain circumstances outlined below. The circumstances remain largely the same as in previous legislation.
	4.7.2 The new Regulations set out certain information and evidence that are to be provided to the Secretary of State and the steps that must be taken before a referral can be made.


	4.7.3 The powers under the previous Regulations to refer matters relating to NHS foundation trusts to Monitor have been removed, as this was not considered appropriate to the role of Monitor and the new licensing regime.
	Circumstances for referral
	Who makes the referral?
	Information and evidence to be sent to Secretary of State

	5. References and useful links
	5.1 Relevant legislation and policy
	5.2 Useful reading


	Item 5 - Appendix 2 - HSDWG Draft ToR (June 2021)
	Item 5 - Appendix 3 - WY JHOSC - Terms of Reference

	6 Sources of work for the Scrutiny Board
	item 6 - Appendix 1 - BCP 2020-25
	Item 6 - Appendix 2 - Health and Wellbeing 2016-2021
	Item 6 - Appendix 3 - 2021-22 Budget Council Report_AHAL Directorate
	ALL Appendicies to accompany Revenue Budget 2021-22 report.pdf
	Annex 1. 2020.21 to 2021.22
	App 01 2021_22 Budget Consultation Report FINAL v1.0.pdf
	Proposed Budget 2021/22 - Consultation Report Consultation held December 2020 - January 2021
	1. Introduction and approach
	2. Analysis of respondents
	3. Executive summary
	3.1 Summary of analysis of demographic groups

	4. Attitudes around how to deal with the challenges of reduced funding
	5. Council Tax
	5.1 Comments from those that disagree with the council tax increase

	6. How we propose to spend the money we receive
	6.1 Comments around our approach to how we spend our revenue budget

	7. Service priorities
	8. Perceptions of Leeds City Council
	9.  Feelings about the local area and the residents that live there
	9.1 Comments around encouraging residents to take responsibility

	10. Coping with the Covid-19 pandemic
	10.1 Personal impact of Covid-19
	10.2 Worries and concerns about the Covid-19 pandemic
	10.3 Getting information about Covid-19



	Appendix 04 - Parish and town council LCTS.pdf
	Budget Table

	Appendix 7a(ii) - A&H 2021-22.pdf
	Appendix 7  tracker  live

	Appendix 7b(ii)- C&F 2021-22.pdf
	Directorate Appendix 7

	Appendix 7d (ii) - C&E -  FINAL.pdf
	Directorate Appendix 7

	Appendix 7f(ii) - Strategic Budget Summary table 2021-22.pdf
	Directorate Appendix 7




	7 Performance Update
	Item 7 - Appendix 1a - PH Perf Update Paper - summary of key issues
	Item 7 - Appendix 1b - PH q4 Perf Indicators
	Item 7 - Appendix 2a - ASC Perf Update Paper - summary of key issues
	Item 7 - Appendix 2b - ASCOF measures ASC outcomes framework
	Item 7 - Appendix 3 - More Adults are Active

	8 Work Schedule
	Appendix 1 - AHAL work schedule 2021-22
	Item 8 - Appendix 2 - Draft minutes of Executive Board - 21st April 2021




